
 

 

Am unrhyw ymholiad yn ymwneud â'r agenda hwn cysylltwch â Charlotte Evans 
 (Rhif Ffôn: 01443 864210   Ebost: evansca1@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 3 Gorffennaf 2019 

 
 
 
 
Annwyl Syr/Fadam, 
 
Bydd cyfarfod Cabinet yn cael ei gynnal yn Ystafell Sirhywi, Tŷ Penallta, Tredomen, Ystrad Mynach ar 
Dydd Mercher, 10fed Gorffennaf, 2019 am 10.30 am. i ystyried materion a gynhwysir yn yr agenda 
canlynol.  .  Mae croeso i chi ddefnyddio’r iaith Gymraeg yn y cyfarfod, a dylid rhoi cyfnod rhybudd o 3 
diwrnod gwaith os ydych yn dymuno gwneud hynny.  Bydd cyfieithu ar y pryd yn cael ei ddarparu ar gais.. 
 
 
 
 

 
Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

PRIF WEITHREDWR DROS DRO 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Tudalennau 
  

1  I dderbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb  
 

 
2  Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb. 

 
  

 
 

Atgoffi’r Cynghorwyr a Swyddogion o'u cyfrifoldeb personol i ddatgan unrhyw fuddiannau personol 

Mae pob cyfarfod Pwyllgor yn agored i'r Wasg a'r Cyhoedd. Gofynnir i arsylwyr a chyfranogwyr 
ymddwyn gyda pharch ac ystyriaeth at eraill. Sylwer y bydd methu â gwneud hynny yn golygu y 
gofynnir i chi adael y cyfarfodydd ac efallai y cewch eich hebrwng o'r safle. 
 

Pecyn Dogfennau Cyhoeddus



a/neu niweidiol mewn perthynas ag unrhyw eitem o fusnes ar yr agenda hwn yn unol â Deddf 
Llywodraeth Leol 2000, Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor a'r Cod Ymddygiad ar gyfer Cynghorwyr a 
Swyddogion. 
 
I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:- 
 
3  Cynhaliwyd y Cabinet ar 26 Mehefin 2019.  

1 - 8 
 

I dderbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiad(au) canlynol y mae angen penderfyniadau gweithredol arnynt:- 
 
4  Adolygiad o'r Cynllun Corfforaethol (2018-2023) 2019.  

9 - 94 
 

5  Ffedereiddio Ysgolion - Adroddiad Ymateb i'r Ymgynghoriad.  
95 - 112 

 
6  Diweddariad Rhaglen Ysgolion Ac Addysg Band B Yr 21ain Ganrif.  

113 - 120 
 

7  Bwrdd Adfywio - Cynigion Prosiect (Rhan 3).  
121 - 136 

 
8  Datblygu Seilwaith - Symiau Gohiriedig.  

137 - 146 
 

9  Ystyried Cais Galw i Mewn - Newidiadau Arfaethedig mewn Ffioedd a Thaliadau  
147 - 158 

 
10  Y Lluoedd Arfog - Cynllun Gwarantu Cyfweliad.  

159 - 162 
 

11  Blaenraglen Waith y Cabinet.  
163 - 168 

 
 
Cylchrediad: 
 
Cynghorwyr 
 C.J. Cuss, N. George, C.J. Gordon, Mrs B. A. Jones, P.A. Marsden, S. Morgan, L. Phipps, D.V. Poole a 
Mrs E. Stenner,  
 
A Swyddogion Priodol. 
 
SUT FYDDWN YN DEFNYDDIO EICH GWYBODAETH 

Bydd yr unigolion hynny sy’n mynychu cyfarfodydd pwyllgor i siarad/roi tystiolaeth yn cael eu henwi yng nghofnodion y cyfarfod 
hynny, weithiau bydd hyn yn cynnwys eu man gweithio neu fusnes a’r barnau a fynegir. Bydd cofnodion o’r cyfarfod gan gynnwys 
manylion y siaradwyr ar gael i’r cyhoedd ar wefan y Cyngor ar www.caerffili.gov.uk. ac eithrio am drafodaethau sy’n ymwneud ag 
eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig.  
Mae gennych nifer o hawliau mewn perthynas â’r wybodaeth, gan gynnwys yr hawl i gael mynediad at wybodaeth sydd gennym 
amdanoch a’r hawl i gwyno os ydych yn anhapus gyda’r modd y mae eich gwybodaeth yn cael ei brosesu. 
Am wybodaeth bellach ar sut rydym yn prosesu eich gwybodaeth a’ch hawliau, ewch i’r Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd Cyfarfodydd 
Pwyllgor Llawn ar ein gwefan http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd  neu cysylltwch â Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol drwy 
e-bostio griffd2@caerffili.gov.uk  neu ffoniwch  01443 863028. 

 

http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd


  

 

 

CABINET 
 

COFNODION Y CYFARFOD A GYNHALIWYD YN NHŶ PENALLTA, TREDOMEN 

AR DDYDD MERCHER, 26 MEHEFIN 2019 AM 10:30 A.M. 
 

 
YN BRESENNOL: 

 
Y Cynghorydd D. Poole – Cadeirydd 

 
Y Cynghorwyr: 

 
 C. Cuss (Gofal Cymdeithasol a Lles), C.J. Gordon (Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol), Mrs B. 

Jones (Cyllid, Perfformiad a Llywodraethu), S. Morgan (Economi, Isadeiledd a 
Chynaliadwyedd), L. Phipps (Cartrefi a Lleoedd) ac E. Stenner (Amgylchedd a Diogelu'r 
Cyhoedd). 

 
 Ynghyd â: 

 
 C. Harrhy (Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro), R. Edmunds (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Addysg a 

Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol), D. Street (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol) ac M. S. Williams (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Dros Dro - Cymunedau). 
 

Hefyd yn bresennol: 
 

M. Godfrey (Arweinydd Tîm – Iechyd yr Amgylchedd), R. Hartshorn (Pennaeth Diogelu'r 
Cyhoedd, Gwasanaethau Cymunedol a Hamdden), A. Dallimore (Arweinydd Tîm – 
Adnewyddu Trefol a Chadwraeth), R. Kyte (Pennaeth Adfywio a Chynllunio), A. Cullinane 
(Uwch Swyddog Polisi – Cydraddoldeb a'r Gymraeg), K. Peters (Rheolwr Polisi Corfforaethol) 
a C. Evans (Pwyllgor Swyddog Gwasanaethau). 

 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU DROS ABSENOLDEB 
 

Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan gynghorwyr N. George (Gwasanaethau 
Cymdogaeth) a P. Marsden (Addysg a Chyflawniad) 

 
  
2. DATGANIAD BUDDIANNAU 
 

 Ni chafwyd unrhyw ddatganiadau o fuddiannau ar ddechrau neu yn ystod y cyfarfod.  
 

 
3. CABINET – 12 MEHEFIN 2019 
 

PENDERFYNWYD y caiff cofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 12 Mehefin 2019 eu 
cymeradwyo fel cofnod cywir. 
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 3



  

 MATERION LLE MAE ANGEN PENDERFYNIADAU GWEITHREDOL 
 
 
4. ASTUDIAETH DDICHONOLDEB ANSAWDD AER HAFODYRYNYS - TERFYNOL. 

 
 Roedd yr adroddiad, a gyflwynwyd i Bwyllgor Craffu'r Amgylchedd a Chynaliadwyedd ar 25 
Mehefin 2019 yn manylu ar ganfyddiadau'r ymarfer ymgynghori cyhoeddus ynghyd ag ystyried 
y Cynllun Terfynol (Atodiad 1 yr Adroddiad) a'r opsiwn a ffafrir ar gyfer sicrhau cydymffurfiaeth 
â'r Gyfarwyddeb Ansawdd Aer Amgylchol yn Hafodyrynys. 
 
Nodwyd bod yr amcanion ansawdd aer cenedlaethol ar gyfer nitrogen deuocsid wedi cael eu 
torri mewn lleoliadau derbynyddion ar Heol Hafodyrynys.  Mae'r monitor nitrogen deuocsid 
parhaus yn Hafodyrynys yn ffurfio rhan o Rwydwaith Trefol a Gwledig awtomatig DEFRA.  
Mae'r Rhwydwaith Trefol a Gwledig yn rhwydwaith o fonitorau parhaus ledled y DU sy'n llywio 
Model Hinsawdd Llygredd cenedlaethol, a ddefnyddir at ddibenion adrodd ar ansawdd aer i 
Ewrop, i ddangos cydymffurfiaeth â'r Gyfarwyddeb Ansawdd Aer Amgylchol.  Mae Cyngor 
Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili (CBSC) yn un o ddau awdurdod lleol yng Nghymru sy'n cael eu 
hamlygu yn y Cynllun Nitrogen Deuocsid Cenedlaethol fel rhai sydd â lleoliadau sy'n methu 
cydymffurfio â'r Gyfarwyddeb Ansawdd Aer Amgylchol. 
 
Ym mis Chwefror 2018 cyhoeddodd Llywodraeth Cymru Gyfarwyddyd Ansawdd Aer i CBSC i 
gynnal astudiaeth ddichonoldeb ar gyfer yr ardal a phenderfynu ar yr opsiwn neu'r ystod o 
opsiynau a ffafrir a fyddai'n sicrhau cydymffurfiaeth â therfyn ansawdd aer y Gyfarwyddeb 
ansawdd aer amgylchol gwerth am nitrogen deuocsid yn yr 'amser byrraf posibl'.  Nododd y 
Cynllun Terfynol drafft y byddai dymchwel yr eiddo ar ochr ddeheuol yr A472 yn sicrhau 
cydymffurfiaeth yn yr amser byrraf posibl, erbyn 2023 (disgwylir mai 2022 y bydd erbyn hyn).  
Fodd bynnag, o dan y dull 'Gwneud y Lleiaf Posibl' mae modelu'n rhagweld cyflawni 
cydymffurfiaeth o ran ansawdd aer erbyn 2025. 
 
Yn ei gyfarfod ar 27ain Mawrth 2019, mynegodd y Cabinet bryderon ynghylch y posibilrwydd y 
gallai preswylwyr gael eu gwthio i galedi ariannol drwy unrhyw broses prynu gorfodol.  Roedd 
gan y Cabinet bryderon cryf na fyddai preswylwyr yn gallu prynu unrhyw eiddo cyfatebol yn yr 
ardal leol, ac efallai y byddai'n rhaid i breswylwyr sydd wedi ymddeol gael morgais, neu efallai 
y byddai'n rhaid i berchenogion droi at lety ar rent.  O ran lles ariannol trigolion yr ardal ac atal 
unrhyw galedi pellach a straen o ganlyniad i hynny, penderfynodd y Cabinet gynnal 
ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus ar yr opsiwn 'Gwneud y Lleiaf Posibl' a'r Cynllun Terfynol drafft.  
Cadarnhaodd Llywodraeth Cymru wedyn y byddai'n sicrhau bod cyllid ar gael gan gynnwys y 
posibilrwydd o gymhwyso gwerth eiddo tebyg newydd yn hytrach na gwerth marchnad y tŷ 
sy'n cael ei ddymchwel.  Roedd y Cynllun Terfynol drafft a'r opsiwn dewisol arfaethedig, sef 
'Gwneud y Lleiaf Posibl', yn destun ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus a gynhaliwyd rhwng 4ydd Ebrill 
2019 a’r 11eg Mehefin 2019.  Nid oedd canlyniad yr ymarfer ymgynghori cyhoeddus yn 
cefnogi'r opsiwn 'Gwneud y Lleiaf Posibl'. 
 
Gofynnwyd i'r Cabinet nodi bod y Pwyllgor Craffu wedi cefnogi'r Cynllun Terfynol (sydd wedi'i 
atodi yn Atodiad 1) a'r opsiwn dewisol arfaethedig o brynu (ar 150% o'r prisiad) a dymchwel yr 
eiddo ar ochr ddeheuol yr A472 yn Hafodyrynys er mwyn cyflawni cydymffurfiaeth yn yr amser 
byrraf posibl ac fe'u hargymhellir i'r Cabinet i'w mabwysiadu.  Nodwyd bod yn rhaid cyflwyno'r 
Cynllun Terfynol a'r opsiwn a ffafrir i Lywodraeth Cymru erbyn 30ain Mehefin 2019 fan hwyraf. 
 
Esboniodd swyddogion y bydd yr Aelodau'n rhoi sylw i'r Ddyletswydd Cydraddoldeb ac o 
ganlyniad i'r Asesiad Effaith Cydraddoldeb a gynhaliwyd yn ystod y broses, nodwyd y byddai 
budd cyffredinol o ganlyniad i leihau amlygiad i lygredd yn yr aer ac efallai y bydd pobl iau, 
pobl hŷn, neu'r rheini â chyflyrau anadlol sy'n bodoli eisoes yn gweld mwy fyth o fanteision. 
Fodd bynnag, roedd rhai effeithiau negyddol posibl wedi'u nodi ar gyfer rhai grwpiau â 
nodweddion gwarchodedig fel pobl hŷn a allai brofi mwy o galedi ariannol a phryder oherwydd 
gorfod symud cartref, pobl ifanc a all orfod newid ysgol neu gael pellteroedd teithio hwy, a 
meddianwyr unrhyw gartrefi sydd ag addasiadau ar gyfer pobl anabl. Byddai'r pecyn ariannol 

Page 2



  

sy'n cael ei gynnig yn lliniaru'r effeithiau hyn, ac ystyrir bod effaith gyffredinol y cynigion yn 
gadarnhaol. 
 
Gofynnwyd i'r Cabinet nodi diwygiad yn yr adroddiad ar dudalen 73 lle dylid cofnodi Gwall 
Arwynebedd Sgwâr Cymedrig fel 4.3 μg/m3, nid 3.9 μg/m3.  Fodd bynnag, sicrhawyd yr 
Aelodau nad yw'r diwygiad hwn yn cael unrhyw effaith ar y model. 
 
Diolchodd y Cabinet i'r Swyddogion a'r trigolion am y gwaith arbennig a oedd yn cael ei wneud 
i gyrraedd y cynnig hwn ac roeddent yn arbennig o falch bod sylwadau i Lywodraeth Cymru 
wedi dwyn ffrwyth ac wedi arwain at glustnodi arian ychwanegol i atal trigolion rhag cael eu 
gadael mewn caledi ariannol, gan ddangos bod yr Awdurdod Lleol a Llywodraeth Cymru wedi 
gweithio gyda'i gilydd, a gyda thrigolion yn flaenllaw yn y penderfyniadau. 
 
Wrth nodi'r gwaith helaeth a wnaed, gofynnodd Aelod a oedd holl drigolion yr ardal yn fodlon 
â'r cynigion.  Nodwyd bod mwyafrif y preswylwyr yn hapus; fodd bynnag, mae nifer fach o 
drigolion wedi dweud nad ydynt am adael.  Rhoddwyd sicrwydd i'r Cabinet, fodd bynnag, y 
bydd y gwaith yn parhau gyda thrigolion gyda'r nod o ddod i gytundeb, heb ddefnyddio pwerau 
statudol. 
 
Cynhaliwyd trafodaethau ynghylch y camau nesaf yn y broses.  Esboniodd y swyddogion y 
bydd yr adroddiad yn cael ei gyflwyno i Banel o Arbenigwyr ym mis Gorffennaf, lle bydd 
swyddogion yn bresennol i ateb unrhyw gwestiynau, a dylid darparu ymateb gan Lywodraeth 
Cymru ganol mis Awst ar y camau y maent yn eu cefnogi.  Fodd bynnag, yn ystod yr amser 
hwn, bydd y trafodaethau'n parhau gyda thrigolion sy'n ymwneud â gwerthiannau gwirfoddol a 
phwysleisiwyd bod terfynau amser llym iawn er mwyn cwblhau'r broses. 
 
Holwyd a fyddai hyn yn cael effaith ar yr amserlen pe bai angen gweithredu gorchmynion 
prynu gorfodol (GPG).  Yn ogystal, mynegwyd pryderon ynghylch a allai eiddo gwag, nad yw'n 
cael ei ddymchwel, ddenu fandaliaeth ym mhorth dwyreiniol y fwrdeistref.  Sicrhaodd 
swyddogion y Cabinet fod nifer o weithfeydd a phrosesau a all gydredeg â'r broses GPG, a all 
gymryd rhwng 6-12 mis, ac y gall barhau i'w datblygu. 
 

 Yn dilyn ystyriaeth a thrafodaeth, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd i gymeradwyo argymhellion yr 
adroddiad. Drwy ddangos dwylo cytunwyd hyn yn unfrydol. 

 
PENDERFYNWYD, am y rhesymau sydd wedi'u cynnwys yn Adroddiad y Swyddog, i 
gymeradwyo canfyddiadau'r ymarfer ymgynghori cyhoeddus ynghyd ag ystyried y 
Cynllun Terfynol (Atodiad 1) a'r opsiwn dewisol arfaethedig o brynu (ar 150% o'r 
prisiad) a dymchwel yr eiddo yn 1-20 Woodside Terrace, 1 a 2 Siopau Woodside a’r 
Adfa ar ochr ddeheuol yr A472 ynghyd ag ail-alinio'r llwybr troed ar gyfer cyflawni 
cydymffurfiad â'r Gyfarwyddeb Ansawdd Aer Amgylchol yn Hafodyrynys. 
 

   
5. GRANTIAU ADFYWIO - YMGYNGHORIAD EHANGACH 
 

 Rhoddodd yr adroddiad fanylion i'r Cabinet yn dilyn adolygiad a gynhaliwyd o'r cynlluniau 
grant refeniw a chyfalaf a weinyddir ar hyn o bryd gan Is-adran Adfywio'r Cyngor, cyflwynwyd 
adroddiad i'r Cabinet ar 27ain Chwefror 2019 yn nodi sut y gallai Cronfa Fenter Caerffili 
newydd weithredu i symleiddio'r broses o wneud cais am grant.  Atodwyd yr Adroddiad 
Cabinet fel Atodiad 1 yr adroddiad. 
 
Nodwyd, ar ôl ystyried yr adroddiad, cafodd swyddogion y dasg o gynnal ymgynghoriad mewn 
perthynas â'r newid arfaethedig a nodwyd gan Swyddogion yn yr adroddiad Cabinet 
gwreiddiol.  Roedd yr adroddiad yn amlinellu canlyniadau'r ymgynghoriad a gynhaliwyd, yn 
bennaf gyda'r sector gwirfoddol a grwpiau cymunedol, dros gyfnod o wythnos o ymgynghori. 
 
Er cyflawnder, roedd yr adroddiad hefyd yn crynhoi'r potensial i gyfuno'r pum rhaglen grant 
bresennol mewn un 'Cronfa Fenter Caerffili' gydag ailffocysu tuag at gynnig gwell cymorth i 

Page 3



  

fusnesau sy'n dechrau, ysgogi twf economaidd, llenwi'r gadwyn gyflenwi a nodwyd a 
chefnogi'r gwaith o greu swyddi. 
 
Aeth adroddiad gerbron y Cabinet ar 27ain Chwefror 2019, yn rhoi manylion am sut y gallai 
cyfundrefn grantiau newydd ganolbwyntio'n fwy gweithredol ar ddatblygu twf busnesau a 
chreu cyfleoedd cyflogaeth yn y Fwrdeistref Sirol.  Roedd yr adroddiad yn amlinellu y dylai 
Cronfa Fenter Caerffili newydd (CFC) ganolbwyntio'n bennaf ar dwf economaidd. 
 
Er y byddai'r drefn grantiau arfaethedig yn agored i grwpiau cymunedol a mentrau 
cymdeithasol byddai'n ofynnol iddynt yn y dyfodol ddangos tystiolaeth o sut y mae eu 
prosiectau'n annog gweithgarwch economaidd.  Gan fod yr adroddiad yn argymell terfynu'r 
Gronfa Adfywio Cymunedol er mwyn ariannu'r CFC, gofynnodd yr argymhellion i'r Cabinet ar 
27ain Chwefror 2019 i'r Cabinet nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad a chymeradwyo ymarfer 
ymgynghori ehangach gyda'r grwpiau sector a chymunedol ar yr egwyddorion a nodir yn yr 
adroddiad. 
 
Er mwyn cyrraedd cymaint o grwpiau â phosibl, gofynnwyd i'r Cabinet nodi ei bod yn briodol 
cynnal cyfres amrywiol o ymarferion ymgynghori gan gynnwys presenoldeb Swyddogion yn y 
Pwyllgor Cysylltiadau’r Sector Gwirfoddol ar 14eg Mawrth 2019, lle'r oedd y gronfa fenter 
arfaethedig yn cael ei hegluro a bod y Pwyllgor wedi rhoi adborth, sefydlwyd holiadur ar y we i 
ddarparu ymgynghoriad byr ar yr adolygiad o'r grantiau a oedd ar gael am 4 wythnos a 
gwahoddwyd dirprwyaeth o sefydliadau'r sector gwirfoddol i gwrdd â gyda swyddogion i leisio 
unrhyw bryderon am y cynigion.  Cynhwyswyd yr holl adborth a dderbyniwyd o'r ymarferion 
ymgynghori yn yr adroddiad. 
 
Diolchodd y Cabinet i'r Swyddog am yr adroddiad a chafwyd trafodaeth. 
 
Holodd yr Aelodau, wrth nodi bod cymhelliant yn y cynllun newydd i sefydliadau ddangos twf 
economaidd, a fyddai cymorth yn cael ei gynnig i fusnesau newydd nad oeddent yn gallu 
cynnig hyn.  Esboniodd swyddogion fod system Canfod Grant ar gael a all nodi'r grantiau sydd 
ar gael a'u cyfeirio, a gall swyddogion o fewn Adfywio a Chynllunio a'r Uned Bolisi gynnig 
cymorth i unigolion o ran cwblhau ceisiadau a chyflwyno tystiolaeth. 
 

 Yn dilyn ystyriaeth a thrafodaeth, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd i gymeradwyo argymhellion yr 
adroddiad.  Drwy ddangos dwylo cytunwyd hyn yn unfrydol. 

  

  PENDERFYNWYD, am y rhesymau a gynhwyswyd yn adroddiad y Swyddog i wneud y 
   canlynol: 
 

i) Nodi’r adborth i'r ymgynghoriad ar y cynigion a gyflwynwyd yn yr adroddiad 
gwreiddiol a gyflwynwyd i'r Cabinet ar 27ain Chwefror 2019; 

 
ii) Cymeradwyo ar unwaith cyfuniad y grantiau presennol, sef y Grant Gwella 

Masnachol, y Grant Datblygu Busnes, y Grant Cychwyn Busnes a'r Gronfa 
Adfywio Cymunedol, er mwyn darparu Cronfa Fenter Caerffili newydd; 

 
iii) Ail-alinio’r dyraniadau grant craidd presennol er mwyn darparu mwy o 

allbynnau economaidd o fewn y fwrdeistref sirol o dan Ymbarél Menter Caerffili; 
 
iv) Terfynu’r Gronfa Adfywio Cymunedau bresennol; 
 
v) Cytuno cais swyddogion yn gofyn i'r ffin ddaearyddol ar gyfer Cronfa Fuddion 

Cymunedol Oakdale yn cael ei chynyddu o 1.5 milltir i 2 filltir ond na ddylai fod 
ar gael y tu allan i'r fwrdeistref sirol; 

 
vi) Cymeradwyo’r protocolau a amlinellir yn yr adroddiad Cabinet gwreiddiol ar 

gyfer penderfynu ar geisiadau am grant. 
 

Page 4



  

 
6. ADRODDIAD YNNI A CHARBON 
 

 Roedd yr adroddiad, a ystyriwyd gan y Pwyllgor Craffu Tai ac Adfywio ar 11eg Mehefin 2019 
yn amlinellu'r cynnydd a wnaed mewn perthynas ag arbed ynni a lleihau carbon yn bennaf 
drwy'r Strategaeth Lleihau Carbon.  Mae'r adroddiad yn amlinellu'r angen am gynllun trosfwaol 
newydd a fydd yn helpu'r Cyngor i fodloni ei uchelgeisiau "Ynni Gwyrdd" wrth alinio'r 
awdurdod â dyheadau Llywodraeth Cymru a Phrifddinas-ranbarth Caerdydd (PRC) ar gyfer 
datgarboneiddio.  Mae hefyd yn dangos sut y gall y Cyngor wneud gwelliannau radical drwy 
rai meysydd a phrosiectau cyfleoedd allweddol. 
 
Yn gyntaf, rhoddodd yr adroddiad grynodeb o hanes cadarnhaol yr awdurdod drwy gyflwyno a 
gweithredu mesurau i leihau'r ynni a ddefnyddir a lleihau ei ôl troed carbon.  Mae'n nodi'r 
manteision a ddaw o'r gwaith hwnnw ac yn amlinellu sut y caiff hyn ei wella ymhellach drwy 
archwilio asedau'r Cyngor a manteisio i'r eithaf arnynt. Mae cyfnod y Strategaeth Lleihau 
Carbon bresennol yn dod i ben yn 2019, felly mae angen datblygu strategaeth drosfwaol 
newydd ar gyfer y Cyngor.  Rhan o'r broses hon fydd datblygu Cynllun Ynni sy'n nodi'r amcan 
trosfwaol o fod yn gyngor niwtral o ran carbon ac yn nodi nifer o brosiectau y gall y Cyngor eu 
datblygu yn y tymor byr, canolig a hir a fydd yn ein symud tuag at y nod trosfwaol hwn. 
 
Diolchodd y Cabinet i'r Swyddog am yr adroddiad a chafwyd trafodaeth. 
 
Gofynnwyd i'r Aelodau nodi bod yr adroddiad yn sail i nifer o brosiectau, fel y'u hamlinellwyd 
yn y model gweithredu newydd a gymeradwywyd yn ddiweddar ar gyfer y cyngor a 
#TîmCaerffili, gan roi cyfle unigryw i'r awdurdod fanteisio ar yr agenda ynni a chysylltu â 
phrosiectau yn y PRC, gan wneud gostyngiadau yn ariannol ac wrth ddatgarboneiddio. 
 
Cafwyd trafodaethau ynghylch y manteision i'r allbynnau economaidd a'r manteision lles a 
chyfeiriwyd y Cabinet at adrannau 5.19 i 5.28 o fewn yr adroddiad, gan amlinellu nifer o 
fanteision o ganlyniad i leihau ôl troed carbon y Cyngor. 
 
Roedd y Cabinet yn falch o nodi'r datblygiadau yn yr adroddiad ac yn arbennig y manteision 
helaeth i'r amgylchedd lleol.  Yn ogystal, nodwyd bod cymhelliant dros newid o fewn yr 
awdurdod, ac er bod llymder a darbodaeth ariannol yn flaenoriaeth, mae manteision 
amgylcheddol newid hefyd yn brif flaenoriaeth. 
 

 Yn dilyn ystyriaeth a thrafodaeth, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd i gymeradwyo argymhellion yr 
adroddiad.  Drwy ddangos dwylo cytunwyd hyn yn unfrydol. 

  

  PENDERFYNWYD am y rhesymau a gynhwyswyd yn adroddiad y Swyddog: 
 

i) Nodi cyfaint ac amrywiaeth y gwaith ar gadwraeth garbon sydd eisoes wedi'i 
  ymgymryd ag ef fel yr amlinellir yn Atodiad 1: Nodi’r Adroddiad Cryno ar y 
  mentrau hyd yn hyn;   

 
ii) Nodi barn y Pwyllgor Craffu ynghylch nodau cyffredinol arfaethedig y  

  Cynllun Ynni i'n gwneud ni'n Gyngor carbon niwtral, a'r prosiectau arfaethedig 
  cysylltiedig a fydd yn helpu i gyflawni'r nod hwnnw; 

 
iii) Ystyried y camau nesaf yn natblygiad y cynllun ynni a chynnig   

  ystyriaeth Craffu ar ôl i ddrafft gael ei ddatblygu. 
 

  

Page 5



  

7. ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL SAFONAU’R GYMRAEG 2017-2018 AC ADRODDIAD 
 CYNNYDD BLYNYDDOL AR STRATEGAETH YR IAITH GYMRAEG 2017-2022 
 

 I hysbysu’r aelodau a cheisio eu cymeradwyaeth ar y cynnydd a wnaed yn ystod blwyddyn 
ariannol 2017-2018 yn erbyn pedwar maes penodol o waith yr Iaith Gymraeg, fel sy'n ofynnol 
o dan y fframwaith rheoleiddio ar gyfer gweithredu Safonau'r Gymraeg. 
 
Bydd yr adroddiad wedyn yn cael ei gyhoeddi ar-lein erbyn y dyddiad cau o’r 30 Mehefin 
2019, fel sy'n ofynnol gan Safon 158 yr Iaith Gymraeg. 
 
 Mae’r adroddiad hefyd yn darparu diweddariad ar y Strategaeth Cymraeg Pum Mlynedd 2017-
2022 ar gais y Cabinet.  
 
Mae gan y Cyngor ddyletswydd statudol i gynhyrchu adroddiad monitro blynyddol ar 
weithredu materion yr Iaith Gymraeg o dan y ddeddfwriaeth gyfredol ac yn unol â Safon 158. 
 
Mae'r wybodaeth sy'n ofynnol ar gyfer 2018-19 yn cwmpasu pedwar maes allweddol gofynnol; 
cwynion gan y cyhoedd, sgiliau iaith staff, darpariaeth hyfforddiant cyfrwng Cymraeg a 
recriwtio i swyddi gwag.   
 
Yn ogystal â'r uchod, mae Adroddiad Cynnydd Blynyddol hefyd ar Strategaeth yr Iaith 
Gymraeg 2017-2022, yn unol â chais y Cabinet pan gafodd ei gymeradwyo ym mis Ionawr 
2017, sydd ynghlwm i’r adroddiad fel Atodiad 1. 
 
Diolchodd y Cabinet i'r Swyddogion am yr adroddiad gan ofyn am ragor o wybodaeth am y 
tabl yn rhan 2.2 o’r adroddiad.  Eglurodd swyddogion fod 4 cwyn ffurfiol wedi eu derbyn a 5 
Ymchwiliad Comisiynydd y Gymraeg ffurfiol.  O'r 4 cwyn ffurfiol a dderbyniwyd, daeth 3 o'r 
rhain i fod yn Ymchwiliadau gan Gomisiynydd y Gymraeg.  Ymatebwyd i bob un o'r cwynion o 
fewn terfynau amser corfforaethol a chawsant eu cadarnhau.  Roedd y Cabinet yn falch o nodi 
bod cynnydd dramatig wedi bod yn nifer y staff sydd â sgiliau iaith Gymraeg o gymharu â 
ffigyrau blynyddoedd blaenorol a chynnydd pellach yn nifer y staff sy'n cymryd rhan mewn 
dysgu Cymraeg.  Yn olaf, nodwyd bod 632 o swyddi gwag wedi'u hysbysebu yn gyfan, a bod 
6 ohonynt yn Gymraeg hanfodol, 1 lle’r oedd angen dysgu sgiliau Cymraeg ac aseswyd bod y 
gweddill yn Gymraeg dymunol.  Fodd bynnag, roedd yn amlwg nad yw swyddi Prif 
Swyddogion a swyddi prentisiaid, nad ydynt yn cael eu rheoli gan Wasanaethau Pobl, wedi 
dilyn yr asesiad Iaith Gymraeg gorfodol.  Codwyd hyn gyda Gwasanaethau Pobl gyda golwg 
ar ddefnyddio'r un broses recriwtio ar gyfer pob swydd yn y dyfodol ac felly’n cydymffurfio â 
Safon 136 yn llawn. 
 
Holodd Aelod a oedd cyfleoedd hyfforddi yn y Gymraeg ar gael i'r Aelodau hefyd.  Esboniodd 
Swyddogion fod hyfforddiant ar gael i Aelodau a Swyddogion fel ei gilydd; bydd hyfforddiant 
pellach ar gyfer yr Iaith Gymraeg ac Iaith Arwyddion Prydain ar gael yn fuan. 
 
Roedd y Cabinet yn falch o nodi'r gwaith sylweddol a wnaed flwyddyn ar ôl blwyddyn a'r 
cynnydd yn y nifer sy'n dilyn cyrsiau.  Nodwyd hefyd bod cynnydd wedi bod yn y defnydd o'r 
Gymraeg mewn gwasanaethau rheng flaen, gyda mwy o wasanaethau yn defnyddio'r 
Gymraeg gyda chwsmeriaid. 
 
Yn olaf, rhoddodd y Swyddogion enghraifft i'r Cabinet o ychydig o'r gwaith a wnaed mewn 
partneriaeth â'r Fforwm Iaith Gymraeg er mwyn hyrwyddo addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg, sef 
llyfryn i rieni o'r enw Dod yn Ddwyieithog ym Mwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili. 
 

 Yn dilyn ystyriaeth a thrafodaeth, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd i gymeradwyo argymhellion yr 
adroddiad.  Drwy ddangos dwylo cytunwyd hyn yn unfrydol. 

  

   
  

Page 6



  

PENDERFYNWYD, am y rhesymau a gynhwyswyd yn adroddiad y Swyddog:- 
 

i) nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad; 
 
ii) cymeradwyo cyhoeddi'r adroddiad blynyddol, fel cofnod o gynnydd tuag at, a 
  chydymffurfiaeth â'r Safonau Iaith Gymraeg perthnasol. 

 
 

Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 11:14 am. 
 

Wedi'i gymeradwyo a'i lofnodi fel cofnod cywir yn amodol ar unrhyw gywiriadau a wneir yn y 
cyfarfod i’w gynnal ar y 10fed Gorffennaf 2019. 
 

____________________ 
CADEIRYDD 

Page 7



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 8



 

 
 

 
CABINET – 10TH JULY 2019 

 
SUBJECT: REVIEW OF CORPORATE PLAN (2018-2023) 2019 
 
REPORT BY: DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION & CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to members an updated Corporate Plan 2018-2023 

following a review to check whether the Plan is still fit for purpose.    
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan was endorsed by Council 17th April 2018 and published 

thereafter.  The Plan has six Well-being Objectives which are long term and set within the 
Sustainable Development Principle (the five ways of working). 

 
2.2 Following the review they are still judged ‘relevant’, fit for purpose and critical to improving 

quality of life for our citizens.  
 
2.3 Under the Local Government Measure (2009) there is an ‘expectation’ (section 15.2 and 15.3) 

that an ‘Improvement Plan’ will be published every year. However, as most authorities now 
publish longer term plans in keeping with the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales Act) 
2015 and / or in the life of an Administration, reviewing the Plan annually to check it is still fit 
for purpose, meets this requirement.    

 
2.4 The Wales Audit Office is required to check whether an Authority has complied with their 

statutory duty as noted in 4.1 and to issue a ‘certificate of compliance’ in response.  
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 It is recommended that Cabinet agree and endorse the amendments to the reviewed 

Corporate Plan 2019 (Appendix B) for its re-publication.  
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The Local Government Measure 2009 advises that the Authority must make arrangements for 

the publication of a description of the Authority's plans for discharging its duties under 
sections 2(1), 3(2) and 8(7) in a financial year together with, if the authority thinks fit, its plans 
for subsequent years (an “improvement plan”). 

 
 The Review (2019) of the Corporate Plan 2018-2023 meets this requirement. 
 
 

Page 9

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 4



5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 Cabinet endorsed the Council Corporate Plan (2018-2023) in April 2018 including six long 

term Well-being Objectives (WBO) that Cabinet set for the life of the Administration. Each 
Objective has a set of outcomes which are specific to what the organisation hopes to achieve 
on behalf of our citizens.  

 
5.2 The Plan was reviewed from April to June 2019, with the involvement of officers, WBO 

owners, Cabinet and other service contributions. Services were advised that any suggested 
changes to the overall outcomes would require a separate report to Cabinet, but minor 
changes (such as additions of new actions) could be changed as part of the overall review.  
Attached in Appendix A is a register of specific changes.   

 
5.3 A separate public consultation was not carried out within this first year review because the 

WBO’s were drawn from the extensive consultation held as part of the Public Services Board 
Well-being Assessment finalised in 2017.  Additionally there is an option on the Internet for 
citizens to send feedback by an electronic form to say if they think we are working on the right 
priorities. Although numbers received are small, they do not raise any issues that are not 
already covered within the Well-being Plan or the Well-being Objectives.     

 
5.4 The main changes are shown in blue font for ease of reading, however if the reviewed Plan is 

agreed, this will be changed prior to publication.  The main changes are;  
 
 The Introduction (from pages 6 – 9) has the addition of the Transformation Strategy, what this 

means in terms of vision and an update to the Performance, Planning and Improvement 
Framework which underpins it. 

 
  Well-being Objective 1 – There are no changes to the objective or outcome, but there are 

minor changes to the evidence as some performance measures are no longer recorded so we 
have added new ones.  There are some minor changes to how the objective would be 
resourced.   

 
  Well-being Objective 2 – there are no changes to the objective or outcomes, with minor 

changes to the resource section in terms of extensions of funding.  
 
 Well-being Objective 3 – There are no changes to the objective. Outcome 2 (Provide support 

to improve housing conditions in the owner-occupied sector) was merged into outcome 5 
(tackle the determinants of poor health and well-being by improving housing conditions in the 
private sector) so the two Private Sector outcomes are merged into one, reducing outcomes 
from 9 to 8.  There are several changes to the action plan and measurement as listed in the 
Appendix A.  

 
 Well-being Objective 4 – There are no changes.    
 
 Well-being Objective 5 – There are no changes to the objective or outcomes, but minor 

changes and additions to the action plan. 
 
 Well-being Objective 6 – There are no changes that change the objective, with minor 

amendments to the resource section due to changes in the ‘supporting people funding’ grant. 
 
5.5  It is our intention to develop a summary of the Corporate Plan highlighting the WBO’s, 

outcomes and the well-being statement which notes why we chose these objectives. The 
summary will be designed as part of the new branding using the new images and hyper linked 
to the full Plan.  This means for future reviews the current plan can be maintained as the in-
depth background resource (the main reference document) and any updates can be made in 
a more user-friendly way.   

 

Page 10



5.6 Conclusion  
 
 The objectives and outcomes within the Corporate Plan (2018-2023) are fit for purpose with 

some minor updates to resources section and Actions plans.  
 
 The Performance Report will report progress on the 2018/19 performance of the Corporate 

Plan later in the year.  
 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 Unless a specific objective is judged as delivered in it’s entirely, or public consultation 

responses change direction significantly, it is assumed these Well-being Objectives will 
continue during the course of the remaining four years.  

 
6.2 The resources to deliver the Well-being Objectives are assessed within the context of the 

current Medium Term Financial Plan.  
 
 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 Corporate Plan 2018-2023  
 
 The Current Corporate Plan can be found on the intranet on the Policy portal, within the 

Performance Management section.  See link below 
 
 http://sc-aptdken1/KENTICO/getattachment/ab780120-3a2b-47f9-bff0-

f383462fbb98/Corporate-Plan-2018-23.aspx 
 
 The revised and reviewed version will be added to the Internet should Cabinet approve the 

updated Plan.  
 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires a public body to set Well-

being Objectives in order to maximise contribution to the social, economic, cultural and well-
being of an area.  The Corporate Plan 2018-2023 is the vehicle which publicises our Well-
being Objectives and how they contribute towards the national goals.   

 
8.2  Each Well-being Objective shows how the five ways of working were involved in their 

formation and how we applied the sustainable development principle to deliver the objective. 
 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  No specific Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken on this report; however the 

Local Government Measure 2009 cites fairness and accessibility as part of the definition of 
what ‘Improvement’ means and the Well-being Objectives which are part of the Corporate 
Plan contribute to a More Equal Wales.   

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Each Well-being Objective has a section identifying the resources needed to support delivery 

of the objective.  
 
10.2 The resources to deliver the Well-being Objectives are assessed within the context of the 

current Medium Term Financial Plan.  
 

Page 11

http://sc-aptdken1/KENTICO/getattachment/ab780120-3a2b-47f9-bff0-f383462fbb98/Corporate-Plan-2018-23.aspx
http://sc-aptdken1/KENTICO/getattachment/ab780120-3a2b-47f9-bff0-f383462fbb98/Corporate-Plan-2018-23.aspx


11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS

11.1 There are no personnel implications arising from this report. 

12. CONSULTATIONS

12.1 This report has been sent to the Consultees listed below and all comments received are 
reflected in this report. 

13. STATUTORY POWER

13.1 Local Government Measure (Wales) 2009. 

Author: Ros Roberts Business Improvement Manager roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive  

Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director for Education & Corporate Services  
Steve Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement and Section 151 Officer  
Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Services 
Cllr Barbara Jones, Cabinet Member, Performance  
Mark S. Williams, Interim Corporate Director, Communities  
Dave Street, Corporate Director, Social Services 
Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer  
Sarah Mutch, Early Years Manager   
Paul Warren, Strategic lead for School Improvement  
Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration and Planning  
Tina McMahon, Community Regeneration Manager  
Shaun Couzens, Chief Housing Officer   
Mark Jennings, Housing Strategy Officer   
Marcus Lloyd, Head of Infrastructure 
Rob Hartshorn, Head of Public Protection, Communities and Leisure Services 
Gareth Jenkins, Assistant Director, Children’s Services  
Jo Williams, Assistant Director, Adult Services  
Kathryn Peters, Corporate Policy Manager  
Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer Equalities and Welsh Language 

Appendices: 
Appendix A  Register of Changes to Corporate Plan 2019 
Appendix B Corporate Plan 2018-2023 (Reviewed and Updated 2019) 

Page 12

mailto:roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk


Appendix A:  List of changes to reviewed Corporate Plan 2019/20 

Page and Paragraph 
(if applicable)   
** Page numbers 
from original 
document in 
brackets 

Status - what has changed and why? Will the change 
impact the 
objective?  Or any 
of the others. 

Page 5 (5) Change to the Framework graph to reflect the 
new Transformation strategy  

No 

Page 6 (6) To update narrative regarding the BIP board to 
advise on the new Transformation Strategy 
#TeamCaerphilly Better Together 

No – will help 
deliver 
achievement of the 
Well-being 
Objectives. 

Page 7 (7) Description of BIP projects removed and updated 
with headlines of the Transformation Strategy 

No 

Page 7 & 8 
Addition 

New information added and explanatory graphic 
on #TeamCaerphilly 

No 

Objective 1 – 
Improve Education 
for all  
Page 15 (14) 

Removal of Emphasis Project as part of this is now 
being delivered by a new Youth Service Grant and 
the other aspect of it will be delivered by Families 
First  

No, service is still 
provided but in 
other ways. 

Page 15 (14) Remove para 6 regarding Communities First 
funding 

No 

Page 15 (14) An update to reflect that Nurture Equip and 
Thrive (NET) project is now operational 

No 

Page 19 (19) 3 actions are noted as completed (although more 
detail will follow in the annual report)  

No 

Page 22 Resources  
(21) 

Replace the 3 bullet points on Flying Start, 
Families First and Supporting People Programme 
funding to explain the changes to the grant 
structure.   

N/A 

Page 22 Resources 
(21) 

Update the amounts available on the Childcare 
Offer Grant and % change for Band B schools. 

N/A 

Page 22 Resources 
(21) 

Update the Youth Work Grant figure and the adult 
community learning grant figure  

N/A 

Page 22 (21) 
Resources last bullet 
point 

Delete last bullet point flexibility funding pot as 
no longer reflects the funding position due to 
grant funding changes  

No 

Page 23 (22) 
Measurement 

Removal of old Attainment Indictors that are no 
longer counted by Welsh Government with 
introduction of Capped 9 score indicators. 

No 

Page 13



Page and Paragraph 
(if applicable)   
** Page numbers 
from original 
document in 
brackets 

Status - what has changed and why? Will the change 
impact the 
objective?  Or any 
of the others. 

Objective 2 – 
Enabling 
Employment  
Page 27 (26)  

Update to Communities for Work Plus to explain 
the phasing out of Communities First and how the 
new programme will work. 

No – Context. 

Page 33 (31) Update to funding extensions for Communities for 
Work and Communities for Work Plus. 

No 

Objective 3 –  
Housing  
Pages  35 (34)  

Merged two private sector housing related aims 
(outcome 2 Provide support to improve housing 
conditions in the owner-occupied sector and 
merged into outcome 5 -tackle the determinants 
of poor health and wellbeing by improving 
housing conditions in the private sector) 

No. Reported to 
P&R Scrutiny 15th 
Jan 19 

Pages 35 (34) 7. Change of words from ‘Prevent tenancies from
failing by providing a range of housing related 
support (including those affected by financial 
hardship, mental health issues or physical 
disabilities)’ to Sustaining tenancies by providing 
a range of housing related services 

No 

Page 36-39 
(35-38) 

Headings altered to reflect changes to the 
outcomes (on page 35) including narrative 
explaining the outcome. 

No 

Page 39 (38) Removed GAVO and replaced with Homestart as 
we do not commission with this organisation.   

No 

Page 41 (40) Reword last action on options appraisal for 
sheltered housing scheme, 

No 

Page 40 & 43 
(39 & 42) 

Removal of the Emphasis projects as an action as 
we no longer fund this.  

No 

Page 47 Remove Measure -complete options appraisal as 
this is also an action. 

No 

Page 45 & 46 
(45 & 46) 

Slight reduction of Measures from 21 to 20.   
3 homeless measures reworded to better reflect 
the service plan  

Objective 4 
Pages 47 – 54 
(47 – 54) 

No Changes to overall objective or outcomes. N/A 

Objective 5  
Creating a county 
borough that 
supports a healthy 
lifestyle in 

Remove 3rd Action – ‘continue to run our Flying 
Start programme with ‘get cooking’. 

Add new action – On health outreach, baby clubs 
and so forth.  

No – strengthens 
nutrition aspect of 
the objective.  

Page 14



Page and Paragraph 
(if applicable)   
** Page numbers 
from original 
document in 
brackets 

Status - what has changed and why? Will the change 
impact the 
objective?  Or any 
of the others. 

accordance with the 
Sustainable 
Development 
Principle 
Page 63 
(63) 

Reason: Flying Start and health outreach has 
changed to reflect that referrals for groups had 
dropped and much of the nutrition advice and 
support are now delivered through Baby Clubs 
running throughout most disadvantaged areas. 

Page 63 Add new action – the delivery and support of the 
School Holiday Enrichment Programme (SHEP) in 
Summer 2019  

No – Further 
supports objective 

Page 66 
(66) 

Removal of ‘Adopt a Valley Landscape’ strategy 
out of the performance table.  

No 

Objective 6 
Support citizens to 

remain 
independent and 

improve their 
well-being 

No change to objective or outcome or actions. N/A 

Page 73 
(73) 

Remove para relating to In 2018‐2019 the 
funding for the Supporting People programme 
and the Families First Programme to merge into a 
Flexible Funding pot with a pilot called the Early 
Intervention, Prevention and Support Grant” 

No longer accurate, 
EIPS is now 2 
grants CCG and 
HSG.   

Reviewing our 
Objectives  
Page 74 
(75) 

Remove 2nd bullet point. 
“We will use an electronic (Ffynnon) scorecard to 
measure our performance where appropriate” 
Fynnon contract ends 30th June so alter to reflect.. 

No 

Page 74 
(75) 

Reword - Reporting to Future Generations Panel 
This is under review  

No 

Page 15



REVIEWED AND UPDATED FOR 2019/2020 

Draft 

APPENDIX B

Page 16



1 
 

 

Corporate Plan 2018-2023 

Sections  Content  Page 
Number  

Intro Foreword from the Leader of the Council   
 

2 

1 Our Cabinet & Our Cabinet Commitments  
 

3 

2 Our Medium Term Financial Principles 2018   
 

4 

3 How our plans fit together – the ‘Framework’ 
 

5 

4 Describing the Planning and Improvement Framework  
 

6-8 

5 Well-being Objectives 2018-2023 
 

9 

5.1 Well-being Objective 1 - Improve education opportunities for all 
 

10-23 

5.2 Well-being Objective 2 – Enabling employment  
 

23-33 

5.3 Well-being Objective 3 – Address the supply, condition and 
sustainability of homes throughout the county borough and 
provide advice, assistance or support to help improve people’s 
health and well-being 
 

34-46 

5.4 Well-being Objective 4 – Promote a modern, integrated and 
sustainable transport system that increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse impacts on the 
environment 
 

47-54 

5.5 Well-being Objective 5 – Creating a County Borough that 
supports a Healthy Lifestyle in accordance with the Sustainable 
Development Principle within the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

55-67 

5.6 Well-being Objective 6 – Support citizens to remain independent 
and improve their well-being  
 

68-74 

6 Reviewing our Objectives  
 

75 

7 The seven Well-being goals for Wales 
 

76 

8 Contact us  
 

77 

Page 17



2 
 

 
Foreword from the Leader of Council - Cllr David Poole 

 
Caerphilly County Borough Council has embarked upon an exciting but challenging journey of 

improvement and change.  

As Leader of the Council it is my responsibility to ensure the organisation is capable of rising 

to these challenges and is prepared to respond effectively and efficiently. In order to achieve 

this it is clear that we will need to do things differently and we must be willing to adapt and 

respond to change.  

This Council wants to ensure our communities remain sustainable during these challenging 

times. We need to ensure we are equipped to deliver effective and purposeful services to our 

communities and where we are not best placed to deliver them directly; we enable others to 

do so on our behalf. We are acutely aware of the declining line on our budget sheet over the 

next few years and this, balanced against increasing pressures in areas such as social care, 

can; if not approached with a methodical and innovative mind-set, create the “perfect storm”.  

Working closely with my Cabinet colleagues we are collectively focussed upon bringing a new 

sense of purpose and direction to the organisation.  

Within this Corporate Plan, we have defined an over-arching vision, supported with clear 

objectives and priorities, so that everyone is clear about the direction of travel and what we 

are aiming to achieve and most importantly, the role that each and everyone of us has to play 

in shaping it 

The Well-being Objectives are a critical part of this process as they will help us shape services, 

target our resources and prioritise our efforts over the next 5 years. 

All this is set against the wider regional context of change which is rapidly moving ahead – 

particularly in terms of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal. This £1.2billion programme will 

bring new jobs, opportunities and economic growth to South East Wales and we are one of 10 

councils in the region which lead this exciting new partnership. 

It goes without saying that I am determined to make sure that all our communities across  the  

county borough reap the full benefits from this deal, thereby ensuring that the county 

borough remains a place of choice, to live, work and enjoy.        

I hope you find this document useful and it provides you with an insight into the journey that 

lies ahead and our ambition to shape it, as we aim to not only survive these challenging times, 

but thrive within them! 

 

Cllr Dave Poole 

Page 18



3 
 

1. Our Cabinet   

 

Introducing our Cabinet from left to right: Cllr Eluned Stenner, Cllr Nigel George, Cllr Barbara 

Jones, Cllr Carl Cuss, Leader Cllr David Poole, Cllr Colin Gordon, Cllr Sean Morgan, Cllr 
Lisa Phipps, Cllr Philippa Marsden. 

 

Our Cabinet Commitments  

The Leader of Council and his Cabinet have agreed seven Key Commitments which 

underpin the overarching vision and priorities of Caerphilly County Borough Council 

(CCBC): They are: 

1. We will always do our best to protect jobs and services within the current 

challenging financial climate. 

2. We will build on CCBC’s reputation as an innovative, high performing local authority. 

3. We will ensure we have an engaged and motivated workforce. 

4. We will always strive to ensure CCBC delivers value for money in everything it does. 

5. We will help protect the most vulnerable people in our society and make 

safeguarding a key priority. 

6. We will always welcome feedback and consider the views of residents, staff and 

other key stakeholders. 

7. We will be open, honest & transparent in everything we do. 

These will be our guiding principles in all that we do. 

 

Page 19



4 
 

 

2. Our Medium Term Financial Plan Principles 2018-2023 

Over the course of the last four years we set principles that would guide our financial 

decision making. As part of the challenging environment we still find ourselves in we 

thought it was a good time to review our financial principles in line with our new 

Cabinet commitments and the Councils values and vision. 

Following that review we have revised our Medium Term Financial Principles and they 

are set out below:  

 We will seek to protect services for the most vulnerable whilst continuing to 

evaluate all other services. 

 We will limit the impact of cuts on front-line services where we can whilst 

continuing to reduce expenditure and explore opportunities to generate new 

sources of income. 

 

 We will adopt a longer-term approach to financial planning that considers the 
impact on future generations. 

 

 We will need to accept that we will not be able to maintain existing levels of 
service but will introduce more innovative ways of working through the use of 
emerging technologies. 

 

 We will engage with our communities to understand their needs and explore 
options to deliver some services through collaboration, partnerships, 
community trusts etc. to ensure that communities remain resilient and 
sustainable in the longer-term. 

 

These principles will help to steer our financial decision making during the next few 

years and will be routinely reviewed to ensure they stay relevant for the coming years. 

Although this is a five year Plan, the Resources Section within each objective may be 

subject to changes beyond our control.  We will keep these under review and update 

the public as part of our public performance reporting.  

 

 

 

Page 20



5 
 

 

3. How our Plans fit together   

As a large organisation different aspects of our planning and frameworks can seem 

complex and it can be difficult to see how different activities come together or 

contribute to one another. The diagram below shows how our activities such as our 

planning – what we want to do, and our values – how we want to do something; all 

contribute towards the end goal and to the delivery of the Well-being Objectives. 

There is no one section more important than the other, the values and behaviours 

wrap around all we do. There is further detail on the next page to explain the various 

elements:  

Planning and Improvement Framework 2018-2023 Updated (2019) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Our Vision                    

and                              

Values 

Public Services 

Board          

Well-being               

Plan 

Our 

Transformation 

Strategy 

#TeamCaerphilly 

Better Together 

Our Resources 

Medium Term 

Financial Plan 

Principles                      

Our Cabinet 

Commitments 

Our Priorities 

Corporate Plan 

with Well-being 

Objectives 

Our Performance 

Directorate 

Performance 

Assessment 

Our People 

Personal 

Development 

now and for the 

future  

Page 21



6 
 

 

4.  Describing the Planning and Improvement Framework 

 
4.1 Our Cabinet Commitments  
 
The political leadership of the Council are called the Cabinet and they have carried out 
work to decide on a set of commitments they want to make to the public and to staff.  
These are the standards you can expect from our leaders and how they want to be held 
to account.  These are shown in the diagram as wrapping around all that we do and the 
way in which we will conduct business. 

4.2 Medium Term Financial Principles  

These are the principles we will use to help make decisions with financial implications.  
As the financial situation becomes more difficult, the principles will guide us (page 4) 
and we will use them in making decisions. For example one of our principles is to “limit 
the impact of cuts on front-line services where we can whilst continuing to reduce 
expenditure and explore opportunities to generate new sources of income”.  Any 
decisions will look at this in the first instance and not ‘simply cut’ but to take a more 
considered approach in finding other ways to do something.  This will go hand in hand 
with the sustainable development principles of the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015.  

4.3 Vision and Values  

This is the vision for the Council that we as an organisation want to aspire too and the 
values that we want to jointly share and build upon. In brief the vision is what we want 
to achieve and the values are how we would go about doing it.  It is important to have 
both as there are many ways to realise a vision but it must be done in the right way.  

Our vision and values are being formed as part of our Transformation Strategy 
#TeamCaerphilly – Better Together and there are more details within the Strategy as 
to how we will achieve this.  It is critical that values belong to all and are not led from 
the top down.  The only way to ensure this is in full consultation with our staff.  When 
they are set we will publish them in our annual performance report. 

4. Transformation Strategy #TeamCaerphilly, Better Together 

Local Government remains at a crossroads. The reduction in funding during the 
austerity programme over the next five years is more than just a reduction in budgets: 
it is a ‘tipping point’ where we have to fundamentally redefine what we do; what 
services we provide and how we provide them. It will require a new relationship and 
understanding with our communities as to why we exist and what our residents can 
expect.  Previously we set up a Business Improvement Portfolio (BIP) board to take 
forward a range of improvement activities, however we have since reviewed this and 
following a revaluation, realised in the current climate we need to be even more 

Page 22



7 
 

ambitious and to stretch ourselves further, so we have developed and launched a 
whole-authority operating model, to ensure a resilient Caerphilly for the future.  The 
strategy is called #TeamCaerphilly – Better Together and its purpose is:   

“To create capacity and foresight to develop solutions to some of the County Borough’s 
biggest challenges, ensuring the Council understands and responds to the changing 
needs and priorities of our communities”. 
 

This is a major transformation programme which will examine how services are 
prioritised, how they can become more business efficient, to explore opportunities for 
greater customer focus and digital delivery, and to consider alternative delivery 
models and seek out commercial opportunities. The strategic programme of “whole-
authority” work will be delivered through the following key themes, which will 
underpin the new operating model of the Council: - 
 

 
 

Key work from this Transformation Programme is:  

 Completion of a £261m physical improvement programme to our housing stock by 
2020.  We will continue to invest in our existing housing stock to provide high 
quality, energy efficient, affordable homes for life. This will be enhanced with an 
exciting and innovative new build programme. 

 Implementing the Shared Ambitions Strategy to raise standards and ensure our 
learners are healthy, confident, proud and ambitious and can benefit from high 
quality educational opportunities, settings and experiences. 

 Commencement of the second phase of the 21st Century schools programme, 
 providing £110m of new educational facilities. 

Page 23



8 
 

• Delivering the Council’s emerging Digital Strategy by opening the Digital Front Door 
and introducing a wide ranging digital transformation programme that transforms 
every aspect of service delivery. 
• A new “state of the art” Children’s Centre, a centre of excellence providing respite 
care and therapeutic services for vulnerable children and their families. 
• Continue the delivery of the Sports and Active Recreation Strategy, providing a 
sustainable approach to leisure and physical activity provision. 
• Introduction of an integrated “one-stop shop” public service offer located within the 
heart of our communities, through strategically placed integrated hubs.   
 

The programmes above will help to deliver the Council’s Well-being Objectives.  There 
will be robust governance and programme management arrangements established to 
ensure that key milestones are agreed to support the successful delivery of the key 
strategic projects More information can be found at [Insert hyperlink to strategy] 
 

5. Directorate Performance Assessment   

We have introduced a new approach to service planning and monitoring performance 
called ‘Directorate Performance Assessments’ (DPA).  These assessments are designed 
to bring together a range of separate reporting information into one ‘single source of 
the truth’. This will give insight and learning into the how each Directorate is 
performing, identifying cause and effect as well as highlighting any actions that are 
being taken to drive improvement.   
 
The DPA will also be the vehicle for services to provide updates on their service 
priorities, which is part of our planning cycle.  We are piloting a more emergent and 
less prescriptive way for services to identify their priorities as part of the planning 
process and will continue to evaluate the best way to carry out corporate planning.   

6. Staff Development  

Our annual Personal Development Review process is a well established vehicle for staff 
development including more frequent 1-2-1 sessions.  As part of our Transformation 
Programme, we want to harness the range of skills and experience within our 
workforce and create opportunities for staff to lead and be involved in various work 
streams.  So we are reviewing the way we carry out Personal Development Reviews 
and introducing a range of activities to embed a ‘licence to innovate’ approach. We 
will introduce a ‘Culture Book’ as a key reference source for staff and as a useful tool 
for performance development.   

7. Corporate Plan and Well- being Objectives  

This document is our ‘Corporate Plan’ and includes our six Well-being Objectives.  We 
have a statutory duty to set Well-being Objectives using the five sustainable 
development principles under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  

Page 24



9 
 

Setting objectives is not new, we have set priorities in a range of ways for a long time; 
however this is the first time we have set objectives over a five year planning period.   

We will review the objectives routinely as circumstances can change and will consult 
with the public to make sure they remain relevant.  However as this is the first year of 
long term improvements our review is more of a ‘light touch’ for 2019. It is important 
to note that this is not all that we do, there are many more activities that are carried 
out, however these objectives are what you told us (or that the data showed) where 
we could make a real difference to the well-being of the county borough.  Section 4 
details what our Well-being Objectives are. 
 
7. Public Services Board Well-being Plan  
 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 required the setting up of a 
statutory board called a Public Services Board (PSB) made up of the Local Authority, 
the Fire Service, Natural Resources Wales and the Aneurin Bevan University Health 
Board with other invited members, including Gwent Police and Public Health Wales. 
The purpose of PSB is to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
Well-being in its area by strengthening joint working across all public services in Wales. 
To do this the PSB carried out a well-being assessment of the area and in response to 
the findings set objectives in a Well-being Plan.   

The PSB Plan was published in May 2018 and is being delivered through a Well-being 
delivery plan, which has five action areas and four enablers (these are things that need 
to happen to make the other things possible such as sharing of public sector assets).  
The Councils own Well-being Objectives are designed to contribute towards the high 
level Well-being Plan rather than replicate its delivery.  

The PSB Annual Report, which details the progress that has been made in year one is 
due to be published in June 2019  

Page 25



10 
 

 

5. Well-being Objectives 2018-2023 

Introduction  
 

We set our Well-being Objectives by using intelligence and data from the Well-being 
Assessment that was carried out to inform the PSB Well-being Plan. This told us about 
the concerns people had and the areas they would like to see improve. 
The objectives were also informed by our duty to deliver sustainability which is 
described within the five ways of working in each objective.  We also looked at how we 
could build on strengths that support improvement in our action planning (and not 
just areas to improve). 
 
We show how our objectives contribute towards the seven national Well-being Goals 
and a description of those goals can be found on page 76.  The areas below are not all 
that we do, indeed it is not possible to cover everything the Council does but we have 
set these six objectives as they are critical to improving citizens’ well-being both in the 
long and short term.  These objectives will be reviewed periodically and we will consult 
on any changes with our citizens. 
 
 

Number  Description  
 

 

Objective 1  Improve education opportunities for all 
 

Page 10-22 

Objective 2 
 

Enabling employment Page 23-33 

Objective 3  Address the availability, condition and sustainability of 
homes throughout the county borough and provide 
advice, assistance or support to help improve people’s 
well-being 
 

Page 34-46 

Objective 4  Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport 
system that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity 
and minimises the adverse impacts on the environment 
 

Page 47-54 

Objective 5 Creating a county borough that supports a healthy 
lifestyle in accordance with the Sustainable Development 
Principle within the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015, 
 

Page 55-56 

Objective 6 Support citizens to remain independent and improve 
their well-being 
 

Page 68-74 

 

Page 26



11 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
1. Improve education opportunities for all  
 

Outcomes 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
  
 1. Aim to reduce the impact of poverty within early years.  

 
2. Raise standards of attainment.  

 
3. Reduce the impact of poverty on attainment for both vocational 

and non-vocational qualifications to provide equality of 
opportunity. 

 
4. Help those who are not able to follow a traditional attainment 

path. 
 

5. Support learning that enables young and adult employment 
opportunities including a focus on ‘future skills’ 

 
6. Improve ‘Digital Skills’ for all ages.  

 
7. Improve the learning environment. 

 
8. Safeguard all children and young people in order to create a 

climate for learning, particularly for those most vulnerable. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

“Education is not preparation for life; 

education is life itself.” 

~ John Dewey~ 

Page 27



12 
 

 
1. Improve education opportunities for all  
 
Well-being Statement  
 
Over the last few years we have focused on improving young people’s outcomes and         
non- vocational qualifications to provide more opportunities for further education or 
employment.  This is still a priority outcome; however we have decided there is a greater 
need to take a more holistic view of education such as understanding issues in children’s early 
years and aspects like poverty and how they can affect attainment.  Much has been done to 
develop a multi-agency approach and learn from relevant research, such as work on ‘Adverse 
Childhood Experiences’ (ACES).  
 
We also want to look at how we can help those who are more vulnerable and unable to 
access a traditional pathway, as well as provide learning for young people and support for 
adults, whether that is to provide more skills or opportunities into employment.  This 
objective is about preventing longer term problems for future generations that are associated 
with low skills and lack of learning opportunities.      
 
Early Years 
 
Attendance is a critical factor to attaining good academic results.  Research has shown how 
important early years are in a child’s life, particularly the first 1000 days.  Whilst emphasis is 
often upon secondary attendance and truancy, the Charlie Taylor Report (2012) highlights 
that ‘truancy’ is only one dimension. This distracts attention from the cause of these 
problems, which is non-attendance in the early years when approved by parents. This soon 
becomes a pattern and establishes poor attitudes towards school.  
 
The research explains a clear link between children from disadvantaged backgrounds, 
attendance and school attainment at the Level 2+ indicator at GCSE.  Only 3% of pupils who 
miss more than 50% of school achieve 5A*-C as opposed to 73% achieving 5A*-C who have 
95% attendance. 

Children with low attendance in early years are more likely to come from poorer backgrounds 
and are likely to start school already behind their peers, especially in language acquisition and 
social development.  Poor attendance can be a sign that there are more serious issues going 
on in the child’s life.  Without the opportunity to receive good quality learning every day from 
the start of their education, the most disadvantaged pupils are unlikely to narrow the gap 
 
The evidence shows that children with poor attendance are unlikely to succeed academically 
and are more likely not to be in education, employment or training (NEET) when they leave 
school.  

Our Welsh Government funded Flying Start programme provides support for early years (0-4 
years of age) and aims to establish positive behaviours in children and families, through healthy 
lifestyles, positive parenting, attendance and raising aspirations.  The Flying Start programme 
offers a range of support at each age and is critical in establishing positive parent and child 
behaviours, in readiness for the child’s education, to give them the best opportunity for later 
life chances.  Research shows that parents’ qualifications and work experience are likely to lead 

Page 28



13 
 

to improved attendance for their children.  This is why some of the Flying Start programme 
helps to build confidence in parents and promote aspiration.  
 
Families First is a Welsh Government programme designed to improve outcomes for children, 
young people and families. It has an emphasis on prevention and helping families as early as 
possible to prevent any issues getting worse.  There are a range of programmes that mirror 
‘Flying Start’ particularly for those living in poverty outside of Flying Start areas; also Families 
First is available to all ages and areas.  Some of the programmes that support this objective 
range from ‘Families Learning Together’ to help parents learn how to best support their 
child’s learning with literacy and numeracy to ‘Little Voices / Tiny Talkers’ which is a 
collaborative contract to target children with speech and language delays.   
 
Attainment  
 
Attainment is still the aspect we are judged on nationally and we recognise that education 
attainment contributes towards this overall ‘readiness’ and capacity for opportunities. Each 
year we rank around 19th to 20th in our educational attainment results at Key Stage 4 (15-16 
years of age), and whilst we improve year on year we stay low down in this rating compared 
to other authorities’ improvement journeys. Standards in Caerphilly are improving but not at 
a sufficient rate compared to similar authorities across Wales.  However our ranking in 
primary settings (by teacher assessment) is ranked 6th and 7th, so there is work to do in 
preventing declining results in later years.   
 
There are many factors which increase levels of vulnerability in learners, one of which is 
poverty and deprivation. The measure that is commonly used to measure deprivation is a 
pupil’s eligibility to receive Free School Meals (FSM).  Sixteen of the 110 areas in Caerphilly 
are in the 10% most deprived areas in Wales, although our eligible pupils perform well against 
those who are not eligible in exam results.  Reducing the gap in performance between eFSM 
and non-eFSM pupils at Key Stage 4, Level 2+ as well as raising standards for all is very 
important as this measure can affect the life chances of learners.  Achieving this indicator at 
the age of 16, opens up further education, employment and training opportunities. The use of 
the Pupil Development Grant (PDG) enables schools to create a deeper level of support for 
those eFSM learners.  The Local Authority is part of a regional school improvement 
consortium called the Education Achievement Service (EAS).  The EAS deliver school 
improvement services on our behalf and monitor the PDG robustly to ensure the resources go 
to the right place.  
 
At a discussion held with Caerphilly Business Forum and the Welsh Innovation Centre for 
Enterprise (ICE), the following issues emerged as important around educational matters 
where gaining a good level education was seen as key in getting young people work ready. 
 
Helping those who do not follow a traditional path 
 
Not all pupils can stay in a mainstream school environment until the age of 16.  Some young 
people are fragile or vulnerable and require specialist provision.  Other young people require 
a flexible, blended, approach and two of our services support pupils specifically in this way, 
Education Other Than At School (EOTAS) and the Youth Service. 
 
 

Page 29



14 
 

 
The EOTAS service provides alternative educational pathways for those pupils who may be 
unable to continue in full time mainstream education for a variety of reasons.  The focus of 
the educational opportunities available to pupils who are within this aspect of the education 
system is to maintain standards of attainment and to develop strategies which will support an 
individual managing their own behaviours more effectively into adulthood through 
developing resilience and coping strategies.  
 
We work with a range of stakeholders to deliver an appropriate educational pathway 
including the Youth Service, so that learners have opportunities to succeed in formal,         
non-formal and informal learning experiences.  Whilst providing informal educational support 
for all young people 11-25, the Youth Service is proactive in supporting those who may not 
always achieve via formal educational pathways, such as GCSEs.  Young people of school age 
are supported both in school time, for example, by providing an alternative curriculum, and 
outside of school hours, so as to provide holistic, integrated and wrap around support for 
those most in need of it.  In this way educational targets for attainment, attendance and 
behaviour are significantly supported.   
 
Welsh Government guidance, together with current policy direction, consistently recognises 
the role of youth work in all its forms with regard to ensuring the engagement by young 
people in society, including the positive influence on their education, health, behaviours and 
their work prospects – in these ways, Youth Service activity mirrors the intent across all    
well-being themes.  Frequently, the Youth Service can engage positively with young people, 
particularly in areas of poverty, where others cannot, ensuring that all young people have 
contact with adults that can enable them to live positive and fulfilling lives and contribute to 
their communities.  The unique relationship that youth workers have with young people helps 
to accomplish this, combined with the reach of the Youth Service, which goes far beyond that 
of schools, social services and many others, many of whom rely on the Youth Service to 
deliver key messages to young people.  Our participation commitments are largely fulfilled by 
the Youth Service, for whom the involvement of and collaboration with young people to 
influence their lives and their communities is central to the provision of youth work.  The long 
term support provided to young people, supports the transition from childhood to adulthood, 
enabling significant prevention work to be undertaken and is a unique feature of services in 
Education and beyond.  Other types of support include a Families First run project called 
Targeted Youth and Family Engagement which aims to develop personal and social skills 
particularly around behaviours and boundaries, raise confidence and build self-esteem. The 
project also provides one to one and group support for young parents. 
 
At the age of 16 schools we work successfully with colleges to ensure that, where pupils 
choose a vocational route as a next step, transition processes are effective. 
 
Enabling Employability  
 
When we carried out the local assessment of well-being, the assessment made the 
connection between a lack of opportunity and the role of education and training in helping to 
provide opportunities for jobs.  One of the significant areas to emerge from our assessment 
exercise was the need to ‘provide training, apprenticeships, employment and opportunities 
that are appropriate for all sectors of the community’.   

Page 30



15 
 

The overall picture is that 31.4% of the county borough residents have no qualifications 
compared with a figure of 26% for Wales as a whole.  This came through as a concern from 
the communities we spoke with.  A strong local economy was identified as essential for lifting 
local people out of poverty and attainment for young people was linked to longer term quality 
of life.   
 
The Public Services Board want to address this as part of their new Well-being Plan.  Our 
contribution towards improving this picture is three employability programmes we run within a 
regional partnership and have now implemented a fourth in 2018. 
 
The programmes are Inspire 2 Work is a six county regional operation led by Blaenau Gwent.  
This provides support for young people aged 16-24 who are not in education, employment or 
training and have no means of engaging with formal or informal education, training or 
employment.  Participants, who must live in a non-Community First area, are offered a 
tailored package of one to one support to help them return to education, enter work or gain a 
qualification required to access voluntary opportunities.   
 
Bridges into Work 2 is a five county regional operation led by Torfaen Council. This provides 
tailored support for participants who are 25+ who are economically inactive (figures are quite 
high in the county borough) or long term unemployed (living in non-Communities First areas). 
 
Working skills for Adults 2 provides support for employed or self employed aged 16+ with a 
view to gain further qualifications to upskill into better opportunities. A new programme 
called Nurture, Equip and Thrive (NET) is now operational and provides advice and guidance 
to those people in employment who are suffering in work poverty due to under employment 
in order to get additional hours or a second income and provides support to get those with 
long term sickness back into employment.  All the programmes are due to run to at least 2022 
and have measurable targets for getting people engaged, qualified or entering into 
employment.  
 
The Council follows the national Engagement and Progression Framework. This has involved 
the recruitment of a co-ordinator within the Youth Service, whose role is to work closely with 
children and young people who have been identified by schools and others as being at risk of 
not going into employment, education or training (NEET).  Following the identification, the co-
ordinator will provide a wide and varied programme of support such as regular mentoring 
meetings with youth workers, accompanied visits to colleges and other establishments, visits 
to and from employers to develop their knowledge, understanding, motivation and access to 
events which give young people the chance to view and apply for a variety of opportunities 
linked to education, employment and training.   
 
There is new funding into Youth Service to support the most vulnerable young people who are 
likely or at risk of becoming NEET and / or homeless.  To reduce the level of risk and              
re-engage them with school or training opportunities we are linking this with the Engagement 
and Progression Framework.  

At a regional level the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal (CCRCD) is looking at allocating a 
development fund for a pilot to develop a business case of the feasibility of a ‘Skills for the 
Future’ project.  This will provide region wide school engagement support for business and a 
skills investment fund to deliver over 10,000 apprenticeships, graduate internships and 
upskilling employees in the private sector.  More on this can be found in our Enabling 

Page 31



16 
 

employment Objective however it is worth recognising the connection here between skills, 
education and employment.  
 
The lack of consistent advice and guidance for young people combined with the under supply 
of young people interested in doing apprenticeships in the areas that priority sectors need, 
has the potential to make the mismatch of skills available, to skills needed even greater. 
Uncertainty around what skills are needed following Brexit, the growth in automation and the 
increasing importance of digital skills means it is important we support a joint regional 
approach to deliver an ‘employer led skill system’ in the Cardiff Capital Region.  In other 
words we need to better match the skills being taught to the skills employers need.  Fewer 
children and students are studying Science, Technology, Engineering, Maths (known as STEM) 
and digital skills at a regional level.  Part of addressing this under the ‘Skills For The Future’ 
project is the CCRCD aim to invest in good quality careers advice in schools from year 8 
onwards (as part of a much wider programme) to work with schools in delivering a more 
informed leaner employment choice and ensure young people are better equipped to pursue 
more lucrative career options and earning potential.   
 
Automation and Artificial Intelligence (AI) has implications for business in the near future 
and this means implications for the types of knowledge and skills that our children need, to 
make sure they can benefit from the opportunities that AI can bring. There are also concerns.   
It has been widely reported that by 2030 one in four jobs could be lost in Wales (estimated at 
112,000 jobs) to automation and AI unless skills change.  We need to ensure our young people 
are trained today for tomorrow’s skills.   
 
Digital Strategy and Competency  
 
Digital Competency - We recognise in the new digital era that having access to technology 
and facilities to study, for example, online study, is one way that can help people with the 
quality of their life.  This is why we will have a strong focus on ways to roll out more high 
speed and quality broadband and look to provide digital opportunities. We are taking part in 
The Learning in a Digital Wales programme to provide high speed broadband for schools 
(funded by Welsh Government).  Welsh Government officials are working with local 
authorities and British Telecom (BT) to start ordering and implementing more services this 
year.  In schools, as part of the new curriculum a new Digital Competence Framework is being 
introduced.    
 
“*Digital competence is the set of skills, knowledge and attitudes that enable the confident, 
creative and critical use of technologies and systems. It is essential for learners if they are to 
be informed, capable and have the potential to be successful in today’s society”  
 
*http://learning.gov.wales/docs/learningwales/publications/160831-dcf-guidance-en-v2.pdf 

Several of our schools are leading on this with some becoming centres of excellence to share 
good practice.  The Digital Competency Framework has been developed to be inclusive of all 
learners aged 3 to 16-plus. It covers the development of skills from the earliest stages that 
very young children need to learn.  
 
Another part of our digital agenda is the work that is being done within our libraries.  
The library service are working with families and toddlers to develop basic coding skills and 
encourage literacy, counting, socialising, problem solving and teamwork through use of the 
Fisher Price Code-a-Pillar toy where parts of the body control different aspects, such as 

Page 32



17 
 

movement, sound and lights. These parts can be rearranged to make the caterpillar move in 
different directions.  The project takes place in the main 4 libraries, Caerphilly, Blackwood 
(where the project was piloted), Bargoed and Risca and is badged as a school readiness 
programme to support the digital curriculum.  Our Families First programme brings families 
into library’s to take part in their ‘Families Learning Together’ project improving literacy and 
numeracy,  
 
For our 7-12 year olds, this age group focuses on online coding and using Raspberry Pi and 
BBC Microbit Kits. They are taught a basic coding language called Scratch. More advanced 
children are able to learn coding using advanced coding languages such as HTML and Python. 
This project takes groups of children over several weeks to give them time to develop their 
skills.   
 
A third strand will focus on older children and adults and libraries are currently working with 
older pupils from Coleg Gwent to gather evidence and work out how this project can work to 
give the pupils technological employability skills they need post education.  Libraries are 
currently having a conversation with Adult Education Services around employability skills and 
this may be a future development.  
 
Each library has its own improvement plan (LIP) in which they show their contribution to 4 
skills areas; School Readiness, Health, Life and Employability.  
Other library workshops available include ‘Information Skills’ focusing on age 11, (year 6) to 
engage with children before comprehensive school. Our Community Librarians  show groups 
of pupils how libraries work and support them in developing critical thinking skills, using 
search engines to get the best results, and learning how to use text based resources 
effectively including use of contents and index pages. They also engage with the children on 
E- safety with topics such as cyber bullying, sexting and talk about the effects these can have 
on the children and their friends.  Adult Education also deliver a range of digital learning 
courses across the county borough as does the Supporting People programmes in assisting 
with basic computer skills and activities such as ‘digital Fridays’.  
 

We want to take an innovative approach to digital connectivity and be alive to the 
opportunities in the region that can benefit our community, which is why we are committed 
to the development of a Digital Strategy as part of the Cardiff City Region City Deal.  This 
comprises a range of proposals which depend upon a well developed infrastructure using a 
‘dark fibre’ network. This means instead of using traditional cabling, data is transported over 
unused optical fibre.  A dark fibre network is optical fibre infrastructure that is not in use.  
Exploration of the use of ‘dark fibre’ would result in faster and wider connection at a global, 
regional and community level.  This would also support the next generation of digital mobile 
access of 5G which has greater down load speeds and capacity for a larger numbers of 
devices. For example, the difference between the speed of 4G and 5G would be the ability to 
down load a film in less than 10 seconds on a 5G network, compared to 10 minutes on a 4G 
network.  This kind of access and speed will provide extensive support to schools and colleges 
on their digital journeys.  There are a wide range of proposals within the strategy and being 
aware of how the digital future will impact our young people will be critical to the skills that 
are needed, for example in jobs that may be automated in the future.             
 

21st Century Schools Programme 
 

Page 33



18 
 

The Welsh Government (WG) 21st Century Schools programme 2014-2019 has resulted in an 
investment of £56.5m in education within the county borough.  This has been funded 50% by 
WG and 50% by the Authority.  There were 5 projects identified as part of the programme. 
Two are now complete, Islwyn High School which opened in July 2017, and Y Gwindy Welsh 
Medium Secondary School which is an expansion of Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhymni in the 
Caerphilly Basin, and also incorporated a new primary school Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg 
Caerffili.  The Abertysswg/Pontlottyn Primary School Building, which is part of the Rhymney 
age 3 to 18 school opened in January 2018 and was named the ‘Idris Davies’ school (3-18).  
These are state of the art 21st Century School developments.  The extension of Newbridge 
School has recently started with completion scheduled for September 2018 and the final 
scheme invested £2M into a refurbishment project at Blackwood Comprehensive. 
 
The Authority has recently submitted to WG their bid in relation to the 21st Century schools 
Band B programme which will run from 2019 for a 7 year period and will focus on the 
improvement of the condition of school buildings and maximising community usage. 
 

How we used the ‘5 ways of working’ to set this Well-being objective?   
 
Involvement – There are many people involved in achieving this objective, from schools, 
parents, health services, libraries, builders (for school improvements), colleges and 
employment organisations.  One of our biggest partners in helping young people and schools 
to better levels of achievement and attainment is the Education Achievement Service (EAS) 
who deliver school improvement on our behalf. There are too many partners to list but we 
will continue to promote partnership working and sharing resource with the old saying in the 
forefront of our minds that “it takes a village to raise a child”.   
 
Long term - The objective is over 4-5 years but the benefits for children and young people will 
be over a 25 year period from birth to adulthood. The objective covers actions and the 
importance of early years on learning through to support for young adults into employment 
programmes and the recognition that digital learning plays an important skill in the present 
and the future.    
 
Collaborate – The EAS and our schools are our main partners for academic improvements and 
we work closely with them to improve attainment.  We have a range of different 
collaborations which will form part of our detailed action plans. Many of the projects 
delivering to this Well-being Objective are delivered through collaborative partnerships 
between health, local authority, statutory and voluntary sector partners.    
 
Integration –We are aware that aspirations are linked with the family and therefore Flying 
Start, Families First, Supporting People and other key agencies, working with families will also 
be key partners. In addition, studies have shown that raising aspirations and improving 
attitudes to learning is wider than just educational barriers. Therefore, we may require the 
support of services such as leisure, parks and countryside, the voluntary sector and health 
services as a way of engaging with children and young people and their families.   
 
Prevention – We are taking a long term approach by understanding the effect of children’s 
early years on their readiness and experience of school, connected to attendance through to 
the skills and exam levels they achieve at school.  We are taking a preventative approach for 
those who cannot follow a traditional path through a range of support and one to one work. 

Page 34



19 
 

We recognise the importance of growth in digital skills needed for work of the future but also 
promoting vocational work and making sure those young people that don’t have a traditional 
path in education are valued and supported.  The success of this objective has a big impact on 
quality of life, as it is recognised that skills that enable employment are one of the main paths 
out of poverty.   
 
What steps will we take to achieve this goal?  
 
There will be a detailed action plan to aid the delivery of this objective over the next 4-5 
years. In the meantime below we highlight some of the main actions that we will take over 
this time:  

 

Outcomes  Timeframe 

1. Aim to reduce the impact of poverty within early years 

Continued delivery of the Flying Start programme to help improve access, take up 
and attendance. 

2017-2021 

Continued delivery of the Families First programme to help improve access, take up 
and attendance. 

2017-2021 

Increase the number of eligible working families accessing the free Childcare Offer. Sept 2017-
2021 

2. Raise standards of attainment 
 

Reduce variation between schools so that all schools make improvements by 
working closely with the Education Achievement Service to continue to sharpen 
processes and intervene effectively. 

2017 
ongoing 

Reduce the rate of fixed term exclusions particularly at targeted primary and 
secondary schools by revising the behaviour strategy and developing specialist fit for 
purpose provision. 

November 
2017 – June 
2018 

Further develop the STRIVE (System, Tracking, Reporting, Identifying, Vulnerability 
Education) to include data on young people who are currently Not in Education 
Training and Employment (NEET) in order to identify destinations and support young 
people into further training or employment.  

 
December 
2017 - 2018 

3: Reduce impact of poverty on attainment for both vocational and non vocational qualifications 
to provide equality of opportunity 

More effectively track progress of vulnerable groups and monitor impact of 
interventions on outcomes.   

Completed 

Develop the role of person centred practice (PCP) champion and embed person 
centred practice in targeted schools. 

Sept 2016 -
Aug 2018 
Completed 

Increase engagement and support for young people who are at risk of or are 
currently NEET to secure destinations and realise their potential.  

 
2016 - 2019 

Reconfigure the core Youth Service to ensure that young people with the most need 
are supported to achieve, whether by formal or non-formal means.   

Apr 2018-
Sept 2019 

4: Support those who are not able to follow a traditional attainment path 
 

Improve the consistency of what is delivered for all (Education other than at school) 
learners with providers currently on the EOTAS Framework. 

Jan 2018 

Develop the transition plan in relation to Team Teach with schools arranging their 
own training.  

Completed 
July 2017 

Page 35



20 
 

Outcomes  Timeframe 

Work with Local Authorities involved in the Flexibilities Funding pilots in preparation 
for implementation from April 2019 to maximise the reach of grant funded 
programmes for vulnerable families.  

Apr 2018- 
2021 
 

Review Additional Learning Needs (ALN) in mainstream Schools including Additional 
Support and Community Tuition, and Education Other than at School settings.  
The purpose is to: 

 ensure that all schools are aware of and compliant with responsibilities in line 
with the existing Special Education Needs Code and developments in relation 
to the ‘Additional Learning Needs’ reform  

 ensure effective targeting of resources to meet needs 

 ensure a consistent approach for EOTAS learners 

 ensure appropriate pathways are established for EOTAS learners 

Jan 2017 – 
Sept 2019 

5: Support learning that enables young and adult employment opportunities 

 
Deliver Adult Community Learning and European Social Fund operations to improve 
the level of skills and provide opportunities to gain qualifications (formal and non-
formal) and move people towards employment.   

 
2017-2023 

Continue the ‘Inspire to Work’ programmes, support for those aged 16-24 who are 
not in education, employment or training and have no means of engaging with 
education, employment or training.  The Project is currently approved. 

Delivery 
started 
June 2017 – 
June 2019. 

Continue to expand the Progress Traineeship Scheme which targets care leavers age 
16 to 18. The scheme will focus on the local authority providing the young person 
with an excellent programme of work experience to enable them to develop and 
gain a meaningful qualification in collaboration with Social Services. 

 
2017 - 2018 

The CCRCD will support the allocation of development funding to pilot a ‘Skills For 
The Future’ project to test out the concept and develop a business case.  

2018/19 
 

6: Improve digital skills for all ages 
 

Introduction of literacy, numeracy and digital competence expected of all teachers 
and pupils.  Caerphilly schools are working with Welsh Government to become 
centres of excellence in sharing good practice in digital competency.  

Sept 2017 - 
ongoing   

Develop support for Adult Education to deliver digital literacy skills, supporting the 
three employability programs.     

2017-2022 

Support the development of Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Digital Strategy  
 

2018-2023 

7. Improve the learning environment 
 

Agree the 21st Century schools Band B programme which is planned to run from 
2019. 

2018 

Ensure robust procedures are in place to ensure timely submission of Business Cases 
to Welsh Government. 

2018 

Ensure all requirements of the School Organisations Code are met when 
implementing the programme. 

2018-2023 

Effectively manage the procurement and planning of projects to ensure value for 
money and best use of resources 
 

2018-2023 

Page 36



21 
 

Outcomes  Timeframe 

Effectively manage our Capital resources to ensure it is targeted at areas of most 
need. 

2018-2023 

Ensure the right schools are in the right places to meet current and future demand. 
 

2018-2023 

8: Safeguard all children and young people in order to create a climate for learning, particularly 
for those most vulnerable 
 

Develop a Well-being Strategy and a model policy for schools 
 

2018 

Develop a sustainable delivery system of sufficient safeguarding training for all staff 
to create safety for all learners 

2018-2022 

 

Why we consider that our Well-being Objective will maximise our contribution to the 
National Well-being goals 
 

A Prosperous Wales develops a skilled and well educated population; we need our young 
people to have greater vocational or non-vocational skills in order to have better paid jobs 
and job satisfaction that contribute to the community and a better quality of life.  
Achieving our Well-being Objective is essential to contribute to this national goal. 
This work is about helping all young people (and adults) reach their potential and so 
underpins a more Equal Wales.  Literacy, play, speech and all the programmes designed to 
help improve reading and writing through the life course maximise contribution to A 
Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language  
Recognition of the way health and well-being contributes to Education attainment means 
that healthier young people would enable a Healthier Wales 
Digital competence and the networks behind them contributes to a Globally Responsible 
Wales 

 
Success of this objective would also contribute to:  

 Welsh Government Goal 2  - Improve education outcomes for all and reduce the gap in 
outcomes for different groups 

 Arts Council of Wales - REACH – Developing the creativity of children and young 
people 

 Public Health Wales – Give our children the best start in life including opportunities to 
grow, play and learn in a healthy and safe environment 

 Aneurin Bevan University Health Board - Support every parent expecting a child and 
give every child in Gwent support to ensure the best start in life. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



22 
 

 

  How we will resource this Well-being Objective; 
 
 
From April 2019 the Local Authority has been awarded a Children and Communities Grant 
totalling £9,742,237 which is the combination of 7 previous grants Flying Start, Families First, 
Legacy Fund (previously Communities First), Communities for Work Plus, Childcare and Play, 
Promoting Positive Engagement for Young People at risk of offending, and St David’s Day 
fund. This combined funding grant will enable greater collaboration between the programmes 
to improve services for families and residents across the borough.  
 
The Childcare Offer grant which is paid to childcare settings across the borough for childcare 
places is reducing the amount that working parents pay for childcare of 3 year olds in part 
time Foundation Phase places. This revenue grant is £2,798,000 per year.  In addition the 
Welsh Government has given the local authority £5,110,989 capital funding to develop more 
childcare places for 3-4 year olds across the borough. 
 
Band B 21st Century Schools Programme will be 75% funded by Welsh Government and 25% 
funded by the Local Authority. The local authority has been successful in securing £6,306,000 
capital funding for Welsh medium Education and early years childcare provision, to increase 
the number of places available in Welsh medium provision 
 
The European Social Funds which fund the Inspire 2 Work (£755k) Working Skills for Adults 
(544k with a match commitment from the Local Authority) and Bridges into Work 2 (1.6m) 
with a match commitment from the Local Authority) remain unchanged from the 2018 Plan as 
the funding is set for the duration of the projects.  
  
The EAS ensure Pupil Development Grant (£13,406,723) and Education Improvement Grant is 
appropriately targeted and monitored. 
The Youth work grant is now £581,572, and the Adult Community Learning Grant (funded by 
Welsh Government) has increased also to £312,710  
 
Digital programmes are funded by Welsh Government, although we contribute towards 
aspects like line rental.  The Cardiff City Region City Deal is to agree allocation of £120k for 
scoping of a digital strategy. 
 

When will the objective be completed? 
 
This journey will be ongoing as we will always consider that improving children and young 
people’s life chances, and enabling employment opportunities are important.  However, as 
this objective is set for the next 5 years we will consider that we have made significant 
improvement when we rise above the Welsh average in the indicators noted below. 
 

Page 38



23 
 

 

 
We have removed: 5 measures for 19/20 because they are no longer collected and used by 
Welsh Government and replaced them with outcomes at key stage 4.  We will report on the 
measures for the last time in our 2018/19 performance report.  
 

For context where possible we will also view the National indicators for Wales below when we 
look at performance overall of this objective.  
 

   

General Well-being Indicators-    Source of Data 

Measurement of development of young children  Foundation phase 
profile 

 
Other relevant information 
 
We recognise there are many other factors that help young people with education and wider 
life skills such as the ability to cook meals or to have good self-esteem. For example recent 
research (University of Strathclyde and Dundee) found intensive exercise improves the 
academic performance of teenagers.  Whilst we cannot prioritise all these aspects 
programmes like our healthy schools and exercise programmes recognise these other aspects 
and are included in objective 3 and 5. 
 
Information on schools and their performance within the county borough can be found at 
www.mylocalschool.com 

Linked to 
outcome 

Evidence  

1 Cumulative number of children accessing the Flying Start programme 
annually is above the cap number of 2483 

1&3 Increased number of eligible working parents accessing the Childcare Offer 
funded places 

1 Number of individual families benefitting from the Families First Programme 

1 Number and % of participants who report improved emotional/mental Well-
being (following the programme they participated in).  

2 % of Primary School Attendance 

2 % of Secondary School Attendance 

2 % of Fixed Term Exclusions per 1000 pupils at Primary and Secondary Schools   

7 % of Primary and Secondary school surplus places 

3&4 % of Year 11 leavers from schools known to be not in education, employment 
or training (NEET) 

4,5&8 Number of care leavers (16-18) engaged in the Progress Traineeship Scheme 
increases 

5 Number of young people engaged in the Live Vacancy Events (2 per year) 

5 Meet or exceed employability targets (as given for the BIW and Inspire 
programme) 

6 The roll out of digital competency framework within our schools 

2  Key Stage 4 Capped 9 point Score  (new for 2019) 

 Key Stage 4 A*-A (new for 2019)  

2 Welsh Baccalaureate Skills challenge Level 1 and 2 (new for 2019 

Page 39

http://www.mylocalschool.com/


24 
 

 
 

 2. Enabling employment 
 

Outcomes 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

1. Aim to reduce the impact of poverty by supporting people into better 
employment prospects.  

 
2. Meet the targets of the European Social Fund programmes of getting 

people skilled and into work. 
 
3. The Council will use the value of its third party spend to bring greater 

social and economic regeneration to the communities we serve. 
 
4. Use investment in the housing stock to increase the number of skilled, 

qualified workers and tackle worklessness by providing apprenticeship, 
training and work placements with our in-house workforce and building 
contractors. 

 
5. Ensuring local delivery of work programmes aligns and maximises 

opportunities from the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 40



25 
 

2. Enabling employment   
 
Well-being Statement  
 
This objective is about enabling people to be ready for jobs and to help prevent longer term 
problems that are associated with low skills and lack of employability. We want to contribute 
towards overall issues that affect employment within the local economy. 
 
Before employment there are many related support programmes that help to get people in a 
position in order to be work ready, low level mental health needs, low motivation, lack of 
confidence and several other factors play a part in getting a person to a position where they are 
ready to train or write a CV or attend an interview.  Several of our Families First, Flying Start and 
Supporting People projects (whilst not specific to employment) help to grow people’s confidence 
and to give them a voice that puts them in a better state of mind to start looking at employment 
needs and opportunities.    
 
It must be recognised that we cannot, as a Local Authority, solve unemployment issues as 
national economic growth is one of the key determinants in the availability of jobs.  What we can 
do is help equip people with the skills and experience to provide the best chances for work. 
We can ensure our planning factors in support for business growth and that we understand and 
act on wider determinants of employment such as travel and accessibility to jobs. 
 
Employment is still seen as one of the main routes out of poverty so it is important that we look 
at ways we can equip people for ‘sustainable’ and ‘well paid’ employment. Education is a key 
factor in this and we have outcomes to improve our standards of attainment within our 
Education objective.   
 
During the course of our conversations with the public we met many citizens who told us a key 
area of concern was being able to have skills and access to employment.  The local assessment of 
well-being told us that within the county borough we have 70% of males aged 16-74 years who 
are economically active and nearly 60% of females 16-74 who are economically active.  This 
means we have 30% of males aged 16-74 who are economically inactive and approximately 40% 
of women 16-74 years of age who are classed as economically inactive. 
(The economically inactive are defined as people who are not in employment or unemployed. 
There are many reasons why an individual may be inactive, for example, they might be studying, 
looking after family or long-term sick) 
 
The proportion of males aged 16-74 years who were long-term sick or disabled was 8.6% in the 
county borough against the Wales average of 6.5%.  The proportion of females aged 16-74 years 
who were long-term sick or disabled was slightly less at 7.8% against a Wales average of 6.0%. 
 
Unemployment across many parts of the county borough is characterised by long term 
generational ‘worklessness’, most notably in those communities which may have been affected 
by widespread redundancy following past industrial closures.  There also exists a growing issue 
of workless households, whereby cycles of negative attitudes towards employment are 
perpetuated throughout families, with significant impact upon the attitudes and prospects of 
future generations.  For example the Upper Rhymney Valley community area contains a large 
proportion of the more deprived areas within the county borough, where unemployment is a 
major issue, with generations of families where no-one has ever worked.  Data shows that rates 

Page 41



26 
 

of unemployment by ward for males aged 16-74 years in Rhymney were significantly higher than 
the county borough average (6.6%) and the Wales average (5.5%) in most of the wards.  People 
living within these communities will often experience numerous complex barriers to 
employment, including transport (the geography of the county borough makes this a particular 
problem for some areas), childcare, poor physical and mental health, low confidence, low skills, 
lack of education/qualifications, essential skills, poor motivation, domestic abuse and substance 
misuse.  There is more detail on the data within our ‘Caerphilly County Borough Area Assessment 
of Local Well-being’ March 2017 which can be accessed online at 
https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/.   
 
The Office for National Statistics data (Jul 2016 – Jun 2017) shows that the number of people 
unemployed in the county borough (5.3%) is higher than the Wales (4.7%) and UK (4.6%) 
averages.  The percentage of workless households is also higher.  Being unemployed is known to 
have a detrimental effect on health and well-being, and is also linked to deprivation and poverty.  
Helping people into work will enable them to live independently, lift them out of poverty and 
help to promote good health and well-being. 

 
Developing skills and achieving qualifications to take young people into employment is covered 
in our Education Objective and is critical to the achievement of this objective as 31.4% of our 
adult residents do not hold any qualifications.  Access to jobs by sustainable transport is 
addressed in our objective on transport.  
 
Enabling Employability  
 
The Well-being Assessment involved talking with many citizens who made the connection 
between lack of opportunity, in particular job prospects and the link between education and 
training in helping to provide opportunities for jobs.   
 
Within Caerphilly, a range of employability programmes are run, funded by both the European 
Social Fund (ESF) and Welsh Government, which are designed to improve employability across a 
variety of customer groups.  Our Education Objective specifically provides actions for the 
programmes below which contribute to this objective and is summarised below:       

 Inspire 2 Work – links directly to our work with young people aged 16-24 who are not 
in education, employment or training and have no means of engaging with formal or 
informal education, training or employment.   

 Bridges 2 Work - tailored support for participants who are 25 + who are economically 
inactive, working in non-priority areas (this is not part of the programmes known as 
Communities for Work which operates in areas classed as deprived). 

 Working skills for Adults 2 provides support for employed or self-employed aged 16+ 
with a view to gain further qualifications to upskill into better opportunities.  

 
Central to the successful co-ordination of these programmes is a ‘triage’ process, which forms 
part of the Communities for Work programme and provides a central point of referral, whereby 
customers seeking employment or skills can be referred in to designated triage staff who will 
then determine their eligibility for any one of the available employability programmes and refer 
them as appropriate.  This approach ensures effective partnership working and a lack of 
duplication across the different employability programmes enabling the provision of a holistic 
employment service across the whole county borough, which is able to support all customers 
regardless of their individual eligibility criteria.  
 

Page 42

https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/


27 
 

Communities for Work provide intensive mentoring support for unemployed customers within 
the most deprived areas (known as Communities First areas) of the county borough.  The 
programme is funded by ESF and comprises a partnership between ourselves and the 
Department of Work and Pensions (DWP), whereby Employment Mentors based within the 
Council and Employment Advisers, based within DWP work together in cluster teams to provide 
intensive employability support to address the many complex barriers to employment which 
customers may experience. 

 
Following the phase out of the Communities First programme in March 2018, the Communities 
for Work Plus programme was established to “fill the gaps” in terms of the employability 
support that was previously provided by Communities First.  The programme formally started 
April 2018 and mirrors the service offered by Communities for Work by providing mentoring‐
based employability support for customers who do not meet the formal eligibility criteria of the 
existing ESF funded programmes, as well as providing a level of wraparound support for 
Communities for Work in the form of additional support to address the many complex barriers to 
employment that people face.  In addition, the Welsh Government Legacy Fund was introduced 
to continue the legacy of Communities First for local communities.  Within Caerphilly this 
funding is being used to support 8 Legacy areas, which have been prioritised as communities of 
highest need, requiring intensive engagement activity to access the hardest to reach individuals.  
Participants are encouraged to get involved in activities in their communities through the Legacy 
programme, as a means of increasing aspiration, confidence and knowledge, with the aim that 
they may then transition into the employment programmes. 
 
Childcare Offer for Wales   
 
The New Welsh Government Childcare Offer is now available across the county borough and 
could bring huge financial savings for eligible parents earning the equivalent of 16 hours or more 
per week. From the term following their 3rd birthday, children could be entitled to 20 hours of 
government funded childcare.  This is in addition to the 10 hours already provided by the       
part-time Foundation Phase and up to 30 hours of childcare during the school holidays. The 
Welsh Government funded childcare within the county borough at the moment could be 
instrumental in helping parents back into employment knowing their child care needs may be 
met.  

 
Welsh Housing Quality Scheme (WHQS) Investment Programme 
 
We are committed to delivering the WHQS across all our 10,805 homes by 2020. We are also 
committed to delivering an ambitious transformation programme which will see a £200 million 
WHQS investment act as a catalyst to transform not only homes but also lives and communities 
throughout the area. We recognise that investment on this scale presents a unique opportunity 
to deliver added social, economic and environmental benefits to the people that live in homes 
and within our communities. 
 
The investment programme provides an opportunity to link housing and regeneration outcomes 
through ensuring greater alignment between key strategic and operational programmes; 
through securing external funding to add to the existing investment programme; through 
engaging people and communities that may have previously been deemed ‘hard to reach’ and; 
through doing different things and doing them in a different way. 
 

Page 43



28 
 

The procurement strategy and contract structure adopted has been designed specifically to drive 
the achievement of greater added value through community benefits. The structure seeks to 
maximise the Welsh pound, deliver greater social, economic and environmental benefits and 
impact, and provide the market with greater assurance and confidence by moving away from 
‘might be’ framework contracts to ‘will be’ long term commitment contracts. 
In order to achieve this ambition, we have included targeted recruitment and training 
requirements into WHQS internal works and supply partner contracts (this means we ask that 
our contractors to recruit and train people who are unemployed as part of the contract) we ask 
them to take a flexible approach to a suite of community benefits which includes a request to 
consider implementing the living wage, the creation of a fund to support local community 
groups, and activities to help facilitate the transfer of knowledge and experience within, and 
between, the private sector and local schools and colleges.  
 
To date, 106 new full time job opportunities have been created across Caerphilly Homes         
(The Council’s housing department) and a further 71 as a result of the work awarded to our 
WHQS internal works contractors and supply partner. The opportunities created, particularly by 
the Council, have directly benefited the local economy as approximately 80% of the workforce 
employed reside within the county borough and therefore spend their salary locally.  

 
A total of 43 apprenticeship opportunities have also been created within the Caerphilly Homes 
team to support the delivery of the WHQS programme. An additional 15 have been created by 
the Council’s internal works contractors and the supply partner.   
 
In an attempt to ensure that the most disadvantaged people within the county borough are able 
to take advantage of the opportunities presented by the programme, we and our delivery 
partners have made available a number of work placement opportunities for people aged 16+ 
and who have been engaged via the Welsh Government’s tackling poverty programme called 
Lift.  17 individuals from workless households have benefited from the integration of the WHQS 
programme with the delivery of ‘Lift’.      
 
Work placement opportunities have been created by our internal works contractors and sub 
contractors, together with Robert Price, the Council’s WHQS supply partner, and E-On who are 
undertaking extensive external wall insulation and energy efficiency programme on behalf of 
Caerphilly Homes, funded by Welsh Government and ourselves in Lansbury Park.  
 
A commitment of £50,000 per annum for a period of 5 years was made at the outset of the 
programme to assist those deemed furthest from the labour market to overcome barriers to 
employment. To date the funding has been used to add value to the employment support work 
undertaken by the Community Regeneration Team and the delivery of ‘Lift’. Moving forward, the 
funding will complement the delivery of the new employment support programmes recently 
announced by Welsh Government (Legacy, Communities 4 Work and Communities 4 Work Plus) 
and support the most vulnerable tenants on their journey towards employment. 

 
Procurement  
 
We spend around £170m per annum on third party expenditure which provides opportunities 
for making better links with what we can do to support the local economy.  We are committed to 
ensuring we achieve value for money from our third party procurement expenditure.  So we 
recognise the value of using purchasing to support wider cultural, social, economic and 

Page 44



29 
 

environmental objectives, in ways that offer real long-term benefits to the community. Our 
‘Programme for Procurement’ will be a living strategy, flexible, adaptable and alive to the 
changing environment will detail specific actions to bring this about.     
Our Objective has a mixture of practical and short to mid term actions such as providing skills 
that help people to get ready for employment, however there are also wider determinants and 
longer term actions that need to take place, in the shape of our draft Regeneration Strategy – ‘A 
Foundation for Success’ 2018-2023.  Caerphilly County Borough and the wider Cardiff Capital 
Region is entering a period of transformative change, the need for a strategy to coordinate a 
wide range of initiatives and make best use of funding streams is urgent in order to maximise the 
potential benefits to the county borough. 
  
Whilst there are different routes to transformation the strategy recognises how important our 
Foundational Economy is.  The ‘Foundational Economy’ is an official name for business activities 
that we use every day and see all around us, such as shops, social and child care and food 
industries, energy and housing.  It is important this is not overlooked in partnership plans to 
regenerate the area because these sectors generally represent 40% of the labour market across 
the UK and make a substantial contribution to South Wales and Caerphilly county borough.   
The ‘Foundational Economy’ provides essential services whose loss would be felt and affect the 
well-being of our citizens whether it’s the loss of a village shop or the closure of a care home.  
The other benefits of this type of business is that it is relatively stable, so offers some protection 
against external economic shocks and is relatively evenly spread across Wales.    

 
The Strategy has a wide range of priorities from creating employment, promoting digital 
connectivity, increasing entrepreneurship and improving access to employment.  ‘A Foundation 
for Success’ identifies a series of actions that are required to deliver improvement and growth 
and this will form the basis of the Delivery Plan. The Strategy will be supported by a set of plans, 
one of which is the ‘Caerphilly Basin Master Plan’.  Along with aspects such as tourism and 
transport Caerphilly has the potential to be a key metro hub due to its central location in the 
region and the Master Plan sets out how this opportunity can be carried out.   The area of 
Caerphilly and Ystrad Mynach has been identified as a Strategic Hub by the Welsh Government 
Valleys Task Force as an area where public money can be focused to provide opportunities for 
the private sector to invest and create new jobs.  The Strategy provides the opportunity for the 
Council to coordinate its own activities but equally important is that it involves a multi agency 
approach and a commitment from partners to coordinate activity in order to achieve cost 
effectiveness, reduce duplication and maximise the benefits to the county borough. 

 
Regional ‘Skills for the Future’ CCRCD project   
 
A significant growth in skills shortage vacancies is forecast in key sectors (for example 
manufacturing, financial and construction) and in digital skills in almost all sectors. Furthermore 
employer surveys have cited untapped recruitment potential in the private sector, particularly 
amongst small and medium term enterprises, (SME’s) and reasons are wide ranging. SME’s are 
particularly significant to the regional economy as they make up about 95% of companies and are 
the biggest creator of jobs but at this time many face skills gaps and are experiencing recruitment 
issues. Increasing the number of apprenticeships and graduates is perceived as a challenge. There 
is also a lack of awareness of what is on offer and as we noted in our Education Objective, there 
are less students studying in areas such as engineering and digital skills.  Surveys of SME’s 
showed 71% would be interested in hiring apprentices with some additional support.  
 

Page 45



30 
 

Evaluations from other parts of the country that carried out school engagement and support for 
SME apprenticeships (Leeds City Region) estimated the long –term economic value of each 
apprenticeship was 22 times the initial cost of implementing apprenticeships.  
Graduate migration patterns routinely show low pay as a factor that causes graduates to leave 
Wales and cite the lack of opportunity to get well paid jobs in the private sector, which is causing 
an over reliance on the public sector.  The ‘Skills for the Future’ project looks to pilot a range of 
activities (building on existing practice) to include: a business and skills brokerage service, school 
engagement, access to apprenticeship and graduate internships, plus additional support and 
incentives for SME’s, to increase the number and range of employment opportunities and greater 
alignment between the skills of the labour market and the skills needed by industry.   
 
The Growth and Competitiveness Commission made recommendations that the Learning Skills 
and Innovation Partnership known as LSkIP (of which we are a member) under the umbrella of 
the proposed Employment and Skills Board could look to co-ordinate the current funding streams 
to invest in skills that support people from all ages into work.  This is important because existing 
workforces need upskilling so workers of today are included in future proofing the economy.  The 
Bevan Foundation, Joseph Rowntree Foundation and Growth and Competitiveness Commission 
all note that a targeted approach to careers advice could also help reduce poverty – which costs 
the Cardiff Capital Region an estimated £2.2bn a year.  This presents an exciting opportunity to 
make wide sweeping changes for the quality of life for people living, studying and working in the 
region. 

 

How we used the ‘5 ways of working’ to set this Well-being Objective?  
 
Involvement – Those that are involved in the achievement of this objective are many and 
diverse, from our WHQS contractors, to the Job Centre and the Department of Work and 
Pensions who refer people to us for our ‘triage service’ so we can find the best programme of 
help. We have an Education and Training Forum and a European Social Funding steering group 
that meets regularly to bring all the key partners together.  An area for development in achieving 
our objectives would be to enable greater involvement within the private sector to meet their 
needs in order to help people into sustainable jobs.   
 

Long Term - The objective is over 4-5 years but the benefits for upskilling and enabling people 
into sustainable and well paid jobs has a clear link to improving quality of life and lifting people 
out of poverty.  This begins with education such as literacy and numeracy and moves on through 
a range of experiences and skills to become work ready.  An area that presents a barrier to the 
long term planning is the life cycle of grant funding which is funded on a yearly basis. This means 
it can be unclear if the funding will be available after that time and often learning and training 
needs to take place over a longer period (2-3 years).  Changes to the period of government 
funding would enable better planning to take place to support this way of working.   
 

Collaborate – This objective cannot be achieved in isolation as it deals with the complexity of 
human nature, quality of life and wider economic determinants from a national and local level.  
The City Deal is a multi partnership programme which has a learning and skills sub group that  
aims to make sure the local current employment programmes connect to the wider needs which 
are recognised as ‘growth areas’ in business. In other words if there is growth in the economy, 
example in financial services, then the skills and training need to recognise and reflect this so 
they align.  Regeneration actions cannot be carried out in isolation, this objective is built on the 
principle of collaborating. 

Page 46



31 
 

 
Integration – In identifying this objective we have considered how this would support other 
organisations objectives and we found there is a significant benefit to other organisations 
objectives, such as the Job Centre and DWP whose purpose is to enable people into 
employment.  At a local level if there is more money going into the economy this supports local 
business. From a health perspective a satisfactory job and contribution to society have been 
shown to provide positive benefits in improving and sustaining good mental health which can 
reduce the need for mental health services.     
 
Prevention – The complexity of the problem we are trying to solve requires a long term and 
multi partnership approach, from helping young people in early years to education attainment 
and skills for adults such as digital skills, using our purchasing power and business contracts to 
promote apprenticeships, understanding the issues of planning at a town and county borough 
level to stimulate business growth, and to make sure we are joining up with relevant 
programmes like the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal.   
 
The potential Housing Investment Fund under the City Deal for example, looks at stimulating the 
SME sector by providing loan development funding and a Custom Build scheme to release 
smaller pots of public sector land.  This can safeguard and create new jobs by increasing the level 
of spend across the construction sector, it also makes connections by supporting SME’s through 
good quality housing and the ability to attract skilled workers so we connect what we do with 
what is needed to make the most of these transformative agendas.     

  

What steps will we take to achieve this Well-being Objective?  
 
There will be a detailed action plan to aid the delivery of this objective over the next 4-5 years.  
In the meantime below we highlight some of the main actions that we will take over this time:  

 

Outcomes    By When  
(2018-2023) 

1: Aim to reduce the impact of poverty by supporting people into better employment prospects 
2. Meet the targets of the European Social Fund programmes of getting people skilled and into 
work 

Develop the Communities for Work and Communities Work Plus programme to 
meet the targets of sustainable employment.  
 

2018-2019 

Develop the Delivery Plan for the Foundation for Success Strategy which will identify 
actions from small scale projects through to major complex programmes. 

2018-2023 

Develop (following consultation) the Caerphilly Basin Master Plan. 
 

2018-2023 

3: The Council will use the value of its third party spend to bring greater social and economic 
regeneration to the communities we serve 

Develop the Councils Programme for Procurement. 
 

2018 

Develop appropriate guidance to assist suppliers on how to identify social and 
economic benefits. 

2018/19 
 

Develop an effective mechanism to record social and economic regeneration. 
 

2019 

Page 47



32 
 

Outcomes    By When  
(2018-2023) 

4.Use investment in the housing stock to increase the number of skilled, qualified workers and 
tackle worklessness by providing apprenticeship, training and work placements with our            
in-house workforce and building contractors 

o Create apprenticeships and work placements in the Housing Repair Operations 
team linked to succession planning  and skill gap practices 

o Create apprenticeships, employment opportunities and work placements as 
part of the WHQS investment programme 

 

 
Annually 
recurring 
from 2017 
onwards 

5. Ensuring local delivery of work programmes aligns and maximises opportunities from the ‘City 
Deal’. 

To agree to the principle of  
a) Creation of regional Housing Investment Fund that will help to support work for 
the small and medium size building sector.  
b) Agree the principle of a Custom Build scheme, Plot Shop. 
Once principles are agreed full business cases and governance arrangements would 
then be implemented.  

2018-19 

To agree as part of the CCRCD partnership the allocation of development funding to 
pilot a range of proposals for the ‘Skills for Future’ fund.  

2018 

 
Why we consider that our Well-being Objective will maximise our contribution to the 
National Well-being goals 

 
A Prosperous Wales develops a skilled and well educated population. We need our young people 
and adults to have greater vocational or non vocational skills in order to have better paid jobs 
and job satisfaction that contribute to the community leading to a better quality of life.  This 
connects to our objective on transport and accessibility. An important part of employment is 
good transport infrastructure and links to provide easier access to well paid and sustainable jobs. 
This work is about helping all young people (and adults) reach their potential and so underpins a 
more Equal and Healthier Wales. Employment both locally and as part of the regional plans 
through a wide range of support maximises contribution towards a Globally Responsible Wales 

 
Success in this goal is fundamental to supporting a range of other public bodies, for example the 
Department of Work and Pensions has five objectives, two of which are to:  
1. Support economic growth and improved productivity by ensuring work always pays and 
people are supported to find and progress in work 
2. Help reduce the disadvantages faced by disabled people and people with health conditions 
through the welfare system and labour market.   
This is aligned with our own Regeneration Strategy and the goals of the City Deal.    

 

How we will resource this Well-being Objective; 
 

 The Adult Education European Social Fund grant is currently £755,058 to April 2019 and 
match funded with Welsh Government direct grant to improve NEETS. 

 European Social Fund grant, currently £344,216 to April 2020. Match funded with Welsh 
Government direct grant to upskill low skilled and paid workforce throughout Caerphilly. 

Page 48



33 
 

 Communities for Work (ESF), £1,298.672, funding has been extended to March 2023 
Communities for Work Plus, currently £856,754 to April 2018-2019 has now been 
extended to March 2020 with a funding extension of £733,873. (Total Grand 2018-2020 
of £1,556,289).  

 The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal is a £1.2 billion programme which has a range of 
allocations towards the various potential projects.  The Skills for the Future project has a 
provisional development allocation of £2,247, 882 if agreed in principle.  

 

When will the objective be completed? 
 
This objective will be ongoing as part of a whole county borough partnership approach. Many of 
the wider regeneration actions are based on projects that are judged at this time by completion 
of milestones and the effectiveness of them will need to be evaluated. However we will consider 
success when:  
 

 We have virtually all pupils in education, employment or training.  

 Employability targets (as given for the Bridges2 work and Inspire programme in the 
Education Objective are met or exceeded).  

 Employability targets for the Communities for Work programme are met or exceeded 
    

Linked to 
Outcome 

Evidence 

1&2 Priority 1 (Adults aged 25+) 
Target 2018/19 Engagements 240, Job Entries 24   

1&2  Priority 1 (Adults aged 25+) 
Target for 2019/2020 Engagements 240, Job Entries 48  
 

1&2 Priority 3 (Young People/NEETS aged 16-24) 
Target 2018/2019 Engagements 96, Job Entries 96 
 

 Priority 3 (Young People/NEETS aged 16-24) 
Target 2019/2020 Engagements 48, Job Entries 48  
 

1&2 Employability aims for the new Communities for Work Plus programme are met or 
exceeded (actual targets are not yet confirmed) 

3 We will develop new Performance Measures as part of our developing ‘Programme 
for Procurement’  

4 The number of apprenticeships, work placements and employment opportunities 
provided  

4 WHQS - The number of apprenticeships, work placements and employment 
opportunities provided  

5 The Supporting People programme has 11 outcome measures one of which relates to 
people being engaged in employment or voluntary work – these are reported twice a 
year to Welsh Government 

 
For context we will also review the National indicators for Wales below as part of this overall 
objective 
 

Page 49



34 
 

   

General Well-being Indicators-  
  

 Source of Data 

Percentage of people in employment. Annual Population 
Survey 

Percentage of people in education, employment or training, measured for 
different age groups  

Welsh Government 
Measures of 
Participation 

Percentage of people living in households in material deprivation. National Survey of 
Wales  

Percentage of people living in households in income poverty relative to the 
UK median, measured for children, working age and those of pension age. 
 

DWP 

  
 

Other relevant information 
 
A ‘Valleys Taskforce’ was set up by the Welsh Government to look at how investment in the 
Valleys will be delivered over the next five years.  In particular the Taskforce will address 
uncertainties around investment funding, such as that previously received from the EU. The 
Taskforce will work closely with the Cardiff Capital Region to harness the potential of new 
initiatives such as the Metro, and to enhance the valleys’ unique and diverse landscape as a 
tourism destination.  
 
The main priorities for the Valleys Taskforce will be: eradicating poverty and, creating work and 
improving quality of life. Looking to the future the Taskforce will seek to create a sense of 
aspiration, vibrancy, and confidence in the future. 

 
As such a high level plan has been set up ‘Our Valleys, Our Future’, which is supported by £100 
million of Welsh Government investment over 10 years.  The Valleys Task Force Vision is to close 
the employment gap between the South Wales Valleys and the rest of Wales by helping an 
additional 7,000 people into work.     
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



35 
 

  3. Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes 
throughout the county borough and provide advice, assistance or support to help 
improve people’s well-being. 
 

Outcomes  

   

1a) All council housing is improved to meet the Welsh Housing Quality Standard 
by 2020. 1b) Implement an asset management strategy to maintain the 
condition of the housing stock following WHQS attainment (December 2020). 
1b)  
 
2.  Increase the provision of new, affordable, social housing that meet the 
‘Lifetime Homes’ principles and identified needs, whilst supporting the 
governments’ innovative housing programme. 
 
3.  Deliver adaptations to support the health and well-being of people in their 
homes and maximise the delivery and appropriate use of accessible homes. 
 
4. Increase the supply of housing by supporting opportunities to bring long-
term, empty homes in the private sector back into use.  
 
5. Tackle the determinants of poor health and wellbeing by improving housing 

conditions in the private sector. 
 
6. Prevent homelessness and tackle rough sleeping. 
 
7.  Sustaining tenancies by providing a range of housing related services. 
 
8. Help reduce fuel poverty by making homes more energy efficient and 
providing people with advice on how best to heat their homes. 

 
        

        

       

  

 

 

 

 

Page 51



36 
 

3. Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes throughout the 
county borough and provide advice, assistance or support to help improve people’s 
Well-being 
 

Well-being Statement  
 
All statistical information in this paragraph has been accessed from Info Base Cymru and relates 
to Caerphilly county borough, unless specified otherwise.  There are 78,714 dwellings in the 
county borough (Mar 2016) –  13.8% local authority, 4.9% housing association 71.1% owner-
occupied and 10.3% privately rented.  36% of housing is terraced, which is above the all Wales 
average.  Average house prices have increased by £9,506 since September 2016 to £130,651 in 
September 2017.  The average weekly gross pay for full time workers is £488.80, below the all 
Wales average of £505.90. The percentage of working age people who are benefit claimants is 
17.3%, higher than the all Wales average of 14.4%.  Life expectancy for males (77.8) and females 
(81.2) is below the all Wales average (males 78.4 and females 82.3).  In 2016, there were 10.0 
deaths per 1,000 residents, compared with 10.6 for Wales.  The percentage of adults reported in 
the Welsh Health Survey as being currently treated for a mental illness was 16%, compared to 
13% for Wales. 
The issues we are trying to address through this objective are complex and multifaceted and 
cannot be addressed through one single action.  In this next section we outline, in turn, why we 
have chosen each outcome to realise the objective: 
 
1. All council housing is improved to meet the Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) by 

2020 & 1b) Implement an asset management strategy to maintain the condition of the 

housing stock following WHQS attainment (December 2020). 

Research has consistently demonstrated a strong link between housing, health and well-being.  
Investment in the housing stock will allow the council to contribute to the health and well-being 
of the tenants, whilst fulfilling its statutory requirements.  The council has a housing stock of 
10,805 properties comprising approximately 13,000 tenants and is investing approximately 
£220m in bringing all homes up to the Welsh Housing Quality Standard by 2020.  The investment 
in the stock will contribute to our aim of improving homes, lives and communities. 
 
2. Increase the provision of new, affordable, social housing to meet identified needs whilst 
also supporting the government’s innovative housing programme 
 
Our most recent assessment of the housing market (2015) showed a requirement for affordable 
housing in the county borough by property type and size and area.  It showed that by far the 
largest requirement was for general needs, single person accommodation.  Over 5,000 
households are currently on the common housing register waiting to be rehoused.  The overall 
demand for affordable housing currently outstrips supply.  Funding from Welsh Government 
allows us to partially address identified needs, in partnership with the housing associations, 
through the housing development programme. Welsh Government has acknowledged the need 
to increase the number of affordable homes built in Wales to meet housing needs and has a 
target of 20,000 over its term of office.  It has ring-fenced funding under the innovative housing 
programme to develop homes for the future that are cheaper to heat, more environmentally 
friendly and capable of responding to demographic change.   
 

Page 52



37 
 

The funding allows house builders, housing associations and local authorities to explore new 
ways of working to build homes more quickly and more sustainable.  To date, two housing 
associations have received innovative housing funding to develop one scheme each in the county 
borough. Welsh Government have also made funding available under the Shared Ownership / 
Rent to Own model as well as Health and Housing model, designed to address the needs of older 
persons, children with complex needs, carers, persons with learning difficulties and dementia. 
 
Lifetime Homes is a set of standards that are required by Welsh Government when homes are 
built.  They are designed within the principles of inclusivity, accessibility, adaptability, 
sustainability and good value. This means for example wider doorways, sockets at wheel chair 
height and particular attention to the way movement would circulate in hallways and stairs.  It is 
based on a principle of ‘cradle to grave’ so homes can adapt to accommodate changing needs 
which means people do not have to be moved when life changes occur.  

 
In the longer term the Cardiff Capital Region Joint Cabinet (CCRJC) are looking at agreeing a set 
of principles for a potential ‘Regional Housing Investment Fund’.  The CCRJC recognise that 
across the region we need more homes to be built and that finance can be a barrier particularly 
for small and medium term builders.  A flexible fund could support builders ranging from housing 
sites that may have stalled, to funding development of brownfield sites as this could help make 
builds more viable.   
 
If the principles of a ‘flexible fund are agreed, the CCRJC would explore working with Welsh 
Government and the Development Bank for Wales for ways to progress a ‘Housing Investment 
Fund’.  As a new idea and a long term aspiration this could come to fruition out of the time 
frames of this plan, however in adopting a greater forward thinking approach we recognise the 
power of this regional approach in supporting achievement of this outcome.  

       
3. Deliver adaptations to support the health and well-being of people in their homes and 
maximise the delivery and appropriate use of accessible homes 
 
Adaptations are provided to enable a disabled person to live safely and independently in their 
own home.  A suitable home also promotes good health and well-being.  Providing adaptations 
can reduce costs associated with social and health care.  Meeting the needs of disabled people 
complies with the council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010.  Welsh Government estimates 
show that for every £1 spent on housing adaptations a £7.50 saving is created for health and 
social services.  There is a lack of suitable housing in the county borough to meet the needs of 
disabled people and, as a result, disabled people may live in unsuitable accommodation.   
 
Accessible housing contributes to the health and well-being of the disabled person and their 
carers and promotes independence.  It also can reduce costs associated with social care for 
example through timely housing adaptation which can reduce admissions to residential care.   
Accessible housing is not only being created within new housing developments, but also as a 
result of significant investment in adaptations to existing properties  across all tenures to ensure 
that these properties are best used for those in need. 

 
4. Increase the supply of housing by supporting opportunities to bring long-term, empty homes 
in the private sector back into use 
 

Page 53



38 
 

There are over 900 privately owned properties in the county borough that, for a variety of 
reasons, have been empty for longer than 6 months.  Whilst a healthy functioning housing 
market will include a proportion of vacant dwellings, empty properties are a wasted resource for 
both the owner and households seeking housing.  If left vacant and unmaintained the physical 
condition can deteriorate and the property may become a nuisance for people living in the 
locality.  Returning long-term empty properties into use can increase the supply of housing and 
lift the visual appearance of an area. Welsh Government has a target of returning 5,000 long-
term empty properties in the private sector back into beneficial use during its current term in 
office. 

 

5. Tackle the determinants of poor health and wellbeing by improving housing 
conditions in the private sector. 

Nearly 70% of all housing in the county borough is owner-occupied and the size of the private 
rented sector in the county borough has doubled between the last two Censuses (from 4.3% to 
10.7%).  The sector provides homes for many people and is predicted to grow larger than the 
social rented sector by 2020.  The condition of housing and the quality of management in the 
sector varies considerably, something which is being addressed by the introduction of new 
legislation, Rent Smart Wales and the council’s statutory enforcement function.  The 
development of a vibrant private rented sector provides options to meet people’s housing needs 
and contributes towards the successful delivery of council’s homelessness prevention function.  
Good quality housing also contributes to good health and Well-being.  The type and quality of 
the housing in the sector varies from traditional terraced housing to new private developments.  
Many households do not have sufficient income to maintain their home when it falls into 
disrepair and could be living in conditions, which are detrimental to their safety, health and well-
being.  Housing in disrepair can also have a negative visual and anti-social impact on 
communities in which they are situated. Various support measures are required to provide 
owners with affordable options for improving their properties.  
 
6. Prevent homelessness and tackle rough sleeping 
 
Homelessness is detrimental to both physical and mental health.  Being homeless can increase a 
person’s chances of taking drugs or experiencing physical or mental health problems.  The law on 
homelessness changed in April 2015 requiring local authorities to adopt a more preventative 
approach.   Since this change the number of people in the county borough requiring assistance 
with their homelessness situation or known to be sleeping rough has increased, despite the 
additional services we have put in place.  Relieving homelessness and the need to sleep rough 
will reduce costs to the council, the criminal justice system and the health service.  
 
7.  Sustaining tenancies by providing a range of housing related services. 

Research has shown that the incidence of poor mental health is higher for social housing tenants 
than homeowners.  Social landlords in the county borough have noted an increasing number of 
new tenants with a mental health condition requiring support to maintain their tenancy.  
Providing housing related support can help promote health and well-being, and prevent the 
tenancy from failing, which could result in homelessness or admission to hospital.  This could 
reduce costs associated with void properties, homelessness, social care and health. 
 
The Welfare Reform Act 2012 brought about wholesale reform of the benefits system.  Reforms 
include capping the amount of benefits households may receive, the so-called ‘bedroom tax’ 

Page 54



39 
 

affecting social housing tenants and Universal Credit, which combines several benefits into one 
payment, paid monthly.  The effects of the reform have been that many households have had 
their income reduced and may be struggling to pay their bills, eat healthily or adequately heat 
their homes.  A very high percentage of council housing tenants are benefit dependent and have 
been affected by the changes.  Providing support to tenants to mitigate the impact by helping to 
maximise income and budget effectively will help to sustain tenancies and contribute to the 
health and well-being of those affected by the reforms. The Supporting People programme 
currently supports approx. 5000 people to help them remain independent and in their own 
home with support on a range of areas such as budgeting, maximising income, access to services 
and finding work.  
 
8. Help reduce fuel poverty by making homes more energy efficient and providing people with 
advice on how best to heat their homes 
 
Fuel poverty affects people on low incomes who are unable to adequately afford to heat their 
homes.  People in fuel poverty will be more susceptible to poor health and well-being.  Rising 
energy costs mean that more people will be at risk of fuel poverty.  Many households in the 
county borough are on low incomes and may be struggling to adequately heat their homes.  
Providing advice to people on how best to heat their homes, making homes more energy 
efficient, including the development of new energy efficient homes, and the use of new 
technologies can help to reduce the overall level of fuel poverty in the county borough. 
 

How we used the ‘5 ways of working’ to set this Well-being objective  
 
Involvement – Given that a range of outcomes make up this objective, it is likely that there will 
be different groups associated with different outcomes.  In order to ensure the outcomes are 
successful we will involve a wide range of people including homeowners, private rented sector 
and council tenants, tenants and residents associations, Caerphilly Homes Task Group, private 
sector landlords, public sector bodies, housing associations and third sector organisations. The 
Supporting People programme commissions over 36 providers (such as Gofal, Homestart and 
Llamau) and runs approximately 86 projects and schemes. This involves many partners in helping 
people with a wide range of needs. 
 
Collaborate – In order to facilitate successful outcomes, we will collaborate with a range of 
different organisations and people.  These include Welsh Government, Rent Smart Wales, 
internally with other departments, regionally with other local authorities, building contractors, 
housing associations, third sector organisations, local churches, private sector landlords, empty 
property owners and Credit Unions.  We acknowledge that the constraint on public sector 
finances means that this is an area we will want to do more of to share resources and achieve 
joint outcomes. For example we commission the Citizens Advice Bureau to help people to 
become ‘confident with cash’ which support the long term for their quality of life and 
acknowledges the early prevention element of managing debt.  
 
Long term – Housing is a long-term social need and therefore, the housing and services we 
provide are set within this context.  The outcomes we are attempting to achieve in the short to 
medium term will ensure that housing is sustainable (cost, quantity, quality, condition and 
suitability) for people to occupy over the longer term, whilst minimising the effects on the 
environment and contributing to the health and well-being of our communities. Support for 

Page 55



40 
 

longer term solutions may be in part come from the City Deal and in particular the potential 
‘Housing Investment Fund’.  
 
Integration – Given that the provision of good quality housing is central to the good health and 
Well-being of the population, it is likely that this objective will impact on the successful outcome 
of other bodies’ objectives.  The provision of good quality housing is, therefore, likely to have a 
positive impact on the budgets and priorities of other public bodies such as the local health 
board.  
 
Prevention – Preventing people from becoming homeless by providing access to good quality 
accommodation and related services, creating communities that are sustainable and resilient, all 
impact positively on health and well-being.  The part of the objective that concentrates on 
improving homes (WHQS) will also help to tackle local unemployment and is detailed in our 
Employment Objective.  Lifetime Homes takes a ‘cradle to grave’ look at design of homes so is 
‘prevention in action’. 
 
The aim of improving lives and communities with an improved look and feel of the environment 
can help to prevent anti-social behaviour when people have pride in where they live.  The 
provision of specialist accommodation and adaptations for disabled people links closely to 
Health Services prevention agenda by reducing the need for hospital admissions / residential 
care placements.  
 
We run a Welsh Government funded ‘Supporting People’ programme which was introduced in 
2003. This service supports everyone to prevent homelessness and provides a wide range of 
housing related support for anyone who is homeless or potentially homeless.  Every service that 
is offered is based on the principle of prevention, from money advice to helping complete 
benefit forms, to providing support for women fleeing domestic violence to name just a few.  .  

 
What steps will we take to achieve this Well-being Objective?  

 

Outcomes  By When 

1a.  All council housing is improved to meet the WHQS by 2020 
1b. Implement an asset management strategy to maintain the condition of the  housing stock 
following WHQS attainment (December 2020.) 

Develop a WHQS housing strategy. 2018 

 Deliver the annual capital investment programme for both internal and external 
works. 

 Ensure compliance with Charter for Trust standards. 

 Comply with Part 6 of the WHQS by undertaking environmental improvements to 
make communities attractive and safe and Part 7 by undertaking adaptations 
where a need is identified. 

 1b - Agree a planned maintenance programme to ensure the WHQ Standard is 
maintained for the future post 2020. 
 

Annually 
recurring 
to 2020 
 
 
 
 
Post 2020 

2. Increase the provision of new, affordable, social housing that meet the ‘Lifetime Homes’ 
principles and identified needs, whilst supporting the governments’ innovative housing 
programme. 
  

Page 56



41 
 

Produce a Housing Strategy which provides a framework for the provision of housing 
and related support.  

2018/19 

 
Complete the Local Housing Market Assessment which will identify the number, type 
and location of homes required and will help look at solutions. 

2017/18 
then 
every 2 
years 

Produce and submit quarterly to Welsh Government the programme delivery plan, 
based on the evidence of housing need. 
 

Every 
Year 

Obtain a decision by the Council in support of the development of new affordable 
homes.  

2018 

Review designation of council accommodation for smaller households in light of 
changing demands. 

2018/19 

Housing associations to complete bid for innovative housing programme Phase 1 and 
submit planning applications. 

2018 

Housing associations complete bid for innovative housing programme Phase 2 
To submit planning application, Development to start on site - Phase 1. 

2018/19 

Start on site for innovative housing programme – Phase 2: 
o Develop 38 units to Passivhaus standard at the former Caerphilly Magistrate’s 

Court (Linc Cymru) 
o Develop 17 units to Passivhaus standard at the former Cwm Ifor primary 

school (United Welsh) 

2021/22 

Complete an evaluation of the Passivhaus and Beattie Passive schemes. 
2021/22 

Complete Options Appraisal for remodelling 6 sheltered housing schemes that better 
meet the needs and aspirations of older people.  

 
2021/22 

3. Deliver adaptations to support the health and well‐being of people in their homes and 

maximise the delivery and appropriate use of accessible homes. 
 

 Provide appropriate minor works of adaptation across all tenures by expenditure 
of the available Social Services budget. 

 Provide appropriate major works of adaptation in public and private sector 
housing via the spending of available capital funding and Welsh Government 
ENABLE funding. 

 The provision of discretionary relocation grants in cases where the existing 
property is not suitable to adapt to meet the needs of the disabled resident. 

 Continued partnership working with Care and Repair enabling the elderly and 
infirm to receive additional assistance via a range of initiatives including the Rapid 
Response Adaptations Programme and Independent Living Grant.  

 Complete the ongoing categorisation exercise to identify accessibility levels of the 
social housing stock owned by the council and its partner landlords. 

 Develop enhancements to the common housing register in relation to the medical 
coding of properties available for social rent via both our own stock and that 
belonging to our partner landlords. 

 Improve accessibility of current stock that lends itself to meeting demand for 
accessible housing.  

2018 -  
2023  

Page 57



42 
 

 Work with housing association partners and the occupational therapist (housing) 
to deliver accessible housing. 

 

4. Increase the supply of housing by supporting opportunities to bring long‐term, empty homes 
in the private sector back into use. 

 

 Providing assistance to support bringing long-term empty homes in the private 
sector back into beneficial use including use of loans. 

 Engagement and enforcement action against owners of long-term empty homes in 
the private sector, where appropriate, in order to return them into beneficial use. 

 Targeting the owners of empty properties with ad hoc initiatives such as letter 
drops and private sector leasing. 

 

 
As and 
when 
need 
arises 

 
 
 

5. Tackle the determinants of poor health and wellbeing by improving housing conditions in the 
private sector. 

 Provide assistance to and raise awareness of private sector landlords as to the 
availability of assistance, via the Arbed scheme and other grant funded energy 
initiatives.  

 To install external wall insulation and associated measures, boiler replacement 
and loft insulation if required.   

 Administering assistance to home owners via loans and grant aid. 

 Working in partnership with credit unions to ensure loans for homeowners are 
affordable. 

2018/19 

 Administering financial assistance to landlords via loans and conversion grants. 

 Enforcement of housing legislation to ensure minimum standards are met in the 
private rented sector both in properties in single and multiple occupations, 
including repair, prohibition and demolition, where appropriate. 

 Working in partnership with Rent Smart Wales to drive up standards in the 
private rented sector. 

Annually 
recurring 

6. Prevent homelessness and tackle rough sleeping  

Work in partnership with local authorities in the region to produce a Regional 
Homelessness Strategy and local action plan. 

2018/19 

Pilot a shared housing project for single people under 35 and evaluate its success. 2018/19 

Provide tenants with floating support to assist with tenancy sustainment.  Ongoing  

To undertake a Church’s night shelter project between (December to March) each 
year to help tackle rough sleeping and work as part of the ‘Housing First’ Regional 
Homelessness Strategy.   

2018-
2023 
 

Explore potential model of ‘Housing First’ to reduce the level of homelessness for 
people who are unable to maintain tenancies due to mental health, substance misuse 
or chaotic lifestyles.  

2018/19 

7.  Sustaining tenancies by providing a range of housing related services. 

Page 58



43 
 

Provide training for all frontline housing staff in mental health training and to support 
people sustaining their tenancies. 

2018/19 

As part of the review our housing management policies and procedures take into 
consideration of mental health issues. 

2018/19 

o Work with Disability Organisations to review signposting arrangements. 
o Work closely with the Supporting People Team to identify additional support 

services. 
o Coordinate advice offered to ensure that there is no duplication or gaps. 
o Review the information we provide on our website to ensure it is up-to-date. 
o Provide help to tenants to enable them to budget effectively, to claim the 

correct welfare benefits and to mitigate the consequences of welfare reforms. 
o Refer tenants in need of money and debt advice to the right agencies. 
o Provide advice to tenants on energy usage and other measures to help save 

money.  

Annually 
recurring 

Run the ‘Confident with Cash’ project (provided by Citizen’s Advice) to provide 
finance / debt management and welfare benefit to families who have disabilities or 
are part of ‘team around the family’ projects.  Run similar projects to support those 
families with housing related needs.  

2018-
2020 

Continue to commission specific agencies to assist those with benefit claims and 
appeals including Employment Support Allowance and Personal Independence 
Payment.  

2018-
2023 

8. Help reduce fuel poverty by making homes more energy efficient and providing people with 
advice on how best to heat their homes 

Submit bids to the Welsh Government under Arbed or other energy efficiency 
initiative funding to carry out energy efficiency improvements in the private and 
public sector.    

2017/18 

Provide advice to tenants on energy saving measures and energy usage and 
installations 

Upon 
request 

 

Why we consider that our Well-being Objective will maximise our contribution to the 
National Well-being goals 
 
This objective is wide ranging and multifaceted.  We know that the provision of good quality 
housing and related services has positive health and well-being outcomes, provides a safe and 
secure place to live, promotes vibrant and sustainable communities, provides employment and 
training opportunities and minimises the impact on the environment.   
 
Achievement of this objective supports education improvement because good homes and 
neighbourhood conditions can help young people to achieve. Reduced exposure to traffic, noise 
and air pollution and designing homes with minimum energy needs (water, fuel) contributes to a 
healthier Wales and one of cohesive communities.  Housing can be designed so people can be 
physically active in their homes and research shows there are links between housing issues and 
physical and mental well-being, particularly linked to poverty, which is recognised within the 
Welsh Government’s ‘Prosperity for All’ National Strategy 2017 as housing is one of the 
strategy’s priority areas.   We have identified that the successful accomplishment of this 
objective maximises contribution to all the 7 National Well-being Goals.  

Page 59



44 
 

 

How we will resource this Well-being Objective 
 

We will resource our actions using a range of different funding sources some of which are noted 
below: 

 

 WHQS investment programme using rent paid by our tenants, monies from Welsh 
Government (Major Repairs Allowance), prudential borrowing and any other income we 
may receive. 

 Providing apprenticeship places, employment opportunities and work placements using 
the Housing Revenue Account and WHQS funding. 

 Affordable housing development using Social Housing Grant funding from Welsh 
Government (capital and revenue) and private funding accessed by the housing 
associations. 

 Piloting the build of energy efficient, sustainable homes using Innovative Housing 
Programme funding bids from Welsh Government and private funding accessed by 
housing associations. 

 Providing adaptations using Welsh Government and Council funding (General Fund and 
Housing Revenue Account). 

 Improving conditions in the private rented and owner-occupied sectors using funding 
from Welsh Government and the Council (General Fund). 

 Supporting the return to use of long-term empty properties in the private rented sector 
using funding from Welsh Government and the Council (General Fund). 

 Preventing homelessness and tackling rough sleeping using transitional funding from 
Welsh Government and Council funding (General Fund). 

 Supporting People Programme is funded by Welsh Government grant £6,232,790 and 
provides support to tenants using funding from the Housing Revenue Account and the 
Supporting People programme. 

 Training will be provided to existing staff on safeguarding, mental health, energy efficiency 
and financial management 

 Support will be provided to residents by using existing staff including tenant liaison 
officers, tenant support officers, liaison officers and estate management officers.  

 Reducing fuel poverty by raising awareness of and using energy efficiency grant funding 
from Welsh Government, WHQS funding and external sources of funding, for example 
energy companies. 

 
There are a number of challenges, varying in size and complexity, which may affect the 
successful outcome of this objective.  For many of these challenges the Council has little or no 
influence over.   
 
The main challenges include national economic, welfare and housing policy frameworks (Welsh 
and UK Government), demographic changes, staff capacity to priorities existing tasks and take 
on new tasks, the requirement to satisfy the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan priorities 
and in-house expertise to make best use of exploring new and emerging technologies. 

 
 
 

Page 60



45 
 

When will the objective be completed? 
 
Developing sustainable housing and housing related services is an ongoing journey and, 
although, methods and government policy may change, the cause and effect on well-being 
within housing does not have an end date.  However, over the next 5 years we will have made 
significant progress when the following actions have been successfully completed: 
 

Objective Success  
 

Date  

We have completed the Local Housing Market Assessment (which will provide an 
evidence base for our Housing Strategy) going forward. 

2017/18 

We have a completed Housing and Regional Homeless strategy which we are 
delivering on.  

2018/19 

The WHQS investment programme for Caerphilly Homes is completed. 
 

2020/21 

We have completed the Local Housing Market Assessment (evidence base for 
Housing Strategy) which will complete with the Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment. 

 
2020/21 

We have completed a review of our common housing register to ensure it is 
effective. 

2018/19 

We have successfully worked in collaboration with our housing association 
partners to provide new affordable homes. 

2018-23 

We have provided a homelessness prevention service. 2018-23 

We have contributed to bringing long-term empty homes back into use. 2018-23 

Innovative Housing Programme phases 1 & 2 are completed. 2020/21 

All homes provided by social landlords have been categorised using the 
accessibility coding system. 

2019/20 

We have increased the supply of accessible homes  2018-2023 

We have provided adaptations to support tenants / residents to remain in their 
homes.  

Where 
required 

 
In addition to monitoring success of projects we will use the following performance indicators to 
measure how we are performing.  For some of the indicators we are unable to set targets as 
performance is linked to the demand or use of a service.   
 
We will regularly monitor performance to ensure that we stay on course to meet the desired 
outcomes;   
 

Linked to 
Outcome 

Evidence  

1 The percentage of tenants whose homes have been improved internally who are 
satisfied with completed WHQS works 

1 The percentage of tenants whose homes have been improved externally who are 
satisfied with completed WHQS works 

1 New No. of homes compliant with WHQS (fully, external and internal elements) 

2,7,8 11 Outcome measures from the Supporting People programme based on wider 
determinants of homelessness prevention. 

Page 61



46 
 

3 Increased number/size/type of new, affordable homes delivered through the housing 
associations or the Council, including how the home was delivered - e.g. via IHP etc. 

3 The number of homes delivered through the Innovative Housing Programme 

4 Increase the percentage of social housing stock that has an accessibility code 

4 Increased number of accessible, social homes provided. 

4 The number of adaptations provided (Enable, major and minor works) 

5&6 The number of grants/loans provided to improve housing in the private sector (e.g. 
Houses into Homes, Home Improvement loans, conversion grants, Home Repair 
grants and HMO loans) 

5 REWORD The percentage of long-term private sector empty homes brought back into 
beneficial use (that had been unoccupied for more than 6 months) due to direct 
action from CCBC  

6 REWORD Cases who have had homelessness prevented. (Section 66) 

 REWORD Cases who have had their risk of homelessness relieved by providing 
alternative accommodation. (Section 73) 

6 REWORD The number of people determined as unintentionally homeless, in priority 
need and eligible for assistance (Section 75) 

7 The number of mortgage rescue cases completed 

7 Number of tenants visited and provided with support and advice to help mitigate the 
effects of welfare reform 

7 Number of council tenants supported to access the benefits they are entitled to 

7&8 Value of financial savings (£) generated for council tenants as a direct result of 
support  

8 Number of council tenants visited and provided with advice regarding energy saving 
measures and energy use 

8 Number of council properties provided with energy efficiency measures as a result of 
external grant funding.  

 
For context we will also review the National indicators for Wales below as part of this overall 
objective 
 

   

General Well-being Indicators-    Source of Data 

Percentage of dwellings which are free from hazards Annual Housing Hazards and 
Licences data collection.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



47 
 

 

 4. Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system 
that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment 
 
  

Outcomes    

   
1. Work with the delivery of the South East Wales Metro, aiming 
for the Valley Lines Electrification programme as part of the 
delivery of the wider South East Wales Metro scheme. 
 
 

  2. Develop the CCBC Regeneration Strategy  and Delivery Plan 
with connectivity at its heart, promoting accessibility, the Metro 
and digital and Broadband improvements that support innovation 
and improves accessibility for all.  

   

  3. Promote the reinstatement of passenger services to the Nelson 
to Ystrad rail line under the Metro programme. 
 
 

  4. Promote the reinstatement of the Caerphilly to Newport rail 
line as part of the Metro programme. 
 
 
5. Promote a sustainable bus network that supports accessibility 

and connectivity both locally and regionally through a road 

network that encourages efficient bus operation. 

 

  6. Maximise transport connectivity within and between modes 

by integrating the delivery of the CCB Active Travel Plan with the 

Metro to improve bus, rail, walking and cycling provision to 

increase accessibility and add value to the Metro proposals. 

 

   

   

 

 

Page 63



48 
 

 

4.  Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system that 
increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimise the adverse impacts on 
the environment 
 

Well-being Statement    
 
“The current infrastructure is not coping. There’s too much traffic congestion. The infrastructure 
(roads, trains, shops) needs developing before new developments start” (Participant at the 
Viewpoint Panel event 11th July 2016) 
 
In 2015 there were 39,100 commuting trips outside of the county borough on a daily basis whilst 
there were 18,900 commuting trips into the county borough. Overall, there is net out-commute 
of 20,200 to jobs outside of the county borough, with the most popular destinations being 
Cardiff and Newport, whilst Rhondda Cynon Taff is the origin of the most  in-commuting trips, 
closely followed by Cardiff and Blaenau Gwent. This shows that whilst the strongest commuting 
flows are between the county borough and Cardiff, there is also significant commuting in the 
Cardiff Capital Region and across the Valleys.  Feedback, that came up on many occasions from 
community engagement events for both the Local Development Plan and the Local Well-being 
Assessment, was that there was a perception of limited public transport opportunities for 
moving from east to west within or outside the county borough, and therefore it is possible to 
assume that the majority of lateral journeys are undertaken by car. 
Travel distance to job and training opportunities is an important factor in determining access to 
employment. Barriers raised by our residents in relation to public transport availability and the 
associated costs could exacerbate the need to use the car as the primary means of travel for 
employment.   

 

The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal will provide the most important funding opportunity in 
South Wales’ history. City Deal aims to stimulate the local economy, and that of the wider South 
East Wales region, for current and future generations. The £1.2bn City Deal formally signed on 
15th March 2016 by the ten constituent local authorities, Welsh Government and the 
Westminster Government sets out the intention to deliver 25,000 new jobs levering in £4 billion 
of private sector investment across the region.  
 
The City Deal consists of a £500m loan from UK Government, with a similar contribution from 
the Welsh Government, and the remainder coming from the ten constituent local authorities in 
the region, including Caerphilly County Borough Council. The constituent local authorities have 
set up the Cardiff Capital Region Joint Cabinet, which will take the lead and will be the decision 
making body tasked with delivering the City Deal.   
 
The City Deal will provide local partners with the powers and the resources to unlock significant 
economic growth across the Cardiff Capital Region. It is a deal that builds on the region’s sectoral 
strengths, its high skill base and three successful universities. The City Deal provides an 
opportunity to continue tackling the area’s barriers to economic growth and its aims are:  

 Improving transport connectivity;  

 Increasing skill levels still further;  

 Supporting people into work;     

 Giving business the support they need to innovate and grow; 
 

Page 64



49 
 

 
In further detail this will include:  

 

 £1.2 billion investment in the Cardiff Capital Region’s infrastructure – a key priority 
for investment will be the delivery of the Metro, including the Valley Lines 
Electrification Programme.  

 Connecting the region – the Cardiff Capital Region has established a new non-
statutory Regional Transport Authority to coordinate transport planning and 
investment, in partnership with the Welsh Government.  

 Support for innovation and improving the digital network – to develop the 
capabilities in compound Semiconductor applications the UK Government will invest 
£50 million to establish a new Catapult Centre in Wales. The Cardiff Capital Region will 
also prioritise investment in research and development and provide support for high 
value innovative businesses.  

 Developing a skilled workforce and tackling unemployment – the Cardiff Capital 
Region Skills and Employment Board will be created (building on existing 
arrangements) to ensure skills and employment provision is responsive to the needs of 
local businesses and communities. The Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh 
Government will work with the Department for Work and Pensions to co-design the 
future employment support from 2017, for people with a health condition or disability 
and/or the long term unemployed.  

 Supporting enterprise and business growth – a Cardiff Capital Region Business 
Organisation will be established to ensure that there is a single voice for business to 
work with local authority leaders.  

 Housing development and regeneration – the Welsh Government and the Cardiff 
Capital Region commit to a new partnership approach to strategic planning. This will 
ensure the delivery of sustainable communities, through the use and re-use of 
property and sites.  

 

A key factor in achieving City Deal’s ambitious economic growth objectives is increasing 
accessibility and connectivity throughout the City Region, linking the population to 
employment opportunities. The largest proportion of the City Deal budget will be used to fund 
the Metro, the regional public transport proposals that aim to increase connectivity throughout 
the region and other parts of the country and to reduce journey times, particularly to Cardiff.   
 
At the time of publishing the Joint Cabinet of the City Region agreed to invest £40m of funding 
towards a new Cardiff Central railway station. As the electrification of the valley lines will see 
far more frequent train journeys up and down the valleys, the capacity of Cardiff Central 
station is crucial to the smooth running of the region and the capital city on a national basis.   
 
The vision of the Metro is 

“Metro is a new transport system that will transform the way we travel around the Cardiff 
Capital Region. It will provide faster, more frequent and joined-up services using trains, buses 
and light rail. Metro will bring benefits to passengers, link communities together and help 
transform the economy. It will have a positive social, economic and environmental effect. It will 
also shape our region’s identity.” 

 
The Metro seeks to deliver a minimum of 4 services per hour across the whole of the network 
through integration between trains, buses and, potentially, light rail. The Metro will integrate 

Page 65



50 
 

ticketing to provide a single ticket system and will link with the active transport network to 
increase connectivity to employment and other facilities and services 
 
We recognise the important role of the bus in achieving our aspirations for a reduced carbon 
footprint, improved local and regional accessibility and helping to reduce congestion. 
Congestion is one of the main barriers to the provision of efficient and reliable bus services and 
we need to address local congestion hotspots and work on a regional basis to reduce the 
impact that congestion has on key route corridors into key destinations to achieve faster, more 
direct bus services that offer a real alternative to travelling by car. The Council is taking a lead 
role in the installation and management of new generation ticket machines for smaller 
operators throughout Wales on behalf of the Welsh Government, which will provide smaller 
bus operators opportunities to support digital ticketing systems, contactless payment and real 
time information provision.  This will complement the recent investment in similar 
infrastructure made by the larger bus operators and provide the platform that will promote 
integrated ticketing and information systems.   

Journey time is an important factor in determining accessibility to employment by public 
transport. The concerns raised by our residents in relation to the provision and cost of public 
transport will only reinforce the use of the car as the primary mode for employment based 
trips. Caerphilly County Borough Council supports the Capital Region’s commitment to a low 
carbon future, which has a transport network and mobility culture that positively contributes to 
a thriving economy and the health and well-being of its citizens, and where sustainable travel is 
the option of choice.   
 
Good transport is crucial in improving access to job opportunities and enhancing general       
Well-being for local people. In order to deliver City Deal it is essential that the region is served 
by a fast and efficient transport system that can link its people to employment opportunities, 
and services and facilities throughout the region.  As a result, the Metro, the programme aimed 
at delivering this transport system, is included as part of the City Deal.  
 

An essential part of the delivery of the network is its expansion, using the re-instatement of 
former transport routes and the creation of new ones, to provide an expanded and connected 
transport infrastructure for the Region. We want to protect disused rail lines from any adverse 
development or incompatible uses to ensure their future use for transport purposes is not 
comprised for future generations. We are actively pursuing the reinstatement of passenger 
services on two former passenger lines, the Cwmbargoed rail line between Ystrad Mynach and 
Bedlinog and the Machen line between Caerphilly and Newport.  
 
The Cwmbargoed line, whilst operating as a freight line for the Ffos-Y-Fran mineral extraction 
works, remains as the last significant rail line within the county borough that does not have 
passenger services. The Cwmbargoed line links Nelson to Ystrad Mynach and the services on 
the Rhymney Valley line.  Reinstatement of this line for passenger services would facilitate 
movements to and from Nelson, particularly for the proposed employment uses at Ty Du. 
Whilst the line is identified in the Metro Phase 3, the reinstatement of this line is dependent 
upon the use of the line for freight as there is no appropriate provision for the passing of 
passenger and freight trains. 
 
The Machen line originally ran from the eastern side of Caerphilly, through Machen to Newport 
Station.  There were concerns regarding its reinstatement but, as part of its rail review in 2013 
SEWTA, the South-East Wales Transport Authority, undertook a desktop feasibility study for the 

Page 66



51 
 

line and found that it was possible for the line to be brought back for passenger services. The 
reinstatement of this line is critical as it would be the first line to link east to Newport, rather 
than south to Cardiff, and would open the transport network wider across the region.  
 
Our Active Travel Plan which addresses walking and cycling, is important in promoting healthier 
lifestyles and reducing the negative impacts of traffic upon our neighbourhoods and 
communities.  It is Welsh Government policy to seek to maximise the use of active travel for 
short distance trips and improvements to walking and cycling networks should increase local 
accessibility to facilitate this change.  
 
The Wales and Border rail franchise is due to be renewed in 2018 and is currently the subject of 
a bidding process for potential operators.  As well as being responsible for delivering the rail 
services set out in the franchise, the successful bidder will also be responsible for delivering the 
rail/light rail/tram elements of the Metro.  As a result the successful bidder for the franchise 
will have a significant input into the direction and nature of the Metro improvements. Key 
issues, such as whether the main element of the system will be rail or light rail/tram or even 
bus, are still to be determined and the necessary certainty for planning Metro improvements 
will not be possible until the successful bidder has been identified.  
 
At the relevant time within the process (as noted above) we will be promoting integrated train 
lines and ticketing.  The ability for customers to travel and pay for a ticket for their whole 
journey irrespective of different travel companies (such as bus and rail) would provide a 
seamless service for travellers and has worked well in other cities.   
 
The Capital Region suffers from increasing levels of congestion that adds significant costs onto 
the economy of the region and is one of the most significant barriers to efficient and reliable 
bus operation.  Further to this the public transport network is not fit for the purpose of 
connecting people to employment, health, recreation and leisure services throughout the 
region. City Deal and the key elements in addressing these issues, increasing connectivity and 
accessibility, particularly to employment opportunities, which itself is a key element in tackling 
social disadvantage. The provision of access to employment opportunities is, therefore, a 
fundamental element in improving the future prospects for the county borough residents  

 

How we used the ‘5 ways of working’ to set this Well-being objective? 
 
Involve - The delivery of a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system will involve the 
collaboration of a large number of bodies, including the 10 Capital-Region local authorities, 
both regionally and individually, the private and third sectors. Delivering a transport system 
that improves accessibility to employment and other services will require the involvement of a 
wide range of disciplines, from a wide range of bodies 
 
Collaborate - This is multi collaborative approach as noted above between public and private 
sector including the successful rail franchise and bus operators along with both Welsh and 
Westminster Governments.  Although this objective focuses on the Metro and transport it is in 
the wider sense about accessibility so we will be involved in the collaboration around the digital 
strategy as part of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, which is an exciting aim to become part 
of a world class digital connectivity which would support businesses, employment, schools at a 
regional and local level and has the potential to change the way we live and work. At a regional 
level a strategic ‘dark fibre network’ (DFN) which is an ‘untapped resource’ could be in part 

Page 67



52 
 

owned as a public asset.  To be able to become an ‘open city region’ commonly called the 
‘internet of things’ such as wearable technology and driverless cars would depend on the 
future development of the DFN.    

 

Long term - Transport improvements will continue for at least 10 years as the City Deal is set 
over a 10 year period and regional planning has a 20 year framework so the objective will be 
framed over the long term.  It may be 2-3 years before any actions are to take place but the 
long term benefits, if realised, will significantly affect travel, carbon emissions and employment 
opportunities. The Metro is envisaged as evolving and expanding transport system that will 
require continual investment and improvement beyond these periods to fully realise its 
objectives. 

 
Integrate - The Strategic Regional Strategy will look at how the whole region can benefit from a 
range of ‘joined up’ activity including how transport can help with economic growth and be 
part of wider planning of well-being benefits which will help the objectives of a wide range of 
public service bodies, such as Health Services.  Future internet network cabling could be 
installed by default on all public sector infrastructure projects including the Metro which would 
contribute to the Welsh Government’s aspirations to progress towards world class digital 
connectivity.   

 
Prevention - People have told us in our range of consultations that lack of accessible transport 
is a real barrier to employment opportunities. The provision of an affordable, efficient and  low 
carbon based transport system that seeks to minimise journey times and increase connectivity 
and accessibility will also help support residents in accessing better employment opportunities, 
contributing towards the City Deal objectives of economic growth.  

 
What steps will we take to achieve this objective? 

 

 By When  

Delivery of the South East Wales Metro, including the Valley Lines 
Electrification programme.  Delivery of the wider South East Wales 
Metro scheme 
 

Phase 1 – setting up 
completed 
Phase 2 – 2017-23 
Phase 3 – post 2023 

A new non statutory Regional Transport Authority will co-ordinate 
transport planning and investment, in partnership with the Welsh 
Government.  

1st board meeting held 
on 25/01/18. 

Place Making Project, building up ‘station hubs’ near metro (transport 
hubs) for connecting jobs to places.  This is a wider regional action. 

Transport for Wales 
2023 

At a local level Implement our vision for a new / high quality 
integrated transport hub that replaces the current bus and rail 
facilities    

2018-2023 

Sign off the Regional Transport Authority Strategic Business Plan.   Signed by March 2018 

Produce Integrated Network Maps for Active Travel routes. 
This is a 15-year plan for improving walking and cycling routes across 
the county borough  

Approval from Welsh 
Government in 2018 
Completed 
 

Page 68



53 
 

 By When  

Develop a CCBC Regeneration Strategy  to support connectivity of  
transport, Metro, digital and broadband services 

Summer 2018 

Protect the routes of former rail lines from development that could 
prejudice their future transport use and actively promote 
reinstatement of former passenger services, particularly on the 
Cwmbargoed and Newport-Caerphilly (Machen) rail lines through the 
Metro programme.  

Protection of routes is 
ongoing. 
Reinstatement possibly 
towards the end of the 
15yr programme. 

Improve and expand station facilities by providing improved Park & 
Ride, walking and cycling links to make train services more accessible.  
Reduce congestion and carbon emissions from existing and new rail 
station by increasing parking at Ystrad Mynach Station; significant 
new parking provision at the proposed Llanbradach Parkway Station 
on the Rhymney line and a new car park to complement the proposals 
for a new station at Crumlin on the Ebbw Valley line.   

Ongoing schemes 
determined by 
bid/funding availability 

Delivery of new ticket machine infrastructure based on GPS 
technology for the smaller bus operators in Wales.  Implementation 
throughout Wales planned during the first half of 2018.  Will provide  
a wider platform for real time, vehicle tracking and integrated ticket 
solutions (including contactless transactions) in future. 
 

2018 for installation of 
basic ticketing platform. 
Further development 
dependent on funding 

Develop and deliver a programme of bus priority corridors in 
partnership with the bus operators through measures that address 
the main congestion hotspots to improve reliability and reduce 
journey times 

Phase 1: 2017/18 list of 
priority corridors 
confirmed through 
CCRTA; Phase 2 – 2018 – 
2023 feasibility, design 
and delivery through 
CCRTA and Metro. 

 

 

 
Why we consider that our Well-being Objective will maximise our contribution to the 
National Well-being goals 

 
A Prosperous Wales and a more Resilient Wales is supported by this objective as it will generate 

employment opportunities within a low carbon environment. 

A more Equal Wales where everyone can get around and access employment or other 

opportunities will improve.  The Metro, supported by local active travel proposals, will increase 

accessibility and connectivity to vital destinations such as employment opportunities and other 

services and facilities, which will all contribute significantly to increasing prosperity through 

economic growth.  The Welsh Government in their ‘Prosperity for All’ national strategy have 

made skills and employability one of their priority areas, travel and access is an important way to 

enable the connection between jobs and people.  The Welsh Government is seeking to increase 

the number of shorter, more local trips, that are undertaken by walking and cycling (including 

the use of mobility scooters), termed active travel.  Active travel trips will include journeys to 

school, to work, to the shops or to local services such health or leisure centres. Increasing active 

travel will have the important additional benefits of promoting healthier lifestyles and reducing 

Page 69



54 
 

the negative impacts of traffic upon our neighbourhoods and communities. This contributes to a 

Healthier Wales, because the Metro programme will have a low carbon, fast and efficient 

transport system that increases accessibility and connectivity, linking people to employment 

opportunities and realised benefits of the City Deal maximises our contribution to a Globally 

Responsible Wales.  A Wales of Cohesive Communities would benefit as this objective will 

ensure better connected communities through integrated transport at a local and regional level.   

 

How we will resource this Well-being objective  

 
This City Deal reconfirms the continued shared ambition of both Government’s and the Cardiff 

Capital Region to deliver the first 2 phases of the wider Metro scheme. £325 million of the £1.2 

billion Investment Fund has already been committed to the delivery of this scheme (£125 million 

from the UK Government, £94 million from the Welsh Government and £106 million from the 

European Regional Development Fund).  

 
The delivery of further phases of the Metro scheme means that the Welsh Government will    

pre-allocate over £400m further funding from the Investment Fund for its delivery, with the 

necessary design work ongoing.  As part of this City Deal the Welsh Government commits to 

involving the Cardiff Capital Region in the co-design of the wider Metro scheme and in the 

procurement of a delivery organisation.  

 
Wider Investment Priorities - The remaining element of the Investment Fund will be used to take 

forward a wide range of projects and schemes that support economic growth across the Cardiff 

Capital Region. Decisions on the prioritisation of these schemes will be taken by the Cardiff 

Capital Region Cabinet. Schemes taken forward could include: further phases of the Metro; 

investment to unlock housing and employment sites; and development of research and 

innovation facilities.  Integrated ticketing for Caerphilly and Flintshire Council has been grant 

funded by Welsh Government. 

 
Local Authorities have produced an Integrated Network Map (INM) which is a statutory duty and 

provides an aspirational map that sets out Caerphilly CBC’s Active Travel proposals for the next 

15 years. The development and delivery of the routes shown on the INM will be dependent on 

the availability of funding for Active Travel schemes. 

 

When will this objective be completed?  
 
The City Deal programme is over a ten year period but the benefits if realised will be 

generational (25 years) or longer with a range of milestones along the way.  Most of the 

measures for this objective are project based and measured at this time on milestones. This 

means specific measures on the success of the objective will be developed as the programmes 

develop or linked to other measures in other objectives such as the ‘Enabling employment’ 

Objective.  

Page 70



55 
 

 

  
 
5. Creating a county borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in accordance 
with the Sustainable Development Principle within the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
  

Outcomes 
 

_____________________________________________________________________ 
 

1. Aim to reduce inequalities in health across the county borough 
 
2. Creating a place that supports a healthy lifestyle. 
  Including -  

 Contributing towards the Welsh Government target to 
reduce smoking prevalence rates to 16% by 2020  

 Reducing the overweight and obesity rates in children  
 Understand and address what helps to encourage people 

to become more physically active  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Healthy 
Spaces  

Outdoor 
recreation 
& Country 

Parks  

Parks and 
Play  

Education 
of healthy 

lifestyle  

Sports 
and 

Leisure  

Clean 
Places  

Page 71



56 
 

 
 

5. Creating a county borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in accordance 
with the Sustainable Development Principle within the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

Well-being Statement  
 
Our data shows that residents living in areas of higher deprivation have statistically higher 
levels of ill health and live more years in poor health compared to those who live in the least 
deprived areas.   
 
Life expectancy varies considerably according to where people live within the county borough. 
Data between 2005 and 2009 evidences the gap for healthy life expectancy, between those 
residents living in our most and least deprived communities, was 18.6 years for males and 16.2 
years for females. More recent data, between 2010 and 2014, shows that this gap has been 
reduced to 13 years for males and 14.6 years for females, but it remains significant.  
 
Unhealthy lifestyles arise, at least in part, due to the inequalities in the circumstances in which 
people are born, grow up, live and work. There is still much work to be done to reduce these 
inequalities. 
 
A significant amount of partnership working has taken place over recent years and has 
contributed towards this improvement in health inequalities. However it is important to note 
that there have been recent changes that have altered the operational focus of this work. This 
brings with it both challenges and opportunities i.e. changes to Communities First, Flying Start 
and continuing budget reductions, so we have to look at different ways to support improved 
health and influence where we can.   
 
An individual’s lifestyle behaviour can affect their risk of ill-health and premature death. 
Smoking is currently the largest single preventable cause of ill health and death in Wales. It 
directly contributes to health inequalities as nearly a third of residents in our most deprived 
areas smoke (29%) compared to 11% in our least deprived areas. 18% of adults in Caerphilly 
county borough report being a smoker (2016/17). This has reduced from 23% in 2010/11 and is 
slightly under the Welsh average of 19%, and mirrors the national downward trend.  
 
Obesity – By 2050 it is predicted that 60% of adult men and 50% of adult women will be obese 
and 25% of children under 16 will be obese. The percentage of adults who are overweight or 
obese within Caerphilly county borough was the highest in Gwent (63%) in 2014/15 and higher 
than the Wales average of 59% (2014/15). Rates of obesity in Gwent are rising faster than 
Wales as a whole. Health conditions associated with obesity include Type II diabetes, coronary 
heart disease, high blood pressure, stroke and cancers.  
 
Wider impacts include less contribution to family life and community; reduced employment 
opportunities; less income; reduced productivity and absenteeism; poor school performance 
and poor mental well-being.  Over a quarter (2014/15) 27% of children aged 4/5 in Caerphilly 
county borough are overweight or obese. This is higher than both the Gwent and Wales 
average and alarmingly higher than any English region.   

Page 72



57 
 

 
Obesity harms children in the short term, but as up to 80% of children go on to become obese 
adults, childhood obesity also harms life chances.  

 
Public Health Wales also found that overweight and obesity amongst 4-5 years olds increases 
as deprivation increases.  This means there is a strong economic case for investing in the early 
years of life as early years programmes are often less expensive than the services needed to 
address the physical, mental, behavioural and socio-economic consequences of poor early child 
development in addition to improving quality of life. Evidence shows that children with high 
levels of physical fitness have higher academic grades and those with lower levels of fitness 
have lower academic grades (source: Journal of Paediatrics) and that children need at least 1 
hour of physical activity a day. Studies by Public Health Wales (Nov 14) supported key findings 
that pupils with better health and well-being were more likely to achieve better academically 
and that a positive association exists between academic attainment and physical activity levels. 
The University of Strathclyde and Dundee’s (2012) research suggested that physical activity 
particularly benefited girls' performance in science and that children who carried out regular 
exercise, not only did better academically at 11 but also at 13 and in their exams at 16. 
 
Building on this we introduced an initiative called ‘The Daily Mile’ with one simple aim - to help 
children get fit by walking or running for 15 minutes a day.  This will improve the physical, 
emotional and social health and well-being of our children regardless of age of personal 
circumstances.  It encourages children to be more active and helps them understand the 
benefits of physical and mental health and well-being and is gaining momentum across our 
schools and the Gwent region. 
 
We have a statutory duty to produce a ‘Play Sufficiency Assessment’ every 3 years for the 
county borough in recognition of the value of play and open spaces in relation to health and            
well- being. We use a toolkit and map the types of places we have against recognised standards 
in a range of areas such as places of supervised and unsupervised play and how we and our 
partners aim to offer play opportunities that are inclusive and encourage all children to play 
and meet together.  The assessment includes recognition of play in open spaces and we have 
developed our own open space standards in accordance with the advice and requirements of 
planning regulations.   
 
Other wider factors like travel to parks and costs are considered in assessing play and exercise. 
We can evidence strengths from completing this toolkit collaboratively and have identified 
actions to take such as the ‘Large Scale Change’ which is promoting physical activity in the 
Heads of the Valleys area for women aged 14–40.  This is supplemented by work ongoing on 
‘Active Gwent’. 
 
Overall, there has been year on year increases for participation and over half of all children 
have taken part in 5 x 60 minute activities at least once. Participation rates in extra-curricular 
Dragon Multi-skills, designed to offer 7-11 year olds fun and enjoyable sporting opportunities, 
are also increasing each year. There is a significant increase in clubs being run within primary 
schools and sporting communities to ensure there is a sporting pathway in place.  There has 
also been an increase in opportunities for children aged 3-6 years due to the physical literacy 
programme. This provides tots with sessions such as football, netball, rugby and cricket and 
involves the carers.  A free swimming initiative on a Friday at all leisure centres is currently 
running and participation rates have increased year on year.  We also offered free swimming 

Page 73



58 
 

during public swimming times for children participating in swimming lessons, and to meet 
demand, additional free swim structured sessions have been put on over the school holidays.   

 
The Welsh Network of Healthy School Schemes was launched in 1999 to encourage the 
development of local healthy school schemes.  The Welsh Government and Public Health Wales 
provided funding and guidance to help health and education services in partnership to set up 
and run local healthy school schemes in all 22 local authorities across Wales.  Since it was 
established in 2001 the Caerphilly Healthy Schools Scheme has grown rapidly and we now have 
all schools actively engaged.  Our aim is to support schools to develop a whole school approach 
to health through 7 key areas: 

 
• Food and Fitness 
• Mental and Emotional Health and Well-being 
• Personal Development and Relationships 
• Environment 
• Substance use and misuse 
• Safety 
• Hygiene 
 

Since 2010 schools have the chance to be awarded with a national final accreditation for 
outstanding practice with the Welsh Governments National Quality Award. We are working 
with our schools to achieve the award as this will show they have not only reached this 
standard but maintained it for 9 years or longer.  
 
The Caerphilly Healthy Early Years (HEY) Scheme was initiated in 2008 to further support early 
years and childcare settings to promote the health and well-being of the whole community, 
including children, parents/ carers, and staff members.  Since 2004, early years and childcare 
settings within the borough have been participating in the Caerphilly Gold Standard Healthy 
Snack Award scheme with the majority of settings successfully achieving the award, thus 
setting the scene for the introduction of the HEY scheme.   
 
The HEY scheme extends the work of ‘The Caerphilly Healthy Schools Scheme’ that forms part 
of the Welsh Assembly Government’s ‘Welsh Network of Healthy Schools Scheme’. Since all 
Primary and Secondary schools in Caerphilly are working towards becoming a healthy school, a 
focus on health related activities and policy in early years and childcare settings offers 
continuity for children as they move onto statutory education, as well as enhancing their 
development during their pre-school years.  The HEY scheme encompasses best practice to 
engage children and enabling healthy attitudes and behaviours to be developed at a young age 
and continued throughout later life. It links closely with the Obesity Prevention programme by 
encouraging parents to be more active with their children and by promoting the 10 Steps to a 
Healthy Lifestyle. 
 
The scheme trains in a range of activities such as ‘3 Sticky Fingers’ cooking sessions, Ffa La La 
(physical literacy and movement through the medium of Welsh), Brilliant Babies, Traumatic 
Situations and Mindfulness training, for Mindful Families.  We are also running a Fire Safety 
course and a fourth Internet Safety session.  All of this training is in addition to Busy Feet 
(exercise about Nutrition and Oral Health) and Design to Smile.  This is a successful scheme 
with a high number of our early years and child care providers taking part over ten years.   

Page 74



59 
 

We provide sporting opportunities for adults and young people with disabilities.  Working 
closely with Disability Sport Wales we provide access to Leisure Centres, community clubs, 
school holiday schemes and the InSport programme.  The Sport and Leisure Team were 
accredited with the InSport Ribbon Award, which recognises all that we do to create inclusive 
sporting opportunities for disabled people. Our school holiday programme provides young 
people with the opportunity to try new and exciting sporting activities delivered by our 
specialist coaches and volunteers.  The holiday programme can be tailored to that individual’s 
needs and requirements.   
 
In relation to physical activity, the percentage of adults in Caerphilly county borough who 
reported meeting exercise/physical activity guidelines in the previous week in 2014-15 was 
26%. This compares with a figure of 28% in Gwent and 31% for Wales as a whole.  The science 
on the benefits of physical activity is clear as to the profound benefits and effects it can have 
on health and wider moderate mental health and Well-being.   

 

Active Gwent is a regional collaboration across Gwent whose vision is to improve physical 
literacy, promote a positive future and tackle inequality in communities through sport. In a 
variety of ways the partnership is aiming to get 75% of people ‘hooked on sport’ by 2027 with 
the 2018 milestone target at 55%. The partnership has looked at priority sports that are 
common across the five local authorities that help to meet the underlying demand. Under the 
theme of ‘tackling inequalities’, children and young people from deprived communities and 
living in poverty are being supported through a social inclusion programme called ‘Positive 
Futures’ using sport to engage these young people.  In Caerphilly momentum has continued 
from 6,778 attendances in 2015/16 to over 9,000 attendances in 2017.    
Increasing girls and women’s participation is important for health and other benefits so in 2016 
the collaboration launched a ‘Lets Go Girls’ initiative which allows activity providers and 
females who are interested in taking part in activity to connect. There has been some success 
with helping mums with post natal depression with our ‘mams with prams’ initiative with 
others taking part in netball sessions. Within Caerphilly and within the region we will continue 
to focus on girls and women taking part in activity as tackling inequalities is one of our 
priorities.   
 
One of the ways we contribute to a healthier environment and promote our tourism facilities is 
the Caerphilly 10K run which is now in its sixth year and is set to return in 2018 on Sunday 20th 
May along with the Caerphilly 2k which is attractive for younger runners.  With 2,500 runners 
of all abilities expected to descend on Caerphilly from across the country to enjoy the event, we 
are looking to the 2018 event to be bigger and better. Set in the shadow of the spectacular 
Caerphilly Castle, the Bryn Meadows Caerphilly 10k gives runners both experienced and 
beginners, the opportunity to run on a relatively flat course with some undulating points 
against an historic backdrop.  Further details are at www.caerphilly10k.co.uk 
   

Using exercise to improve health The National Exercise Referral Scheme (NERS) is a Public 
Health Wales (PHW) funded scheme which has been in development since 2007. The Scheme 
targets clients aged 16 and over who have, or are at risk of developing, a chronic disease. The 
scheme is centrally coordinated by Welsh local Government Association and has secured 
funding until March 31st 2019. NERS is an evidence-based health intervention incorporating 
physical activity and behavioural change techniques to support referred clients to make 
lifestyle changes to improve their health and Well-being. The main aims of the Scheme which 
we run are: 

Page 75

http://www.caerphilly10k.co.uk/


60 
 

• To offer a high quality National Exercise Referral Scheme across Wales 
• To increase the long term adherence of clients to physical activity 
• To improve the physical and mental health of clients 
• To determine the effectiveness of the intervention in increasing clients’ activity levels and 
improving their health 
Currently we have between 1000 and 1200 people a year participating and our referrals are 
increasing as the scheme is helping to improve participants quality of life.  
 
Outdoors, Parks and Countryside  
 
It is important we understand a range of activities that contribute towards creating a place 
where people can enjoy a healthier lifestyle (rather than just focus on sport).  We also want to 
build on our strengths, for example we are fortunate in the amount of green space that is 
available and can be used to promote well-being.  Some 80% of the county borough is classed 
as rural and these areas contain a variety of landscapes including accessible uplands and 
significant water bodies, over 800km of public rights of way, five main country parks, a National 
Nature Reserve and a number of other areas and facilities that can be used as part of 
promoting healthier lifestyles.  
 
Caerphilly Adventures also use our great outdoors to work with young people and their families 
to improve family relations, parenting, confidence and self esteem though the medium of 
outdoor activities and pursuits. It also provides opportunities for adults and young people to 
take part in Outdoor Activities such as Hill Walking Canoeing, Rock Climbing Caving and Stand 
Up Paddle boarding by running a range of courses.  Caerphilly Adventures also provides training 
in hill walking and first aid to enable adults to leads groups in the outdoors safely. The Duke of 
Edinburgh’s Award delivers the well being objectives through its different sections: 
volunteering, physical activity, skills and expedition.  Caerphilly Adventures also supports CAG 
which is a network of volunteers that organises outdoor activities for its members. 
 
Various Welsh Government initiatives aim to promote the use of green infrastructure to meet 
the desired outcomes prescribed in the Well-being of Future Generations and Environment 
Acts. Under pinning these is the principle of the sustainable management of natural resources, 
being championed by Natural Resources Wales but applicable to and supported by ourselves. 
The ‘services’ provided by our natural resources do play a significant role in our health and 
have the capacity to be increased. An important initiative to promote this increase, through 
greater use of green infrastructure, is the development of a regional ‘Valleys Landscape Park’ 
which is being driven by Welsh Government but will be largely implemented through the 
actions of partner agencies.  We are developing a Green Infrastructure Strategy to support this. 

 
In 2015 we reviewed our Outdoor Recreation Provision looking at Equipped Play Provision; 
Sports Pitches; Allotments and our Green Spaces. From this we mapped what areas needed 
more facilities and what areas had enough.  Reviewing what we have means we can identify 
gaps in provision and this enables us to target those gaps when money becomes available from 
different funding streams.  Our review also looked at quality and accessibility and actions arose 
that we are still working on, for example sports pitches within the county borough have been 
affected by poor standards of drainage, which affects both the ability of the pitch during the 
playing season and the standard of the playing surface.  We have put in place a drainage 
programme to improve this.  Adventurous Outdoor Play, particularly to provide safe 
adventurous play areas suitable for young people to encourage use of outdoor spaces, was 

Page 76



61 
 

identified as one of the Youth Forum’s priorities for 2017 following a vote at their Annual 
Conference.  This is made up of young people from 11 to 25 years across the county borough.   
 
Part of creating a healthy environment includes our ‘Tree Strategy’ as we have approximately 
250,000 trees across the county borough and there are many benefits to well managed trees. 
They are an important public resource which produce oxygen, absorb carbon dioxide, absorb 
pollutants, provide home and shelter for food and wildlife and can provide buffer to noise 
pollution to name a few things, they are known to relieve stress of modern lives and provide 
share and shelter to mitigate effects.  

 
Keeping the environment clean  
 
We know from the Council’s household survey and Viewpoint Panel that cleanliness remains a 
concern within our communities and our objectives continue to keep the streets and public 
highways as clean and free from litter and graffiti as far as is reasonably practical.  In relation to 
physical activity many people prefer to walk their dogs, cycle or walk to work for example, and 
prefer use of the outdoor environment than attending leisure centres or taking part in a sport.  
An environment with litter, broken glass, fly tipping or dog fouling for example, can be a barrier 
that prevents people enjoying their regular outdoor space.  

Most of our street scene cleaning and enforcement activities (such as fining people who do not 
abide by the law) is very much business as usual, however we do carry out a range of initiatives 
such as our ‘Enough is Enough’ environmental awareness campaign, where we have 
implemented a series of new measures such as placing a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) 
in the park in Ystrad Mynach.  This PSPO aims to tackle irresponsible dog ownership and dog 
fouling through enhancing the council’s ability to take enforcement action.   

The Welsh Government introduced the Unauthorised Deposit of Waste Fixed Penalties (Wales) 
Regulations 2017 on the 25th October 2017 which gives Councils greater powers to fine ‘first 
time offenders’ in relation to fly tipping with a fixed penalty notice pre-empting the need to go 
to court in the first instance but fixed at an amount that is not an incentive to continue enviro 
crime behaviours.  We will use a range of performance measures around cleanliness and 
enforcement to make better connections with creating a space that supports a healthier 
lifestyle.       

Health and Well-being needs to be an integral part of our everyday life and as the largest 
employer in the county borough, we recognise that improving the health and well-being of our 
staff is in all of our interests. Small and often simple lifestyle changes can help prevent illnesses 
such as strokes, cancer, diabetes and heart disease. In light of this we have established a Health 
and Well-being group with the aim of providing employees with easy access to information 
regarding the improvement of their general health and well-being.   
 
As approximately 75% of our employees live in the county borough any lifestyle improvements 
that employees share with their families and friends will benefit our communities more widely.  
Preventing ill health across the population is generally more effective at reducing health 
inequalities than medical or clinical involvement and requires many partners to work together.  
Success in this area would lead to long-term savings by reducing the risk of health and social 
problems and improve education, training and employment prospects.   
 

Page 77



62 
 

The nationally recognised (Public Health Wales) five healthy lifestyle behaviours include – 
remaining smoke free, drinking alcohol sensibly, and maintaining a healthy body weight, 
regular physical activity and a balanced diet.  The above factors are best tackled in a 
partnership across many organisations in the public, voluntary and private sectors as no one 
agency can carry this alone.  
 
Indeed our Public Services Board are looking at how we can build in resilience across the course 
of a life to prevent poor quality of life through poor health and have set an action area in the 
draft Well-being Plan (published June 2018) for ‘Good Health and Well- being’.  Action areas 
will set delivery plans to take specific activities to improve this and we will fully contribute to 
this improvement area.      

 
How we used the 5 ways of working to set this Well-being Objective? 
 
Involvement – This objective could never be delivered in isolation and the individual and many 
partners have to be involved to improve individual quality of life. The main involvement needs 
to be with citizens using the principles of ‘co-production’ (which starts from the idea that no 
one group or person is more important than anyone else and everyone has skills, abilities and 
time to contribute).  Specifically we work with and involve a range of partners such as Public 
Health Wales, schools and parents (for initiatives like the Daily Mile initiative). The nature of 
preventing ill health requires the involvement of the individual as well as health services, GP’s, 
Health Visitors, the voluntary sector and local groups such as walking groups.  For example the 
‘Healthy Hearts’ Walking Initiative with the NHS, has 3000 participants in Caerphilly.  Another 
initiative is the South Eastern Caerphilly Landscape Partnership which involves developing the 
recreation potential of the south eastern Caerphilly urban fringe and countryside, an initiative 
being led by the communities and should have particular benefits to Lansbury Park, our most 
deprived area. 
 
Long term – The objective is framed in the long term from a generational life course to deal 
with the long term implications of poor health which affects the quality of life and the wider 
economy if we do not improve on the current position. This objective starts from pre-
pregnancy and 0-3 within the Flying Start programme through to healthy places for adults and 
children.  Opportunities for health improvements with the development of the Valleys 
Landscape Park is a long term generational commitment and will probably run for the next 25 
years. 
 
Collaborate – As noted under involvement we must collaborate to improve this aspect, there 
are too many partners to list here but staff from the Aneurin Bevan University Health Board, 
Public Health Wales, Sport Wales all carry out activities in partnership.  National Resource 
Wales (NRW) have a passion and willingness to allow the public use of their sites for outdoor 
recreation and  the South Wales Countryside Officers group collaborate to ensure both local 
and region initiatives are developed and implemented that promote benefits to health, 
particularly through the Sustainable Management of Natural Resources. 
 
Integration – Good Health underpins all the other Well-being objectives as without good health 
many other objectives such as maintaining sustainable employment, making the most of 
education and general quality of life opportunities is simply not possible. Success of this 
objective will meet the goals of the other organisations listed here as we all want the same 
outcomes. 

Page 78



63 
 

 
Prevention - This objective is in its totality is about preventing poor health and building more 
resilience in our citizens over the life course to enable a better quality of life. There are many 
contributions to this area that are not always instantly obvious, for example we have a capital 
programme to improve drainage on playing fields which will allow fixtures to be played during 
periods of bad weather, improved drainage will maximise the use of pitches and therefore 
prevent cancellations and for sports to continue. At the heart of people’s ability to work, learn 
and enjoy a good quality of life, good health and well-being is the starting point for all other 
opportunities. Demand on already stretched services such as social care, primary and 
secondary health care, can be reduced by supporting residents to have a healthy and 
independent life for as long as possible.   

 
What steps will we take to achieve this objective?  

 
There will be a detailed action plan developed for the next 4-5 years.  Below we detail some of 
the main actions that we will take over this time:  

 

Outcomes   
 

When  
(Time Frame) 

Outcome 1: Aim to reduce inequalities in Health 

Continue to increase the ‘Daily Mile’ programme in schools across the county 
borough. 

2018-2023 

Continuation of the Healthy Hearts programme in partnership with Aneurin Bevan 
Health Board.  

 

Run our health outreach (shared contract) service to deliver responsive feeding 
programmes and baby clubs as part of child development.  

2018-2021 

New – Run and increase the School Holiday Enrichment Programme (SHEP) in 
Summer 2019. The project provides food, nutrition, physical activity in the summer 
holidays helping areas that have a high number of children on free school meals.   

2018-2020 

Promote the Healthy Schools programme (a Welsh Government, Public Health and 
Education Programme) to provide specific actions to improve child health.  
 

2018/19 

Disability in Sport – providing sporting opportunities for individuals with disabilities. 
 

2018-2023 

Participation in ‘large scale change’ collaborative programme: Let’s Go Girls  
(Campaign to get more girls and women aged 14-40 more active, more often 
through different forms of engagement through physical activity). 

2018/19 

Supporting greater physical activity through continued delivery of targeted 
programmes on a local and regional basis such as ‘Positive Futures’, which is a sport 
based social inclusion programme that uses sport as a tool to engage young people 
in local community facilities, and through a referral process from a range of 
partnership agencies.  

Ongoing  
(2018-2023) 

Sporting Pathways – a targeted approach to helping clubs develop their playing, 
coaching and volunteer base. 

2018-2020 

Complete a Play Sufficiency Assessment to assess gaps in provision and identify 
improvement actions.  

March 2019 
 

Page 79



64 
 

Outcomes   
 

When  
(Time Frame) 

Outcome 2: Creating a place that supports a healthy lifestyle. 

Implement a county borough wide Sport and Leisure Strategy to establish a vision 
and specific actions. 

Summer 
2018 

Set up a Health and Well-being employee group to provide lifestyle improvements 
that can benefit the wider communities. 
 

2018/19 

Promote and run the Elite Caerphilly Scheme 2018  
(This aims to reduce the financial burden of training costs for talented athletes, 
many of whom aspire to represent both Wales and/or Great Britain in their 
respective sports on the international stage. 
 

2018-2023 

Promoting access and use of our parks and countryside (Rural Development 
Programmes), through cycling and walking and events such as the ‘Caerphilly 
Challenge’. 

Ongoing 
(2018-2023) 
 

By 2020 aim towards Welsh Government target to reduce the smoking rate to 16% 

 Trader education/awareness on 18 age limit for purchases of tobacco products, No Proof No 
Sale packs issued to traders which include guidance for traders, shop display items and 
information for employees. 

 Promote and facilitate take up of Proof of Age cards to young people 16 to 18 via schools and 
colleges. 

Delivering on our Tree Strategy Actions  
 

2018-2023 

 
Why we consider that our Well-being Objective will maximise our contribution to the 
National Well-being goals 
 

A Prosperous Wales – Research suggests that young people who are healthier are more likely 
to perform better at school and less likely to be unemployed, receiving benefits or involved in 
crime.  Any age of people who have their health have more potential for enjoying paid or 
unpaid work.  Good health and personal reliance will support residents, of all ages, to fully be 
part of the labour market and help contribute towards a prosperous county borough. Giving 
every child the best start in life will ensure that they have the support they need to reach their 
full educational potential, that they are able to secure rewarding and meaningful employment 
and that they becomes productive members of society. Our environment and green spaces can 
provide employment and other benefits such as inward investment and tourism.  
 
A Healthier Wales – Creating a supportive environment that enables our residents to manage 
their own physical, mental and well-being needs is an important part of ill health prevention. 
Demand on already stretched services can be reduced by supporting residents to have a 
healthy and independent life for as long as possible. Providing support to the child and family in 
the early years reduces the risk of the individual engaging in health harming behaviours and of 
developing diseases such as cancer, heart disease, diabetes and poor mental health. 
Communities with attractive public open space help residents to be more active and more 
engaged and support better mental and physical health.  
  

Page 80



65 
 

A More Equal Wales - All the Sporting programmes at their core are about ‘tackling 
inequalities’ whether that is to help women and girls back into exercise or sport, young people 
who need help or those who have disabilities and this supports greater inclusivity.  
Residents living in areas of deprivation are at greater risk of poor health. Supporting residents 
to adopt healthy behaviours will help them to take responsibility and manage their own 
physical health, mental health and well-being. Lifestyle choices are a key cause of health 
inequalities and can have a major impact on healthy life expectancy.  The need to reduce our 
health inequalities is unquestionable.  Every individual deserves the opportunity to fulfil their 
potential, regardless of their socio-economic characteristics, background or circumstances.     
 
A Resilient Wales – Improvement with regard to enviro crime as proposals to prevent fly 
tipping will contribute to a cleaner, safer environment by removing the likelihood of fly tipping 
and associated environmental issues. Supporting residents to have good health and ensuring 
our children have the best start in life will develop skill sets that enable residents to respond 
positively to the constantly changing world that we all live in and enable them and their 
families to be more resilient and adapt to change in the future. Regular participation in sport, 
for both children and adults, is associated with good mental health.  A network of healthy, 
green, well-functioning, well-connected and sustainable communities can deliver multiple 
benefits for environmental, social, economic and cultural well-being.   

 
Supporting residents to have the best start in life will help reduce youth offending, anti-social 
behaviour and other crime levels leading to safer communities within the county borough. 
Attractive country parks and opportunities to walk and cycle and allow all to experience places 
to enjoy activities is very much a part of providing ‘A Wales of Cohesive Communities’.  
 
Opportunities for taking part in community and sporting activities will help to reduce feelings of 
isolation and loneliness.  In the same way creating a county borough where people can 
participate in sport and recreation and where they feel healthy and empowered to be engaged 
citizens, all supports a Wales of Vibrant Culture; for example whilst the Caerphilly 10k run 
helps people partake in exercise within a supportive environment, it also encourages tourism 
as people come to visit the area. 

 

A Globally Responsible Wales – Enabling behaviour change towards a more preventative and 
sustainable approach will have a huge impact on the local and global environment. Positive 
early intervention and improving residents’ health can prevent higher healthcare costs in 
adulthood. By encouraging residents to protect and look after their local environment and 
natural resources we strive towards our global obligations.   

 

How we will resource this Well-being objective  
 
Resources in this area have been significantly reduced over the past few years.  This is 
impacting our availability to deliver a range of programmes so it is important that we pool our 
expertise and resources to set this within the way of working that involves other people in the 
delivery of this objective.   The School Holiday Enrichment Programme (SHEP) is match funded 
by the local authority and delivered using a grant of up to £5,000 per school. 

 
 

Page 81



66 
 

When will the objective be completed?  
 
Improved health data is a long term measurement and can rarely be measured on a year to 
year basis.  As this objective is about making a difference at an early age and to promote more 
physical activity there cannot be a specific ‘completion date’ therefore we will look at 
completion dates regarding actions and changes.  
 
Measures of progress are noted below: 
 

Linked to 
Outcome 

Evidence  

1 Increase the number of schools participating in the ‘daily mile’. 
 

1 Increase the number of schools achieving Welsh Governments National Quality Award 
for Healthy Schools. 

1 Number and % of participant parents benefitting from an evidence-based parenting 
programmes. 

1 Number of clubs signed up to be part of the ‘Lets Go Girls’ campaign. 
 

2 Reduce smoking rates. 
 

2 % of children age 4/5 who are overweight or obese. 
  

2 Percentage of children at 11 years who can swim 25 meters.  
 

2 Increase the number of visits to our parks and countryside. 
 

2 ‘Increase numbers participating in a broadened ‘Healthy Hearts’ initiative. 
 

2 Number of people participating in the Health Referral scheme.  
 

2 Street Scene Cleanliness Index LEAMS Score for the whole of the county borough 
(STS005a) 

2 % of highways & relevant land inspected of a high or acceptable standard of 
cleanliness (STS005b). 

2 % of reported fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days (STS006). 
 

2 The percentage of reported fly tipping incidents which lead to enforcement activity. 
 

2 Number of enforcement actions issued for Dog Fouling. 
 

2 The percentage of reported fly tipping incidents which lead to enforcement activity. 
 

 
For context we will also review the National indicators for Wales below as part of this overall 
objective 
 

Page 82



67 
 

   

General Well-being Indicators-  
  

 Source of Data 

Percentage of adults who have fewer than two healthy lifestyle behaviours 
(not smoking, healthy weight, eat five fruit or vegetables a day, not drinking 
above guidelines and meet the physical activity guidelines) 

National Survey of 
Wales 

Percentage of Children who have fewer than two healthy lifestyles as above School Aged 
Children Survey, 
New analysis  

Healthy life expectancy at birth including the gap between the least and 
most deprive. 

ONS and Public 
Health Wales 

Percentage of people feeling safe at home, walking in the local area, and 
when travelling.  

National Survey of 
Wales 

Mean mental Well-being score for people National Survey of 
Wales 

 
Additional Information  

 
As a wider consideration of creating a ‘healthy place’, part of our tree strategy is to develop 
scope on council allotments for potential small scale ‘allotment forestry’ as a partnership 
between council and tenants called the Allotment Forum Initiative.   
 
Ideally this would involve the planting of useful trees in positions which would not affect the 
site’s primary function as a place to grow vegetables.  We will encourage tenants to plant 
appropriate fruit trees where they will not significantly interfere with vegetable production.  
 
Besides fruit trees, there is also the potential for the planting of small coppice areas if it was 
supported by tenants. These could be planted on plots that, because of shading, or say 
waterlogged conditions, are less suitable for vegetable growing.   
 
Coppicing of species such as hazel, willow, or sweet chestnut would produce valuable 
products such as bean poles, pea sticks, or fencing materials, which could be harvested 
communally and would represent a sustainable use of these plots while maintaining wildlife 
value.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



68 
 

 

 
 
6. Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being 
 
Outcomes 

_______________________________________________________________ 
 

1.  Support people to ‘help themselves’ by providing comprehensive 
advice and information including signposting to other services. 
 
2.  Have ‘meaningful conversations’ to help people identify ‘what 
matters’ to them to inform ‘outcome focused’ planning.  
 
3. Provide support to reduce the need for higher tier statutory 
interventions. 
 
4. Identify and support carers. 
 
5. Improve the recruitment of Foster Carers and Shared Lives 
carers. 
 
6. Continue to identify opportunities to work collaboratively 
wherever appropriate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



69 
 

6. Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being 
 

Well-being Statement 
 
2016/17 saw the implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
across Wales.  This is possibly the most wide ranging and radical change in legislation 
impacting on the delivery of Social Care for generations. 
 
The Legislation is underpinned by a series of key principles and the Local Authority is charged 
with delivering services to enable these to be achieved. The principles are: 
 

 Provide support at the lowest level to reduce the need for statutory services or 
interventions. 

 Provide information and advice aimed at helping people to help themselves. 

 Signposting people to community based and third sector services wherever 
appropriate to do so. 

 Facilitate ‘what matters’ conversations with people referred for support to ensure 
services are aware of what the individual actually wants and would benefit from 

 Identify personal outcomes and provide services to enable people to achieve these 
outcomes. 

 Only provide ‘Care and Support’ to those people whose needs ‘can and can only’ be 
met through the provision of Social Care services 

 Continue to safeguard and protect those most vulnerable people  
 
As part of the newly implemented Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, the 
Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) team, has been established in Caerphilly.  IAA acts as 
the first point of contact for all referrals into both statutory and preventative services. An 
assessment is undertaken to identify if the family needs, require ‘Care and Support’.  
 
On occasion, a person or family’s needs may not be eligible for a Care and Support Plan and 
can instead by met through preventative well-being services. The Welsh Government funded 
Tackling Poverty Programmes - Families First, Flying Start, Supporting People and 
Communities First - all work at an early intervention and prevention level.  
 
Providing low level support to families and individuals should reduce the need for statutory 
and specialist services, whilst providing timely support for families which will enable them to 
improve their well-being. Early intervention should enable families to establish positive 
behaviour, increase their parenting capacity and help prevent abuse or neglect.  
 
Within Caerphilly, the Families First programme offers targeted, time-limited interventions to 
ensure that families get the right support and the right time. Support is provided for a wide 
range of needs including parenting and behaviour, well-being and mental health, advocacy, 
financial support, young carers, literacy and numeracy support, youth engagement, support 
for families affected by domestic abuse, pre and post natal support, emerging developmental 
delays in pre-school children and community engagement. In addition, the Team Around the 
Family (TAF) model in Caerphilly, locally known as Supporting Family Change, co-ordinates 
support for families with multiple needs.  

 

Page 85



70 
 

How we used the ‘5 ways of working’ to set this Well-being Objective?  
 
Involvement - Using the principles of the Social Services and Well-being Act, service users 
should be fully involved in identifying their needs and personal outcomes and planning their 
Care and Support requirements. Supporting People and Families First programmes involve 
hundreds of projects and providers and partners. Service users are involved in their own care 
through having the ‘what matters to you’ conversation. 
 
Long Term - Our long term aspiration is to ensure citizens are supported to remain 
independent in their own homes and communities for as long as possible.  Being independent 
gives people a feeling of purpose and self-worth and for some older people moving to 
residential accommodation can be distressing as home is often where people are happiest. 
This is important to well-being.  
 
Collaboration - This Well-being Objective is reliant on all partner agencies collaborating and 
co-operating to provide early intervention support to prevent the need for statutory 
intervention. Much of the preventative work undertaken by the Tackling Poverty programmes 
is tendered out to third sector organisations working within the Caerphilly county borough. 
This allows for greater partnership and multi-agency working across all organisations.  
 
Integration - The Information, Advice and Assistance Service and Supporting People are 
already integrated across Adults and Children’s Services. Opportunities for further integration 
across wider partner agencies will be developed as and when they arise. This objective if 
successful would contribute to a wide range of health, third sector and other public bodies 
outcomes including the Social Services Gwent Area Plan, by helping people (where they can 
be) to become more resilient.   
 
Prevention - The foundation of the Social Services and Well-being Act is the concept of early 
intervention and prevention support services that enable citizens to access services to help 
themselves. 
 

What steps will we take to achieve this objective?  
 

Outcome  
 

When  
(2018-2023) 

1. Support people to ‘help themselves’ by providing comprehensive advice and 
information including signposting to other services. 
 

2. Have ‘meaningful conversations’ to help people identify ‘what matters’ to them to 
inform ‘outcome focused’ planning.  
 

Provision of an effective Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) Service to 
ensure compliance with the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
 

2017 – 2022  

Support staff to undertake meaningful conversations with citizens to 
identify what matters to them and identify the outcomes that they want to 
achieve.  

2017 – 2022  

Implement and support further development of the ‘DEWIS’ web base to 
ensure it becomes the ‘go to’ site for people to access information in order 

2018 

Page 86



71 
 

Outcome  
 

When  
(2018-2023) 

to ‘help themselves’.  

3: Provide support to reduce the need for higher tier statutory interventions   
 

Work in partnership with Aneurin Bevan University Health Board to prevent 
unnecessary admissions to hospital and facilitate timely discharges. 
 

2018-2022 

Continue to support the work of Families First and the Welsh Government  
Tackling Poverty programmes to provide support to families at a 
preventative and early intervention level. 

2017 – 2021  
 
 

Support individuals in hospital with housing related support (including those 
who may be homeless at point of discharge. 
 

2018-2019 

Maximise the use of Welsh Government Grant funding to enhance and 
expand the ‘edge of care’ service for children and young people. 
 

2018 – 2019  

Expansion of the Supporting People programme, ensuring effective 
processes are in place to increasing referrals to the programme.  
 

2018-2020 

4: Identify and support carers  
 

Improve the support provided to carers including young carers, through 
development of information, improved identification and enhanced services 
to improve the well-being of carers and enable them to continue to 
undertake their caring roles. 

2017 – 2022  

5: Improve the recruitment of Foster Carers and Shared Lives carers. 
 

Increased recruitment activity and improved follow up rates to ensure 
additional paid carers i.e. Foster Carers and Shared Lives carers, are 
recruited with the overall aim of achieving a net increase in the number of 
carers. 

2017 – 2019  

Gain political support for the continuation of a radio advertising campaign 
for foster carers. 

2017 

6: Continue to identify opportunities to work collaboratively wherever appropriate 
 

Continue to engage in regional partnerships and collaborations to ensure 
Caerphilly are represented and able to influence the direction of travel. 
 

2017 – 2022  

Caerphilly to lead on the delivery of a regional Children’s Advocacy Service 
for Gwent Local Authorities and the Aneurin Bevan University Health Board. 

2018 onwards  

Development of a regional Learning Disabilities Strategy.  
 

2018 – 2019  

Work with the Gwent Children & Families Partnership Board to develop 
enhanced services for children with complex and challenging needs and for 
those young people leaving care. 
 

2018 – 2020  

 
 

Page 87



72 
 

Why we consider that our Well-being Objective will maximise our contribution to the 
National Well-being goals 

 
The Well-being Objective maximises contribution to two key national Well-being goals: 
A Healthier Wales: Social Care services support the promotion of good physical and emotional 
health in order to support individuals to remain independent for as long as is possible. 
 
A more Equal Wales Irrespective of background or circumstance, if an individual require the 
Care and Support of Social Care Services then the appropriate level of support is provided. 
 
This also contributes to Welsh Governments ‘Prosperity for All National strategy particularly  
The Healthy and Active theme which promotes the following: 
 

 Deliver quality health and care service fit for the future 
 Promote good health and well-being for everyone 
 Build healthier communities and better environments 
 

How we will resource this Well-being Objective 
 

Most of the actions identified in Section 4 require little by way of additional funding but do 
require staff and partner time to be committed to achieve.  However, the action in relation to 
‘edge of care’ services requires that we protect the current Welsh Government grant funding 
when it becomes part of the Revenue Support Grant from 2018 onwards.  The action relating to 
the Gwent Children & Families Partnership is also reliant upon the allocation of Intermediate 
Care Funding (ICF).   
 

When will the objective be completed? 
 

A few of the outcomes have already been completed or are in the process of being completed. 
For several others, it is the case that the actions identified will be continually reviewed and 
amended in order to remain current.  However, targets are able to be set in relation to the 
following: 

 

Linked to 
Outcome 

Evidence  

1&2 Relevant staff will receive ‘meaningful conversations’ training by the end of 2018 
 

1&2 The DEWIS website will be fully operational by April 2019 

3 Undertake a review of all ICF investments to maximise the effectiveness of the grant 
funding by September 2018 

3 Children’s Services Intensive Support Team to be fully operational from April 2018 

4 Numbers of carers (including young carers) supported 

4 Levels of respite support provided 

5 Achieve an increase in the overall number of carers recruited – this will be monitored  
quarterly and annually 

1-5 The Families First programme has 14 outcome measures that are reported yearly to 

Page 88



73 
 

Welsh Government, we will use the relevant measures to support progress with this 
objective.  

 
For context we will also review the National indicators for Wales below as part of this overall 
objective: 
 

   

General Well-being Indicators-   
 

 Source of Data 

Percentage of people who are lonely National Survey for 
Wales 

Percentage of people agreeing that they belong to the areas; that people 
from different backgrounds get on well together; and that people treat 
each other with respect. 

National Survey for 
Wales 

 
Any other additional Information  
 
The Welsh Government is currently reviewing the Performance Indicator data sets that 
measure the Social Services Well- being Act and it is likely that this will change the data we 
collect.  We will have to update our measures above when the new sets of performance 
measurement framework has been agreed. 
 
It is recognised that Social Care is unable to achieve all these actions alone and acknowledges 
the vital role that partners, both internal and external to the Council, will play in completing 
them. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



74 
 

 
6. Reviewing our Objectives 
 
How we will govern ourselves to meet our Well-being Objectives; 
 
The process for each Well-being Objective will be the same so here are the main ways that we 
will govern ourselves in the meeting of our objectives 
 

 We will have an Action Plan for each Objective. 
 We will use a scorecard to measure our performance as part of our overall 

performance.   
 The actions will be linked to individual Service Plan’s so it is part of service delivery and 

not separate from it. 
 Progress and emerging risks will be reported to our Corporate Management Team. 
  We will consult with the public to ensure our objectives are still relevant to them.  We 

may use existing consultation methods from services rather than always run a 
separate engagement exercise simply for objectives.  For example we ask the public 
what is important to them when we are consulting on our budgets and these existing 
mechanisms can play a greater more integrated part in assessment.  

 We will use the monitoring for the Well-being Plan as our review as they will 
contribute towards the Public Services Board Plan.   

 Our auditors and the Future Generations Commissioner will assist us in providing good 
practice in how we can best meet our objectives.  

 
The steps we will take to keep our objectives under a review  
 

 Our reporting structure will include frequent reporting to our Corporate Management 
Team working within our medium term financial planning to ensure resourcing plays 
an integrated role in the delivery of objectives. 

 We will assess at a point in time whether we are unsuccessful, partially successful or 
fully successful and invite our reporting bodies and any relevant partners to challenge 
our self-assessments. 

 Reporting to Cabinet (the Executive) on our progress.  
 Our Future Generations Advisory Panel is being reviewed and we may ‘mainstream 

reporting’ to wider members scrutiny’s to involve a wider selection of members, this is 
currently being looked at.   

 Reporting to relevant member scrutiny committees for challenge and scrutiny twice a 
year. 

 Reporting to any relevant partners as part of any collaboration set up to deliver on our 
objectives. 

 Report at least yearly to the public on our progress and review or our objectives as 
part of our performance management arrangements. 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 90



75 
 

7. The seven Well-being Goals for Wales 

Goal Description of the goal 

A prosperous 
Wales 

An innovative, productive and low carbon society which recognises 
the limits of the global environment and therefore uses resources 
efficiently and proportionately (including acting on climate change); 
and which develops a skilled and well-educated population in an 
economy which generates wealth and provides employment 
opportunities, allowing people to take advantage of the wealth 
generated through securing decent work. 

A resilient Wales A nation which maintains and enhances a biodiverse natural 
environment with healthy functioning ecosystems that support 
social, economic and ecological resilience and the capacity to adapt 
to change (for example climate change). 

A healthier Wales 
A society in which people's physical and mental Well-being is 
maximised and in which choices and behaviours that benefit future 
health are understood. 

A more equal 
Wales 

A society that enables people to fulfil their potential no matter what 
their background or circumstances (including their socio economic 
background and circumstances). 

A Wales of 
cohesive 
communities 

Attractive, viable, safe and well-connected communities. 

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 
and thriving 
Welsh language 

A society that promotes and protects culture, heritage and the 
Welsh language, and which encourages people to participate in the 
arts, and sports and recreation. 

A globally 
responsible 
Wales 

A globally responsible Wales. A nation which, when doing anything 
to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural      
Well-being of Wales, takes account of whether doing such a thing 
may make a positive contribution to global Well-being. 

More information about the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 and what 

that means for public bodies can be found at the site below:  

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/?lang=en 

 

Page 91

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/?lang=en


76 
 

8. Contact us 

Your views and opinions on the content of our plans and the priorities are important 

to us. We welcome your input so that we can continue to provide meaningful 

information that helps inform you of the service focus, ensuring that we are working 

on the things that are important to making a difference to you, our citizens and our 

communities. 

Please contact us by: Email: PMU@caerphilly.gov.uk OR by  

Web-link: Council Performance and follow the instructions on screen:  

  

Alternatively, please contact: 

Ros Roberts 

Business Improvement Manager  

Business Improvement Team 

Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Penallta House 

Ystrad Mynach 

Hengoed CF82 7PG 

       

 
Tel: 01443 864238    

E-mail: roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk 

   

This document is also available in different languages and formats upon request. 

Further information can also be found on our website: www.caerphilly.gov.

 

 

 
Page 92

mailto:PMU@caerphilly.gov.uk
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/contact-us/General-enquiries/Performance-Management-Unit.aspx
http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/main.aspx?lang=cy-GB
http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/main.aspx?lang=cy-GB


77 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 93



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 94



 

 
 

 
CABINET – 10TH JULY 2019 

 
SUBJECT: FEDERATION OF SCHOOLS – CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES  
 
 
1.1 The attached report is due to be considered by the Education Scrutiny Committee on 2nd July 

2019, prior to its referral to Cabinet.   
 
1.2 The views expressed at the meeting and the recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee will 

be reported verbally to Cabinet on 10th July 2019. 
 
 
Author:  C. Evans, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4210 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix Report to Education Scrutiny Committee on 2nd July 2018 - Agenda Item 6 
 

Page 95

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 5



EDUCATION FOR LIFE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 2ND JULY 2019 

SUBJECT: FEDERATION OF SCHOOLS – CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To provide details to Scrutiny Members of the outcome of the formal consultation process for 
the federation of the following schools. 

Gilfach Fargoed Primary School and Park Primary School 
Fleur de Lys Primary School and Pengam Primary School 
Bedwas Junior School and Rhydri Primary School 
Cwmfelinfach Primary School and Ynysddu Primary School. 

1.2 To seek Scrutiny Members views on the responses prior to a decision being considered by 
Cabinet on 10th July 2019 on whether to move to formal federation for all four groups of 
schools from 1st September 2019. 

2. SUMMARY

2.1 The Governing Bodies of the above schools have already been working on a collaborative 
basis for a number of years and requested that the Authority support them in the process to 
move to formal federation.  

2.2 Cabinet, at its meeting of 11th July 2018, agreed to the request to proceed to formal 
consultation in partnership with the Governing Body of each school. 

2.3 The formal consultation period for each school ran between 22nd October 2018 and 
10th December 2018. 

2.4 On 6th November 2018 Scrutiny Members were consulted on the proposal to formally 
federate the 4 groups of schools and were unanimously in support. 

2.5 A summary of the responses, which are detailed in the main body of this report, have been 
discussed in detail with each Governing Body who have all unanimously confirmed their 
agreement to proceed with the proposal to federate. 

2.6 If Cabinet approve the proposal on 10th July 2019 the new Instrument of Governance for each 
federated Governing body will be drafted and the separate Governing Bodies will be dissolved 
and the new Governing Bodies will be established in readiness for the start of the new school 
year. 

APPENDIX

Page 96



3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 To consider and comment on the consultation responses in relation to the Federation 

proposals. 
 
3.2 To support a recommendation to Cabinet to proceed to formally federate the groups of 

schools identified in 1.1 above. 
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To work in partnership and support the groups of schools identified in 1.1 in federating which 

will formalise the successful collaborations that have been in place for a number of years. 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The term “Federation” describes a formal and legal agreement by which a number of schools 

share Governance arrangements. 
 
5.2 The Welsh Government’s Federation policy objective is to promote collaboration between all 

parts of the education system to improve outcomes. School federation is a more formal way of 
extending collaboration and promoting closer working relationships and is the principle 
initiative for achieving formal partnership working amongst schools to improve performance 
and narrow the attainment gap for deprived pupils. 

 
5.3 The Governing Bodies of each of the 4 groups of schools are already working collaboratively 

and have done so for a number of years. 
 
5.4 Composition of the Federated Governing Body: 
 

  Recommended 
LA appointed  4 
   
Headteacher  1 
Teacher  2 
Staff  2 
Parent Governor  4 
Community Governor 
 
If Schools are situated within a 
Community Council area the 
Governing Body must include one 
additional Community Governor in 
addition to this listed above.  This 
would then increase the Governing 
Body numbers to 18. 

 4 
1 

TOTAL  17 
 
 If once all the categories in the above composition are filled, any remaining Governors can 

become Observer Governors.  This will allow the Governing Body to maintain the knowledge 
and expertise those Governors can bring. 

 
5.5 Cabinet, at its meeting on 11th July 2018, agreed to the request to proceed to formal 

consultation in partnership with the Governing Body of each school. 
 

Page 97



5.6 The formal consultation period for each school ran between 22nd October 2018 and 
10th December 2018. 

 
5.7 A full list of consultees is outlined below: 
 

• Pupils, staff, governors and parents/guardians of both schools 
• Teaching and support staff associations 
• Local ward members for each school 
• School Councils 
• ESTYN 
• Catholic Diocesan Board of Education 
• Education for Life Scrutiny Committee 
• Education Achievement Service. 

 
5.8 The responses received from Gilfach Fargoed Primary School and Park Primary School 

consultation are: 
 

• Parent Governor – Fully in support of the proposal and feels “it will benefit the children of 
the Community immensely.” 

• Summary/Conclusion of Estyn response – “Estyn believes that the proposal to establish 
a school federation incorporating Gilfach Fargoed and Park Primary Schools is likely to 
at least maintain standard of educational provision and outcomes for pupils and 
leadership and management.”   The full response is included as Appendix 1. 

 
5.9 The responses received from Fleur De Lys Primary School and Pengam Primary School 

consultation are: 
 

• Parent Governor – Fully in support of the proposal and feels “it will cement the 
successful partnership and assist in providing a more formal framework for the long term 
benefit of pupils and staff.” 

• Governor – Fully in support of the proposal and feels “it will formalise a successful and 
proven structure that has been established for over 20 years.” 

• Summary/Conclusion of Estyn response – “Estyn believes that the proposal to establish 
a school federation incorporating Fleur De Lys and Pengam Primary Schools is likely to 
at least maintain standard of educational provision and outcomes for pupils and 
leadership and management.”   The full response is included as Appendix 2. 

 
5.10 The responses received from Bedwas Junior School and Rhydri Primary School consultation 

are: 
 

• Parent Governor – Fully in support of the proposal and feels that “the collaborative 
arrangements seem to be working well and I feel positive about the future. It would be 
good to ensure appropriate representation from Bedwas Juniors and Rhydri Primary 
Governing Body.” 

• Summary/Conclusion of Estyn response – “Estyn believes that the proposal to establish 
a school federation incorporating Bedwas Junior  and Rhydri Primary Schools is likely to 
at least maintain standard of educational provision and outcomes for pupils and 
leadership and management.”   The full response is included as Appendix 3. 

 
5.11 The response from Cwmfelinfach Primary School and Ynysddu Primary School consultation 

is: 
 

• Summary/Conclusion of Estyn response – “Estyn believes that the proposal to establish 
a school federation incorporating Cwmfelinfach Primary and Ynysddu Primary Schools 
is likely to at least maintain standard of educational provision and outcomes for pupils 
and leadership and management.”  The full response is included as Appendix 4. 

 

Page 98



5.12 The above responses have been presented to each Governing Body who have all 
unanimously confirmed their agreement to proceed with the proposal to federate. 

 
5.13 If Cabinet approve the proposal on 10th July 2019 the new Instrument of Governance for each 

federated Governing Body will be drafted and the separate Governing Bodies will be dissolved 
and the new Governing Bodies will be established in readiness for the start of the new school 
year. 

 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 There are no assumptions made in this report. 
 
 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 Caerphilly’s Attainment Strategy: To raise standards and ensure our learners are healthy, 

confident, proud and ambitious and can access high quality educational opportunities, settings 
and experience. 

 
7.2 Caerphilly’s Wellbeing Objectives 2018 to 2023.  This proposal will assist the Authority in 

meeting these objectives in particular the following: 
 
 Well-being Objective 1 – Improve Education Opportunities For All 
 Well-being Objective 2 – Enabling Employment. 
 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The Well-being of Future Generation (Wales) Act 2015 is about improving the social, 

economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales.  It requires public bodies to think 
more about the long-term, working with people and communities, looking to prevent problems 
and take a more joined up approach.  This will create a Wales that we all want to live in, now 
and in the future.  The Act puts in place seven well-being goals:  

 
• A Prosperous Wales 
• A Resilient Wales 
• A Healthier Wales 
• A More Equal Wales 
• A Wales of Cohesive Communities 
• A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language 
• A Globally Responsible Wales. 

 
 The Act sets out the sustainable development principle against which all public bodies in 

Wales should assess their decision-making.  The aim of the legislation is to ensure the well-
being of future generations through maximising the contribution public bodies make towards 
the well-being goals.  In using the sustainable development principle it is incumbent that the 
authority considers the whole of the population it serves and considers the effect of its actions 
on future generations. The principle, also known as the five ways of working, is assessed 
below: 

 
• Long Term - The Federation principle will allow schools to formally work together 

effectively to raise standards, improve service and increase opportunities.  This will 
allow for the sharing of expertise, resources and facilities. 

• Prevention - Improving the use of Education resources across the schools will support 
pupils in their long term education and skills outcome in that they are more likely to 
succeed if their educational experience is positive.  
 

Page 99



• Integration - An aligned and coherent curriculum increasing the opportunities to fulfil 
individual pupil needs, extending curriculum entitlement and giving the potential to share 
resources. This will allow for better continuity of provision from early years to the end of 
Primary schooling. 

• Collaboration - A single development plan, single school policies, reducing duplication 
and also providing the opportunity to share resources but at the same time allowing 
each school to retain its own individual character within a strong overarching partnership 
where each school will be able to learn from each other. 

• Involvement - Through the consultation process the Council will ensure that there is full 
engagement with all relevant stakeholders, e.g. parents, pupils and the local community. 

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  The Equality Impact Assessment is not needed because the report is formalising a 

partnership that is already in existence, therefore the Council’s full EIA process does not need 
to be applied. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The Federation process does not bring any savings to the Local Authority as each schools 

formula funding allocation remains the same.  However it may ease financial pressures within 
schools by sharing resources which can be deployed across the federation. 

 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Due to collaboration arrangements already being in place, in all 4 groups of schools, for a 

number of years there are no personnel implications anticipated directly resulting from this 
proposal.  

 
11.2 Governing Bodies have the responsibility for the management of staffing within schools.  
 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 The draft report was distributed as detailed below.  All comments received have been 

reflected in this version of the report. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Federation of Maintained Schools (Wales) Regulations 2014 

School Organisation Code 2018 (Welsh Government) 
 School Standards & Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. 
 
 
Author: Sue Richards, Head of Education Planning and Strategy  
 Email:    richase@caerphilly.gov.uk      
Consultees: Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive 
 Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer 
 Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director of Education and Corporate Services 
 Dave Street, Corporate Director, Social Services 
 Mark S. Williams, Corporate Director Communities 
 Councillor Philippa Marsden, Cabinet Member, Education and Achievement 
 Councillor Teresa Parry, Chair of Education Scrutiny Committee 
 Councillor Carol Andrews, Vice Chair of Education Scrutiny Committee 

Page 100

mailto:richase@caerphilly.gov.uk


 Steve Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement and Acting Section 151 Officer 
Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services 

 Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer (Equalities and Welsh Language) 
 Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Service and Monitoring Officer 
 Ros Roberts, Performance Manager 
 Jane Southcombe, Education Finance Manager 
 Cath Rees, Headteacher,  Gilfach and Park Primary Schools 
 Sue Witchell, Headteacher, Fleur De Lys and Pengam Primary Schools 
 Richard Cook, Headteacher, Bedwas Junior and Rhydri Primary Schools 
 Dave Witchell, Headteacher, Cwmfelinfach and Ynysddu Primary Schools 
 Clare Coff, Head of Governor Support, Education Achievement Service 
 
Background Papers:  
Welsh Government Federation Process of Maintained Schools in Wales May 2014 
Cabinet report – Federation of Schools 11/07/18 
Scrutiny report – Consultation – Proposal to Federate 06/11/18. 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Estyn response Gilfach and Park Primary Schools 
Appendix 2 – Estyn response Fleur De Lys and Pengam Primary Schools 
Appendix 3 – Estyn response Bedwas Junior and Rhydri Primary Schools 
Appendix 4 – Estyn response Cwmfelinfach and Ynysddu Primary Schools. 
 

Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 112



 

 
 

 
CABINET – 10TH JULY 2019 

 
SUBJECT: 21ST CENTURY SCHOOLS AND EDUCATION BAND B PROGRAMME 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES  
 
 
1.1 The attached report is due to be considered by the Education Scrutiny Committee on 2nd July 

2019, prior to its referral to Cabinet.   
 
1.2 The views expressed at the meeting and the recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee will 

be reported verbally to Cabinet on 10th July 2019. 
 
 
Author:  C. Evans, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4210 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix Report to Education Scrutiny Committee on 2nd July 2018 - Agenda Item 8 
 

Page 113

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 6



 

APPENDIX 

 
EDUCATION FOR LIFE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 2ND JULY 2019 

 
SUBJECT:  21ST CENTURY SCHOOLS AND EDUCATION BAND B PROGRAMME 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to update Members on the 21st Century Schools and Education 

Band B programme which runs between 2019 and 2026. 
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The 21st Century Schools and Education Band B proposals were agreed by Cabinet on 

25th April 2018. 
 
2.2 Council agreed on 21st February 2019 to allocate £5.475 million to the 21st Century Schools 

and Education programme match funding. 
 
2.3 The priority schemes identified for Phase 1 of the programme are an expansion of provision at 

Trinity Fields School and relocation and expansion of Ysgol Gymraeg Cwm Gwyddon  on the 
former Cwmcarn High site. 

 
2.4 The intervention rates for the programme have changed, as outlined in the body of the report. 

This has resulted in a reduction in the Council’s contribution to the overall programme from 
£39.15 to £26.8 million. 

 
2.5 Initial specification of the expansion proposed for Trinity Fields has led to a recommendation 

to increase the allocation for this project from £5 million to £10 million.  This money would be 
transferred from the refurbishment programme and is in line with WG’s expectation for 
projects to be innovative and to be seen as a “once in a lifetime opportunity”.  In order to 
achieve this and “future proof” the school the increase in investment to £10 million is 
essential. 

 
2.6 Both projects outlined in 2.3 above are in early developmental stage and officers will ensure 

that Members are updated on a regular basis in relation to all aspects of the proposal e.g. 
financial, business case, consultation process etc. 

 
2.7 The Councils current projected match funding contribution to deliver both schemes is currently 

estimated at £5.1 million. If the increase for Trinity Fields is agreed this would reduce the 
Council’s overall contribution from £26.8 million to £26.3 million 

 
2.8 A Board has been established to undertake a review of Sixth Form/Single Sex/Surplus places 

provision. 
 

Page 114



3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Scrutiny Members are asked to note the information contained in the report and to give views 

on the recommendation to increase the contribution for Trinity Fields School from £5 million to 
£10 million before consideration by Cabinet.  

 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To ensure Scrutiny Members are updated on the 21st Century Schools and Education 

programme.   
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The 21st Century Schools and Education Programme is regarded as a major, long term and 

strategic capital investment programme supporting large scale capital building projects across 
Wales with the aim of enhancing school buildings to meet 21st Century Educational and 
Community needs.  

 
5.2 The Programme focuses resources on the right school, in the right place, from early years 

through to post-16, with funding jointly provided by WG and Local Authorities.  
 
5.3 The key aims of the 21st Century Schools and Education Band B investment programme, 

outlined by WG, is to: 
 

• Reduce the number of poor condition schools. 
• Ensure that we have the right size schools in the right location, providing enough places 

to deliver Welsh and English medium education. 
• Ensure the effective and efficient use of the educational estate for use by both Schools 

and the wider Community. 
 
5.4 The recommendations of the Cross Party Working Group, with regard to the proposals 

included within the programme, was agreed by Cabinet on 25th April 2018 subject to funding 
being confirmed for individual projects, business cases being approved by WG and the 
outcome of individual consultations. 

 
5.5 Cabinet considered on the 30th January 2019 the Use of Reserves report presented by the 

Head of Finance and S151 Officer.  Following consideration of that report Cabinet proposed 
that unallocated reserves of £16 million could be released and used for capital expenditure.  
Of the £16 million it was proposed by Cabinet that £5 million be allocated towards the Band B 
21st Century Schools and Education programme. 

 
5.6 The proposal was considered and agreed by Council on 21st February 2019 to allocate 

£5 million to the 21st Century Schools and Education programme match funding. 
 
5.7 Council also agreed the proposal to allocate £475,000 savings in advance to the programme. 
 
5.8 Therefore the total sum of £5,475,000 has been allocated to the 21st Century Schools and 

Eduation Band B programme. 
 
5.9 In December 2018 the Cabinet Secretary for Education announced that the Welsh 

Government’s (WG) grant intervention rate for Band B capital schemes would increase to 
65% with delivery partners meeting the remaining 35% of the costs. In addition, the 
intervention rate for capital funded special schools and pupil referral units will be 75%, with 
delivery partners meeting the remaining 25% of the costs.  

 
 The intervention rate for voluntary aided schemes remains at 85%. 

Page 115



5.10 The total Capital envelope (excluding Municipal Investment Model - MIM) agreed in principle 
by WG is £78.3 million.  The changes to the intervention rates in 5.9 (based on the original 
proposals submitted to WG) have reduced the Council’s contribution from £39.15 million to 
£26.8 million. 

 
5.11 In order to ensure timely and effective delivery of the programme it has been essential to 

identify the schemes to be delivered from the 1st allocation of £5.475 million to be those with 
the highest priority of Educational need, i.e. insufficient places if expansion is not achieved. 

 
5.12 The first two schemes identified as priority for Phase 1 of the programme are the expansion of 

Trinity Fields Special School and the relocation and expansion of Ysgol Gymraeg Cwm 
Gwyddon. 

 
5.13 Trinity Fields Special School is the only special school in the Authority which provides 

Education and Specialist Facilities for our pupils.  It caters for pupils from the ages of 3–19 
years.  At present the school has 158 pupils on roll.  This is increasing to 173 from September 
2019, with more admissions anticipated.  It is the Council’s aim, wherever possible, to try and 
educate all pupils within the Borough.  This prevents the need for out of county provision 
which is not only costly but can also have a significant impact on individual families. 

 
5.14 The current site was purpose built in 1998 and offers our pupils many unique and innovative 

features in order to develop their skills.  It caters for pupils with a wide range of Special 
Education Needs and requirements.  Ranging from Physical and Medical Difficulties, Profound 
Multiple Learning Difficulties and Severe Learning Difficulties.   

 
5.15 The Authority has already invested £1.3 million, during the past 6 years, into capital projects 

at the schools, which has included large maintenance schemes and change of use of areas in 
order to increase capacity.  In addition the Council is currently undertaking improvement 
works at the School using an underspend in the 21st Century Schools and Education 
programme Band A.  This programme was reported in detail to Cabinet on 10th April 2019. 

 
5.16 The Council recognises that Trinity Fields School and Resource Centre has a pivotal role in 

the current and future development of ALN provision across the Authority.  This role has been 
set against a backdrop of on-going local and national developments in terms of extending and 
enhancing the current role and functions of special schools across Wales and beyond so that 
they offer a broader range of support and services on behalf of the LA to other schools, 
specialist bases as well as to staff within the Council’s Education Service.  This is reflected in 
the Donaldson Report Successful Futures (February 2015) which observes that ‘Much of 
what is proposed in terms of continuity and progress is already a feature of teaching 
and learning in schools serving children and young people with special educational 
needs’ (p.107). 

 
5.17 As evidenced above the Council has already significantly invested in the School both from an 

expansion and improvement perspective.  However, it is apparent that the demand for the 
school from the projected pupil numbers, the more complex and changing needs of the pupils 
together with the requirements of the ALN Reform Bill has led to the urgency to expand the 
provision further at this School. 

 
5.18 The original Strategic Outline Plan (SOP) for the 21st Century Schools and Education Band B 

investment was submitted to WG in July 2017.  This plan included an estimated allocation of 
£5 million for Trinity Fields.  However since this submission the Council has carried out a 
more detailed analysis, in partnership with the School, which has resulted in a likely budget 
requirement of £10 million for the project.  The drawing up of the specification is at a very 
early stage and a board has been established including colleagues from Social Services, 
Education and Aneurin Bevan Health Board to ensure that all parties are able to embrace this 
opportunity to develop the School to cater for our most vulnerable families and the wider 
Community.   

 

Page 116



5.19 Following agreement of the specification of works a detailed business case will then need to 
be submitted to WG for approval.  WG have indicated that the expectation is for projects to be 
innovative and to be seen as a “once in a lifetime opportunity”. In order to achieve this and 
“future proof” the school the increase in investment to £10 million is essential. 

 
5.20 In order to achieve the increase of £5 million it is proposed that this sum is transferred from 

the £33 million refurbishment programme within the SOP.  The schools are yet to be identified 
from this investment sum but would likely to have included Trinity Fields.  As indicated in 5.9 
above the intervention rate for Special Schools has reduced from 50% to 25% Council 
contribution. Hence this increase to £10 million still retains the Councils contribution at 
£2.5 million for Trinity Fields and reduces the overall contribution to £26.3 million from 
£26.8 million. 

 
5.21  The demand for Welsh Medium Education has been on the increase since the formation of 

CCBC and particularly so in recent years.  The percentage of pupils in Welsh Medium 
Schools is as follows: Primary Sector: 1997 (8.9%), 2007 (12.1%), 2010 (14.4%), 2016 
(16.8%). Secondary Sector: 1997 (6.9%), 2007 (9.0%), 2010 (10.6%), 2016 (12.3%). 

 
5.22 The Band B programme is a key aspect of the corporate Welsh Education Strategic Plan 

(WESP) in ensuring there are sufficient Welsh Medium school places to support the 
challenging target of 1 million Welsh speakers in Wales by 2050.  The WESP regulations are 
currently out for consultation, if approved will require us to meet challenging targets for school 
places over the next 5 to 10 years. 

 
5.23 It will continue to support a thriving Welsh Language provision within Caerphilly by ensuring 

the development of sufficient Welsh medium places in areas where they are coming under 
pressure, as identified in the Authorities 2017 - 2020 WESP, Caerphilly East and 
Bedwas/Tredomen/Machen. 

 
5.24 Ysgol Gymraeg Cwm Gwyddon currently covers the catchment area of Caerphilly East area of 

the Borough.  The School is at capacity with no opportunity to expand on the current site.  
This area has the Councils lowest progression rates from Welsh Medium childcare into Welsh 
medium schools. 

 
5.25 In order to ensure the Council meets the challenging targets for increased Welsh Medium 

provision it is essential to create additional Welsh Medium places in this area of the Borough 
as a matter of urgency. 

 
5.26 The proposal, agreed by members, and included within the SOP is to build a new school and 

childcare provision (funded from the Childcare expansion grant) on the Cwmcarn High site 
increasing capacity to 420 pupils at a projected cost of £7.4 million.  The Council’s 
contribution to this sum is £2.6 million. 

 
5.27 The 21st Century Schools and Education Band B funding for individual projects is now 

calculated by WG using the recommended size of a school, contained within the BB98/99 
Building Bulletin, and an agreed rate per square metre/pupil at the 2019 predicted costs.  The 
calculation does not give consideration to any “abnormal” costs, i.e. contamination, gradient 
and flood risk.  Any additional costs would need to be evidenced and considered separately at 
the WG Business Case stage. 

 
5.28 Demolition work is currently underway at the former Cwmcarn High site and progression of 

the proposal would still be dependent on business case approval by WG and a full 
consultation exercise.  

 
5.29 Work is currently being undertaken to ensure all relevant information and detailed 

specification of works will be available to support the submission of business cases to Welsh 
Government for the above projects. 

 

Page 117



5.30 If WG approve the business cases for the project a full consultation exercise will then be 
undertaken in line with the School Organisation Code 2018. 

 
5.31 A Board has been established to undertake a review of Sixth Form/Single Sex/Surplus places 

provision consisting of Scrutiny Members, Unions, Governor Representatives, Colleges, 
Headteachers, EAS, Education officers and Cabinet member.  The first two meetings are 
scheduled for 10th June 2019 and 15th July 2019.  

 
5.32 All of the projects outlined above are in early developmental stage and officers will ensure that 

Members are updated on a regular basis in relation to all aspects of the proposal e.g. 
financial, business case, consultation process etc. 

 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 The figures calculated for each individual project are based on 2019 predicted costs, which 

are stipulated in the BB98/99 Building Bulletin regulations.  This will be consistently applied by 
WG across Wales.  They do allow for inflation or any factors that may arise through Brexit. 

 
6.2 The calculations do not give any consideration to any “abnormal” costs that may arise e.g. 

contamination etc. 
 
 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 Caerphilly’s Attainment Strategy: To raise standards and ensure our learners are healthy, 

confident, proud and ambitious and can access high quality educational opportunities, settings 
and experience. 

 
7.2 Caerphilly’s Wellbeing Objectives 2018 to 2023.  This proposal will assist the Authority in 

meeting these objectives in particular the following:  
 
 Well-being Objective 1 – Improve Education opportunities for all 
 Well-being Objective 2 – Enabling Employment 
 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The Well-Being of Future Generation (Wales) Act 2015 is about improving the social, 

economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales.  It requires public bodies to think 
more about the long-term, working with people and communities, looking to prevent problems 
and take a more joined up approach.  This will create a Wales that we all want to live in, now 
and in the future.  The Act puts in place seven well-being goals:  

 
• A prosperous Wales. 
• A resilient Wales. 
• A healthier Wales. 
• A more equal Wales. 
• A Wales of cohesive communities. 
• A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language. 
• A globally responsible Wales. 

 
8.2 The Act sets out the sustainable development principle against which all public bodies in 

Wales should assess their decision-making.  The aim of the legislation is to ensure the well-
being of future generations through maximising the contribution public bodies make towards 
the well-being goals.  In using the sustainable development principle it is incumbent that the 
authority considers the whole of the population it serves and considers the effect of its actions 
on future generations.  The principle, also known as the five ways of working is assessed 
below: 

Page 118



 
• Long Term - Forecasting of pupil numbers has been utilised to identify the demand for 

school places to ensure sufficient Educational places in our schools.  This information has 
been used to prioritise schools within the SOP. 

• Prevention - Improving the quality of the Education estate generally will support pupils in 
their long term education and skills outcome in that they are more likely to succeed if their 
Educational experience is positive.  

• Integration - The 21st Century Schools Programme is subject to BREEAM and 
Community Benefits of individual proposals are assessed and monitored for their impact 
on the Welsh economy.  The proposals are also part of a strategy to promote Welsh 
Language and Culture. 

• Collaboration – The 21st Century Schools Programme is collaboration between the 
Council and Welsh Government to improve the quality of the Education estate. 

• Involvement – Through the consultation process the Council will ensure that there is full 
engagement with all relevant stakeholders, e.g. parents, pupils and the local community. 
Collaborative partnership working between 21st Century Schools and the Early Years 
Division who work with the voluntary sector. 

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 All relevant Equality Impact Assessments for individual projects will be undertaken prior to 

moving to consultation stage and will be made available to any persons who wish to receive 
copies.  These proposals link with the WESP and the five year Welsh Language Strategy 
2017-2022 and will therefore have a positive impact on Welsh Medium Education.  The 
proposal in relation to Trinity Fields School will also have a positive impact on the children and 
young people with additional learning needs who are and will be attending the School. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Council agreed on 21st February 2019 to allocate £5.475 million to the 21st Century Schools 

and Education programme match funding. 
 
10.2 The intervention rates changes, which are outlined in the main body of the report, has 

reduced the Council’s contribution from £39.15 million to £26.8 million. 
 
10.3 Phase 1 of the programme, Trinity Fields expansion and the relocation and expansion of YGG 

Cwm Gwyddon totals £5.1 million.  This would result in an unallocated amount of £375K of the 
amount shown in 10.1 above. 

 
10.4 If the Trinity Fields proposal is agreed, this will further reduce the contribution to £26.3 million. 
 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 This will be dependent on specific proposals and will be considered as part of the consultation 

process. 
 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 The draft report was distributed as detailed below.  All comments received have been 

reflected in this version of the report. 
 
 

Page 119



13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 School Organisation Code 2018 (Welsh Government). 
 School Standards & Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. 
 
 
Author:   Sue Richards, Head of Education Planning and Strategy  
Consultees: Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive 
 Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer 
 Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director of Education and Corporate Services 
 Dave Street, Corporate Director, Social Services 
 Mark S. Williams, Corporate Director Communities 
 Councillor Philippa Marsden, Cabinet Member, Education and Achievement 
 Councillor Teresa Parry, Chair of Education Scrutiny Committee 
 Councillor Carol Andrews, Vice Chair of Education Scrutiny Committee 
 Steve Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement and Acting Section 151 Officer 

Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services 
 Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer (Equalities and Welsh Language) 
 Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Service and Monitoring Officer 
 Ros Roberts, Performance Manager 
 Jane Southcombe, Education Finance Manager 
 Mark Williams, Interim Head of Property Services 
 Steve Pugh, Corporate Communications Manager 
 Ian Elliott, Headteacher, Trinity Fields School & Resource Centre 
 Anita Tucknutt, Headteacher, Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Cwm Gwyddon 
 
Background Papers: 
Cabinet Report – 21st Century Schools and Education Band B proposals – 25/04/19 
Council Report – Budget Proposals for 2019/20 and the Medium Term Financial Plan  2019/20 to 

2023/2024 – 21/02/19 
 

Page 120



 

 
 

 
CABINET – 10TH JULY 2019 

 
SUBJECT: REGENERATION BOARD – PROJECT PROPOSALS (TRANCHE 3) 
 
REPORT BY: INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To recommend the third tranche of priority schemes for Regeneration Project Board 

Development Funding to Cabinet. 
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 At its meeting on 30th May 2018, Cabinet agreed that a Regeneration Project Board would be 

set up with a cross party political representation of Councillors plus key officers. This group is 
supported by a Regeneration Assessment Panel consisting of officers from a range of service 
areas. 

 
2.2 The Regeneration Assessment Panel and Regeneration Project Board have met to consider 

the first seven projects which have been identified by the Board to move to Assessment 
Stage. The first tranche of these projects (four in number) were approved at Cabinet on 
13th February 2019 whilst the second tranche were approved on the 29th May 2019.  

 
2.3 This report seeks Cabinet approval for Tranche 3 projects (2 in number) identified by the 

Regeneration Project Board and assessed by the Assessment Panel to be endorsed and 
funded through the Regeneration Board Project Development Fund. In total four projects have 
been assessed and considered: 

 
• Masterplan for Public sector land in Ystrad Mynach 
• Viability work for the Powerhall (former Penallta Colliery) 
• Coach drivers facilities, Caerphilly castle 
• Ty Du – additional employment additional units 

 
2.4 The first two projects in the list above did not score highly enough in the assessment process 

to be advanced for Cabinet Approval and further work is required to fully scope out these 
projects.  The second two projects have scored well and the Regeneration Project Board is 
thus recommending that Regeneration Development Funding be awarded to these projects to 
further their development.  

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 That Cabinet: 
 

i) Endorse the progress of the Tranche 3 Projects 
 

ii) Agree that £90,000 of the remaining Regeneration Board Project Development Fund of 
£1.21m be allocated to the Tranche 3 Priority schemes, identified by the Regeneration 
Project Board. 

Page 121

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 7



4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To progress feasibility works in respect of those priority regeneration schemes identified by 

the Regeneration Project Board. 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 On the 30th May 2018, Cabinet agreed that a Regeneration Project Board (Board) be set up.  

The Terms of Reference of the Board were approved by Cabinet at the same meeting. 
 
5.2 At the subsequent June 2018 Board meeting a Project Prioritisation Toolkit was approved for 

the Board to prioritise projects and this was subsequently agreed by Council on 17th July 
2018. An Assessment Panel has been set up to assess each of the projects using this toolkit.  
The Assessment Panel is an internal officer panel from a wide range of service areas set up 
specifically to assess strategic regeneration schemes. 

 
5.3 The Assessment Panel has met several times to consider Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 projects. 

These have been evaluated by the Regeneration Project Board before being presented to 
Cabinet for endorsement and funding (where required) from the Regeneration Board 
Development Fund as follows: 

 
• T1 Ystrad Mynach Park & Ride; 
• T5 Llanbradach Park & Ride; 
• T6 Caerphilly Interchange; 
• Gen 19 Oakdale Business Park; 
• Gen22 Cwmcarn Forest Drive; 
• Gen23 Park Lane, Caerphilly; 
• Gen24 Pentrebane Street, Caerphilly. 

 
5.5 Additional funding has been secured to enhance and supplement the Regeneration Project 

Board Project Development Fund. On the 30th January 2019 Cabinet resolved to release 
£1.2m of reserves for Regeneration Board Projects.  

 
5.6 This has allowed additional projects to be considered for development support, prioritisation 

and funding. On the 21st May 2019 four projects (Tranche 3) were considered by the 
Regeneration Project Board. These projects are as follows 

 
• Masterplan for Public sector land in Ystrad Mynach 
• Viability work for the Powerhall (former Penallta Colliery) 
• Coach drivers facilities, Caerphilly castle 
• Ty du – additional employment additional units 

 
5.7  Details of each project are set out below. More detailed information on each is contained in 

Appendix 1. 
 
 Masterplan for Public Sector land in Ystrad Mynach 
 
 Total Project Cost Estimate (£): Unknown.  
 
 Request for funding from Regeneration Board Project Development Fund (£): £30k  
 
5.8 Clustered together in a relatively small geographical area within Ystrad Mynach are the 

Centre for Sporting Excellence, Coleg Y Cymoedd Ystrad Campus, Trinity Fields School and 
Resource Centre plus Ystrad Mynach Park (council owned). Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr Hospital and 
Ystrad Mynach Police Station also lie in close proximity on land to the east of Caerphilly 
Road. 

Page 122



5.9 Ystrad Mynach has realised increased importance in recent years as it has become a key 
business district and the location for vital public services. Both the Centre for Sporting 
Excellence and Trinity Fields school are looking to grow and expand on their current footprints 
and it felt necessary to examine how best this can be achieved using the available land 
resources in the locality. Coleg Y Cymoedd campus has a number of assets that could be 
better used in partnership with public sector organisations in the locality. An example is their 
large car park which could be better used for large events. 

 
5.10 This project would see private consultants employed to undertake a Public Sector land 

rationalisation masterplan that would consider how best to create an exemplary sport, leisure 
and education cluster in this part of Ystrad Mynach.  

 
5.11 Comments: The project was assessed and failed in respect of Strategic Fit and Deliverability. 

The masterplan area is in multiple land ownerships, bringing with it serious questions in terms 
of how realistic this master-planning exercise is to take forward.  It was determined that more 
work is required on developing a coherent brief that better articulates the demands of each of 
the organisations located there. 

 
5.12 Decision: Project Rejected:   It was agreed that internal resources i.e. staff time needs 

to be used to work this project up in more detail before being presented again to the 
Regeneration Project Board 

 
 Viability work for the Powerhall (former Penallta Colliery) 
 
 Total Project Cost Estimate (£): Unknown.  
 
 Request for funding from Regeneration Board Project Development Fund (£): £20k  
 
5.13 The Power Hall and the Bath House are the two remaining buildings that have yet to be 

converted at the former Penallta colliery site.  They are also the largest of the remaining 
colliery buildings. The Power Hall is a Grade II* Listed Building. It has planning permission 
and Listed Building Consent for conversion to 48 residential flats. The site has been recently 
acquired by a prospective developer, who is keen to progress the conversion of the Power 
Hall. 

 
5.14 An opportunity exists to convert part of the Power Hall to accommodate live/work units and 

offices. Diversifying the uses within the building introduce some much needed commercial 
activity to the area.  Whilst there is potential for mixed use development, the current position is 
that the Power Hall can be converted to 48 residential units without requiring any further 
permissions. 

 
5.15 The inclusion of live/work units and/or offices into the redevelopment would involve additional 

cost to the developer, over and above the permitted development.  As such, whilst the issue 
of including such uses has been discussed with the owner, it remains the owner’s intention to 
convert the building in accordance with the existing permissions  

 
5.16 In order to realise a mixed use development for the building it is necessary to quantify the 

difference in costs between the currently permitted development of 48 residential units and a 
mixed use scheme.  Therefore funding was being sought to undertake a viability appraisal of 
both the permitted development and a revised development incorporating employment uses to 
identify the additional costs to the development.  

 
5.17 Comments: The project failed on both strategic fit and deliverability assessment. The site has 

planning permission for residential use and the introduction of live/work or office space would 
require a new planning and listed building application to be submitted at a considerable cost 
to the owner. The owner now has funding for the scheme he wants to deliver, namely 
conversion of the property to 48 flats. There is no evidence to support the demand for 
employment space at this location in order to convince the existing investors to change their 
investment proposals. 

Page 123



 
5.18 Decision: Officers continue their dialogue with the owners to pursue the redevelopment 

of the Powerhall and the Bath House at the Penallta Colliery Site. 
 
 Coach facilities at Caerphilly Castle.  
 
 Total Project Cost Estimate (£): £344k.  
 
 Request for funding from Regeneration Board Project Development Fund (£): up to £172k  
 
5.19 This project focuses on delivering the joint objective of Caerphilly County Borough Council 

and Cadw of turning Caerphilly Castle into a Tier One visitor destination and  increasing its 
footfall from just over 140,000 to over 200,000.  

 
5.20 This project has two key features, namely: to encourage more coach companies to visit the 

town; and to achieve a Coach Friendly Status from the Confederation of Passenger Transport 
UK.  The proposal has two components: The first is to provide coach drivers a welfare building 
at Crescent Road car park. The second is to provide a coach pull-in facility near the main 
entrance to the Castle. There are opportunities to introduce electric charging points for 
coaches and introduce PV’s for green energy production on the welfare building itself. Officers 
have prepared initial feasibility drawings for the Crescent Rd coach driver’s facility and these 
are supported by indicative cost estimates. 

 
5.21 A Tourism Investment Support Scheme (TISS) application has been submitted to Welsh 

Government Visit Wales for funding to take this project forward. Visit Wales have indicated 
that they would require the Council to find 50% funding as match.  Cadw are exploring the 
possibility of allocating alternative funding via a Section 10 grant application that would result 
in the project being funded 100%. Collectively the Council and Cadw have also submitted a 
Discovery Gateway bid to the Valleys Task Force for the funding for this project. Endorsement 
of the project has been requested from the Regeneration Board, as is financial support to 
match the TISS application should the other external funding being explored prove 
unsuccessful. 

 
5.22 Comments: Funding for the coach pull-in was agreed by the Board but they were not 

convinced by the request for funding for a dedicated building to act as a facility for coach 
drivers at Crescent Road.  It was felt it was too remote and would not be used. The Board 
considered that a better option would be to use space within the castle or an empty unit in the 
town centre. 

 
5.23 Decision: It was agreed that the Board recommend to Cabinet that £50k match funding 

should be allocated from the Development Fund towards the Coach pull in (total 
estimate for build circa £100k). 

 
 Ty Du – additional employment additional units 
 
 Total Project Cost Estimate (£) £80K design, £1.39m construction.  
 
 Request for funding from Regeneration Board Project Development Fund (£): £40k  
 
5.24 Up to 3.8 ha of land has been allocated for B1 employment use within the developable 

Plateau at Ty Du, with circa £2 million of funding successfully secured to develop an initial 
“Phase 1”, a speculative scheme of high quality flexible business units comprising up to 3 
buildings with a potential maximum floor-space of 1000 M2 (up to 11,000 square feet).   

 
5.25 This project focuses on delivering an additional phase of works, comprising two further 

employment buildings, and is referred to as Phase 1B. This additional build would be 
achieved under the existing Joint Venture with Welsh Government on a 50:50 cost/risk basis. 

 

Page 124



5.26 WG is currently delivering a major scheme to deliver the enabling primary infrastructure to the 
site. This work is due to complete by the end of summer 2019. 

 
5.27 Because of funding constraints, the available budget of circa £2m will only build 3 units but 

there is scope for a further two buildings to be designed and built as part of the same 
development phase. WG have indicated they are willing to find 50% of the design and 
development costs of these additional units if this can be matched by the Council. 

 
5.28 This submission to the Board is to fund 50% of the professional fees associated with the 

detailed design of these additional two units and to endorse the actual development of these 
two units, if monies can be secured from other sources to match the 50% that WG are 
prepared to contribute.  

 
5.29 Comments: The Board were fully supportive of the scheme and were content to agree that 

£40k be allocated to match fund the design of  phase 1B of the scheme to enable the project 
to be shovel ready. Monies for the additional build would be sought from other internal 
budgets and external funding bodies. 

 
5.30 Decision: The Board recommend to Cabinet that £40k should be allocated from the 

Development Fund for the detailed design costs of phase 1B of Ty Du, Nelson.  
 
 Conclusion   
 
5.31 This report seeks Cabinet approval for the funding or endorsement to progress feasibility 

works in respect of two of the Tranche 3 regeneration schemes identified by the Board, 
namely: Caerphilly Castle Coach pull in; and Phase 1B Ty Du – detailed design of two 
additional employment additional units. 

 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 This report assumes that Tranche 3 projects, once supported by Cabinet, will be developed to 

a stage where they are robust enough to bid for external funding.  
 
 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
 Corporate Plan 2018-2023 
 
7.1 The report recommendations contributes towards or impacts predominantly on the following 

Corporate Well-being Objectives:  
 
 Objective 2 - Enabling employment. 

 
 Objective 3 - Addressing the availability, condition and sustainability of homes throughout the 

county borough. 
 
 Objective 4 - Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system.  
 
 Objective 5 - Creating a county borough that supports a healthy lifestyle. 
 
 Objective 6 - Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being. 
 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The work of the Regeneration Board will contribute towards significant levels of community 

regeneration and infrastructure development which will help to create an environment that we 

Page 125



all want to live in, now and in the future. This report therefore potentially contributes to all 
seven wellbeing goals: 

 
• A globally responsible Wales 
• A prosperous Wales 
• A resilient Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A Wales of cohesive communities 
• A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 

 
8.2 The report recommendations are consistent with the five ways of working as defined within 

the sustainable development principle in the Act.  The five ways of working of the sustainable 
development principle, listed in the Act are: 

 
• Long Term – The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to safeguard 

the ability of future generations to meet their long-term needs; 
• Prevention - How acting to prevent problems occurring, or getting worse, may help public 

bodies meet their objectives; 
• Integration – Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may impact upon 

each of the well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the objectives of other public 
bodies; 

• Collaboration – Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different parts of the body 
itself) that could help the body to meet its well-being objectives; 

• Involvement – The importance of involving people with an interest in achieving the well-
being goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the diversity of the area which the body 
serves. 

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  There are no specific equalities implications associated with this report for any specific groups 

or individuals therefore a full equalities impact assessment has not been carried out. 
 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 An overall project development fund of £1.5m has been approved and will allow a project 

team of officers to develop projects ready for implementation once funding becomes available. 
 
10.2 The Tranche 1 and 2 projects that have been approved have been allocated £365,000 of the 

£1.5m Development Fund, leaving plentiful resources (£1.135m) to fund Tranche 3 projects. 
 
10.3 Tranche 3 projects request £90,000 in total. This would leave an active development fund of 

£1.045m. 
 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no direct personnel implications associated with this report. 
 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 All consultation responses are reflected in the report. 
 
 

Page 126



13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 Local Government Acts. 
 
 
Author: Allan Dallimore, Regeneration Services Manager 
Consultees: Cllr Sean Morgan, Cabinet Member for Economy, Infrastructure, Sustainability & 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Champion (Chair) 
Mark S. Williams, Interim Corporate Director Communities 

 Stephen Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement Services and Section 151 
Officer  
Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration and Planning 
Marcus Lloyd, Head of Infrastructure 
Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services/Monitoring Officer 
Cllr Elsbury – St Martins Ward 
Cllr Fussell – St Martins Ward 
Cllr Kent – St Martins Ward 
Cllr Phil Bevan – Morgan Jones Ward 
Cllr James Pritchard – Morgan Jones Ward 
Cllr Shayne Cook – Morgan Jones Ward 
Cllr Alan Angel – Ystrad Mynach Ward 
Cllr Martyn James – Ystrad Mynach Ward 
Cllr Brenda Miles – Nelson Ward 
 

Appendices: 
Appendix 1: RPB Assessment Panel – Project Information Forms for the Tranche 3 projects 
 

Page 127



Appendix 1 
 

RPB ASESSMENT PANEL – PROJECT INFORMATION FORM (PIF) 

PROJECT NAME:  Public Sector Land Rationalisation Masterplan, Ystrad Mynach 

SECTION/TEAM SUBMITTING PROJECT: Head of Regeneration and Planning  

LOCATION AND WARD:  Ystrad Mynach, Ystrad Mynach Grid Ref: 3144, 1936 

 
DESCRIPTION:  

 

Clustered together in a relatively  small geographical area within Ystrad Mynach are the Centre for Sporting 
Excellence, Coleg Y Cymoedd Ystrad Campus, Trinity Fields School and Resource Centre plus Ystrad Mynach 
Park (council owned). See plan below 
 
Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr Hospital and Ystrad Mynach Police Station lie in close proximity on land to the east of 
Caerphilly Road. 
 
Ystrad Mynach has realised increased importance in recent years as it has become a key business district and 
the location for vital public services. It benefits from good transport/communication links which will improve 
with planned investment in the Valleys Metro and our own park and ride facilities. 
 
Both the Centre for Sporting Excellence and Trinity Fields school are looking to grow and expand on their 
current footprints and it felt necessary to examine how best this can be achieved using the available land 
resources in the locality.  
 
The Centre for Sporting Excellence would like to see their seating capacity increase from just over 1,000 upto 
5,000 They would also like to improve their current sports offer by developing an indoor sports barn with a 
state of the art 3g pitch. Opportunities exist to use park land to further add to the offer with an indoor tennis 
dome. 
 
Trinity Fields current location is constrained and does not allow for expansion. Future demand and 
requirements of the Additional learning Needs Reform Bill are likely to see the need for expansion. 
 
Coleg Y Cymoedd campus has a number of assets that could be better use din partnership with public sector 
organisations in the locality. An example is their large car park which is used by the Centre of Sporting 
Excellence for large events. 
 
This project would see private consultants employed to undertake a Public Sector land rationalisation 
masterplan that would consider how best to create an exemplary sport, leisure and education cluster in this 
part of Ystrad Mynach – focusing in on the requirements/demands of the main public sector bodies currently 
located there. The masterplan would also address the issues of connectivity and orientation (particularly to 
the train station) and provide information and signage for those visiting. 
 
Financial support is requested from the Programme Board for the costs associated with commissioning 
consultants to undertake the masterplan.  No match funding as been identified to deliver this commission.  
 
 

Page 128



 
 
 
 STRATEGIC FIT (SF) ASESSMENT  

 

Notes: 
The project is very embryonic. Without a detailed brief,  it doesn’t really cover in detail the headings that the 
project is assessed  against for a strategic fit. It  therefore has achieved a low score. 
 It is also queried whether this is a revenue rather than a capital project. 
 
 
TOTAL PROJECT COST ESTIMATE (£): The total costs of employing consultants to undertake the masterplan 
exercise are being requested  from the Regeneration Board 

This equates to £30,000  

 
DELIVERABILITY ASESSMENT (R A G):   
 
 
Notes:  
Deliverability was seen as a real issue due to the wide number of variables with the project. Developing a 
coherent masterplan was seen as problematic due to the complexities of land ownership etc…Having no match 
funding was also noted 
 
 

 
 
 
 

R A G Status 
35% 

R A G Status 
32.5% 

Page 129



CCBC REGENERATION BOARD RECOMMENDATION:     REJECTION 
 
Although the merits of undertaking this public sector land rationalisation 
masterplan are noted, the project is embryonic and covers a number  of 
sites and premises without being specific about how each will or could 
benefit .  
 
This is the primary reason that the project did not attain  the required 
scores in the assessment process to move forward. 
 
 
DATE: 13th May 2019 

CHAIR’S SIGNATURE 

 
 
 

RPB ASESSMENT PANEL – PROJECT INFORMATION FORM (PIF) 

PROJECT NAME:  Viability Study - Engine Hall and Fan House (Power Hall), Penallta Colliery  
 
SECTION/TEAM SUBMITTING PROJECT: Head of Regeneration and Planning  

LOCATION AND WARD:  Penallta Colliery, Ward: Ystrad Mynach, Grid Ref: 3139,1958 

DESCRIPTION:  
 

In 1999 a planning application was submitted by Redrow Homes for the reclamation and redevelopment of 
the former colliery site for the development of approximately 700 dwellings, employment uses, a school, a 
local centre (comprising shops and a pub) and the conversion of the 7 remaining pit head buildings to 
residential use (including the Power Hall).  This application was approved and the reclamation of the site and 
development of the dwellings has largely been completed. 
 
The Great Engineering Building (the building immediately to the west of the Power Hall) and the Engineering 
Hall immediately adjoining it, have already been converted to a total of 26 flats, whilst the Bank House and 
Lamp Room are currently being converted to 3 and 6 flats respectively. 
 
Consequently the Power Hall and the Bath House are the two remaining buildings that have yet to be 
converted.  They are also the largest of the remaining colliery buildings. 
 
The Power Hall is a Grade II* Listed Building. It has planning permission and Listed Building Consent for 
conversion to 48 residential flats. The proposal also includes the provision of changing facilities to accompany 
a sports pitch (possibly 5-a-side) at basement level. The site has been recently acquired by a prospective 
developer, who is currently converting the Bank House and Lamp House buildings and who is keen to progress 
the conversion of the Power Hall. 
 
The opportunity exists to convert part of the Power Hall to accommodate live/work units and offices as well as 
residential units. Diversifying the uses within the building would provide a different offer and introduce some 
much needed commercial activity to the area. 
 
Whilst there is potential for mixed use development, the current position is that the Power Hall can be 
converted to 48 residential units without requiring any further permissions. 
 
The inclusion of live/work units and/or offices into the redevelopment would involve additional cost to the 
developer, over and above the permitted development.  As such, whilst the issue of including such uses has 
been discussed with the owner, it remains the owner’s intention to convert the building in accordance with 
the existing permissions (i.e. for 48 residential units. 

Page 130



 
 
 
 STRATEGIC FIT (SF) ASESSMENT  

 

Notes: The project scored particularly badly on Connecting People. It also scored less than 50%  on both 
Supporting People and Supporting Business 
 
 
TOTAL PROJECT COST ESTIMATE (£): The total costs of employing consultants to undertake a viability appraisal 
of £20,000 are being requested from the Regeneration Board. 

 
DELIVERABILITY ASESSMENT (R A G):   
 
 
 
 
Notes:  
Deliverability was seen as a real issue due to the number of variables with the project. Taking the project 
forward without the overall buy in from the owner and without establishing demand for work live space in this 
area is full of risk. The scheme is deliverable as a resi development and it believed it will be difficult to change 
the views of the owner. 
 
 

CCBC REGENERATION BOARD RECOMMENDATION:     REJECTION 
 
Although the merits of undertaking this viability  appraisal to unlock the 
site for work live space are noted, there is at this stage no official buy in 
from the new owner. Neither is there any evidence that there is a real 
demand for work/live space in this part of the county borough.   A move 
towards live/work space  would require new planning and listed building 
consent. Perhaps most importantly, no funding mechanism for filling  

CHAIR’S SIGNATURE 

 
In order to realise a mixed use development for the building it is necessary to quantify the difference in costs 
between the currently permitted development of 48 residential units, and the cost of a scheme incorporating 
the mix of uses.  Once this difference is identified consideration can be given to whether support can be given 
to the proposed developer to deliver a mixed use development. 
 
It should be noted that any changes from the permitted scheme will require a new planning permission and a 
new Listed Building consent.  The costs of these additional requirements will need to be taken into account in 
undertaking a viability comparison of the two proposed developments. 
 
Therefore the current project is to undertake a viability appraisal of both the permitted development and a 
revised development incorporating employment uses to identify the additional costs to the development.  
 
This information can then be used to inform the consideration of whether support can be given to realise the 
revised development. Ultimately it would then be for officers to attempt to fill any financial viability gap 
through securing external funding. 
 
 

R A G Status 
32.5% 

R A G Status 
32.5% 

Page 131



the viability gap has been cemented. 
 
This is the primary reason that the project did not attain  the required 
scores in the assessment process to move forward. 
 
 
DATE: 15th May 2019 
 
 
 

RPB ASESSMENT PANEL – PROJECT INFORMATION FORM (PIF) 

PROJECT NAME:  Caerphilly Castle Coach Facilities 

SECTION/TEAM SUBMITTING PROJECT: Head of Regeneration and Planning  

LOCATION AND WARD:  Caerphilly Town Centre , St Martin’s /Morgan Jones ward 

 
Description 

This project focuses on delivering the joint objective of CCBC and Cadw of turning Caerphilly castle into a Tier 
One visitor destination and  taking its footfall from just over 140,000 to over 200,000.  
 
This project has two key features which both aim to encourage more coach companies to visit the town and to 
achieve a Coach Friendly Status from the Confederation of Passenger Transport UK.  The first is to provide 
coach drivers welfare building at Crescent Road car park. The second is to provide a coach pull-in facility near 
the main entrance to the castle. A TISS application has been  submitted to WG for funding to take these 
schemes forward. WG Visit Wales have indicated that they would require the Council to find 50% funding  
 
The coach drivers welfare building (rest and refreshment) has been  designed to be an attractive, modestly 
sized timber clad building that would measure approximately 8050mmx 3658mm. It would be located near 
the coach spaces in the Council owned Crescent Rd car park. There are opportunities to introduce electric 
charging points for coaches and to introduce PV’s for green energy production on the building itself. 
 
The Councils EPG has undertaken initial feasibility drawings for the Crescent Rd coach drivers facility and these 
have bene supported by indicative cost estimates. 
 
The coach pull in would see the extension of the public bus pull in located to the front of the castle (opposite 
the Castle Court Shopping mall) . This project would allow coach parties to disembark very close to the 
current. entrance making it more attractive to coach operators. There are current engineering drawings for 
the proposed coach pull in/drop off with scheme cost estimates.  
 
It is expected that further detailed design, contract supervision and procurement of the main contracts will be 
undertaken in house. It is envisaged that the coach driver’s facility will require planning permission. 
 
The project fully supports the aims of Cadw’s  5 year masterplan and is identified as a project in the CCBC 
Caerphilly Basin Masterplan. 
 
The project will hep improve the visitor offer in Caerphilly and will draw more visitors to the town through the 
coach operators short break and day trip markets. Building a more resilient and diverse economy for 
Caerphilly town  centre will bring long term impacts, including increased dwell time in the town centre, more 
opportunities for local businesses to benefit directly from  the visitors or through improved and bolstered 
supply chains. It will also give local people opportunities for gainful employment in the tourism industry   
 

Page 132



 
 
 STRATEGIC FIT (SF) ASESSMENT (R A G): 

 

 

 

Notes: 
Scored highly on Supporting Quality of Life objectives. 
 
 
TOTAL PROJECT COST ESTIMATE (£): Financial support towards 50% of the costs associated with TISS 
application are requested from the Regeneration Board which stands at £293,650 plus £50,000 costs 
associated with introducing green energy elements. 

This equates to £172,000  

 
DELIVERABILITY ASESSMENT (R A G):   
 
 
Notes: This project has initial designs and robust costing and would be developed on CCBC owned land. It is 
modest in nature and could be managed internally. 
 
 
 

CCBC REGENERATION BOARD RECOMMENDATION:     APPROVAL 
This project provides support to Cadw’s ambitious plans to turn 
Caerphilly Castle into a tier one visitor attraction. Cadw will be investing 
upwards of £5m into the castle to develop its visitor offer. These 
proposals are supported by Cadw who recognise the positive 
contribution they will bring to achieving their goal.  
 

CHAIR’S SIGNATURE 

A TISS bid has been submitted to WG Visit Wales. They are willing to support the bid if CCBC can demonstrate 
that they can 50% match fund the project.  Working with various departments of WG and Cadw, officers are 
exploring other external mechanism for funding this project.  
 
Cadw are exploring a Section 10 internal grant award that would see the project funded 100% 
 
The Council and Cadw have submitted a Caerphilly Discovery Gateway bid to WG’s Valleys Task Force for 100% 
funding this project. 
 
Neither of these submissions include the electric charging point for coaches and the use of PV’s on the roof of 
the coach drivers facility. It is estimated that this could add £50,000 to the overall costs of the scheme.  
 
Endorsement of the project is requested from the Regeneration Board as is financial support to match the TISS 
application should the other external funding being explored prove unsuccessful. Even if successful the Board 
are requested to allocate £50,000 towards the cost of installing electric charging points and   PV units on the 
roof. 
 
 

R A G Status 
46.25 

R A G Status 
62.5% 

Page 133



There will be multiple benefits to the local economy and community if 
Cadw do improve visitor numbers, increase dwell time and spend in the 
town centre.  The Council recognises the  key role that the visitor 
economy has to play  in the Caerphilly basin area and this is reflected in 
the Caerphilly Basin masterplan and the Council’s Regeneration Strategy 
.  
 
The proposals contribute to the following  themes within the CCBC 
Regeneration Strategy: 

• Supporting people 
• Supporting business 
• Supporting Quality of Life 
• Connecting People and Places 

 
 
 
DATE: 13th May 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RPB ASESSMENT PANEL – PROJECT INFORMATION FORM (PIF) 

PROJECT NAME:  Ty Du Employment Park – Phase 1B  

SECTION/TEAM SUBMITTING PROJECT: Head of Regeneration and Planning  

LOCATION AND WARD:  Ty Du , Mafon Road, Nelson Ward 

 
Description 

Caerphilly County Borough Council and Welsh Government are working in partnership on an ambitious Joint 
Venture Project to develop the designated Commercial Area of the Ty Du Plateau in Nelson. Up to 3.8 ha of 
land has been allocated for B1 employment use within the Plateau, with circa £2M of funding successfully 
secured to develop an initial “Phase 1”, a speculative scheme of high quality flexible business units comprising 
up to 3 buildings with a potential maximum floor-space of 1000 M2 (up to 11,000 square feet). The Phase 1 
project is supported by £1.3M of European Structural Investment Funds (via WEFO) with the Council and 
Welsh Government contributing the balance of match funding. 
 
This  project focuses on delivering an additional phase of works, comprising two further employment 
buildings, (units 1 and 6 on plan – see below)  and is referred to as Phase 1B,. This additional build would be 
achieved  under the existing Joint Venture with Welsh Government on a 50:50 cost/risk basis. 
 
This employment scheme forms an integral part of a wider masterplan for the whole of the Ty Du site which 
will deliver employment on 3.8h of designated land and over 200 houses on the edge of Nelson town centre. 
 
WG are currently delivering a major scheme to deliver the enabling primary infrastructure to the site, 
including the construction of the development plateaus, installation of statutory services  and construction of 
the estate roads. This work is due to complete by the end of summer 2019. 

Page 134



 
 

  
A funding package has been secured by CCBC and WG to take forward an initial employment phase on 
approximately 1ha of the designated employment land. Because of funding constraints,  the available budget 
of circa £2m will only build 3 units but there is scope for a further two buildings to be detailed designed and 
built as part of the same development phase. WG have indicated they are willing to find 50% of the design and 
development costs of these additional units if this can be matched by the Council. 
 
This submission looks to the Regeneration Board to fund 50% of the professional fees associated with the 
detailed design of the additional two units and to endorse the actual development of these two units,  if 
monies can be secured to match the 50% that WG are prepared to contribute.  
 
This would bring the following outputs: 
Job creation – 20plus 
SME’s supported -  10plus 
Upto 700m2 of new employment floorspace 
 
The overall detailed  design costs associated of the projects are as follows: 
 Professional Design Fees - £76,843 
Construction Costs (based on detailed cost plan) - £1.394m 
 
It is imperative that the detailed design of these additional units is dealt with under reserved matters of the 
exiting planning approval on the site. Any delays would see the need for a new full planning application to be 
submitted which would be subject  to new legislation (such as SABS drainage) and would add time and costs 
(both design and build) to the overall process. 
 
A delivery programme is in place for delivery of Phase 1 (shaded grey in plan below)  Phase 1B would just be 
”bolted “ onto this if the additional resources to deliver the two units (1 and 6) can be secured. Works would 
commence once the WG infrastructure project is completed in late summer 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Financial support is requested from the Programme Board for the professional design fees associated with the 
detailed design of the additional units on a 50-50 split with WG. Development costs  will be sought from other 
sources.   
 

Page 135



 
 STRATEGIC FIT (SF) ASESSMENT  

 

Notes: 
Scored highly on Supporting People. 
Did not score well on Connecting People and Places or Supporting Quality of Life 
 
 
TOTAL PROJECT COST ESTIMATE (£): Financial support towards 50% of the costs associated with professional 
design fees are requested from the Regeneration Board 

This equates to £40,000 (small contingency included) 

Development Costs will be sought from  a number of internal and external funding routes but no formal 
funding route has yet been established. 

 
DELIVERABILITY ASESSMENT (R A G):   
 
 
Notes: Phase 1 is a live project with a professional design team and a programme for implementation. Bolting 
on Phase 1B would be easily achievable if funding can be secured. 
 
 
 

CCBC REGENERATION BOARD RECOMMENDATION:     APPROVAL 
TY Du is recognised as a  strategic site by both WG and CCBC. The 
opportunity now exists to maximise the development potential of the 
Phase 1 Employment Scheme,  particularly as WG are offering to find 
50% of the associated costs.  
 
It is imperative that the detailed design work can be completed on the 
additional employment units so that they can form part of the overall 
Phase 1 application for approval under reserved matters .  
 
The project will bring new employment floorspace to the Ty Du 
masterplan area and will help create local jobs for local people. 
 
The proposals contribute to the following  themes within the CCBC 
Regeneration Strategy: 

• Supporting people 
• Supporting Business 
• Supporting Quality of Life 

 
DATE: 13th May 2019 

CHAIR’S SIGNATURE 

 
 

R A G Status 
41.25 

R A G Status 
80% 

Page 136



 

 
 

 
CABINET – 10TH JULY 2019 

 
SUBJECT: INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT – COMMUTED SUMS 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES  
 

 
1.1 The attached report, which outlined proposals relating to the charging of commuted sums 

payable by developers for future maintenance and associated works of eligible assets, was 
considered by the Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee on 25th June 2019, 
ahead of its presentation to Cabinet. 

 
1.2 Members were advised that in view of the current variation in the use and application of 

commuted sums by different services within the council, it was recommended that a 
consistent approach be adopted for calculating commuted sum payments from developers for 
the future maintenance and replacement of adopted assets.  Given the increasing emphasis 
on providing sustainable development and sustainable places to live, local authorities and 
other public bodies are facing increased pressures which would normally preclude such 
enhanced developments from being maintained to the appropriate standard unless payment is 
sought from the developer for the costs involved. 

 
1.3 It is intended for both the local authority and developers to use the commuted sum 

methodology, which will provide a transparent and consistent approach to the calculation of 
commuted sums, and will place no unacceptable burden on CCBC maintenance budgets or 
the public purse.  The clarity of approach will help remove the uncertainty and risk for 
developers at an early stage in the development process, and will also provide a sustainably 
funded mechanism for local authority departments, enabling development to progress with 
much more certainty regarding the overall requirements and commitment 

 
1.4 The Scrutiny Committee were provided with an explanation of the methodology for calculating 

commuted sums, which will include consideration of estimated future maintenance costs, the 
periodic discount rate linked to interest rates, and default time period of a development.  This 
methodology has been developed in line with industry standard guidance prepared by the 
CSS (County Surveyors Society) and has also been recommended by the Welsh Government 
through the statutory guidance document as part of the statutory Sustainable Drainage 
Approval Body (SAB) function.  Further details were set out in the report, 

 
1.5 During the course of the ensuing discussion, Officers provided clarification on the differences 

between the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and commuted sums, and is was noted that 
CIL funding is allocated to a central pot for community use, whereas commuted sums are 
ring-fenced for the future maintenance of eligible assets to be adopted for the lifetime of the 
development.   Members were advised that the use of commuted sums is well established 
and should not be seen as a new funding source for the Authority.  However, there is a need 
to introduce a consistent approach for the calculation of these sums in order to improve clarity 
for both developers and the various departments across the local authority. 

 
1.6 In response to a query on the rationale for the default time period of a development, Officers 

explained that these are set in line with CSS guidance (generally 60 years other than 
significant structures which are 120 years).  Members also noted the interrelationship between 

Page 137

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 8



the rates of commuted sums, the CIL charge and the amount of affordable housing that can 
be secured through Section 106 agreements, and the need to strike an appropriate balance 
across these areas.  

 
1.7 Following consideration of the report, the Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee 

unanimously recommended to Cabinet that:- 
 

(i) a consistent approach to the calculation and implementation of charges to developers 
in relation to commuted sums be implemented, which will cover the future 
maintenance costs of all eligible infrastructure assets offered for adoption for the 
lifetime of the development. 

 
(ii) a requirement be placed on all developers entering into SAB (Sustainable Drainage 

Approval Body), s.38 and s.278 highway agreements, and s.106 planning agreements 
or any other type of legal agreement entered into with Caerphilly CBC, to be charged 
commuted sums for the future maintenance and replacement requirements of the 
works constructed by them and adopted by the Council; 

 
(iii) utilisation of a discount rate of 2.0% and lifetime of development of 60/120 years 

depending on the asset proposed for adoption, be approved; 
 
(iv) Officers report to the Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee on a 6 monthly basis in 

relation to all commuted sums received by the Authority; 
 
(v) the agreed process be reviewed after 2 years of operation and where alterations are 

required, a future report be presented to Scrutiny and Cabinet. 
 
1.8 Cabinet are asked to consider the report and the above recommendations. 
 
 
Author:  R. Barrett, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4245 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Report to Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee on 25th June 2019 - 

Agenda Item 7 
 

Page 138



APPENDIX 

 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 
25TH JUNE 2019 

 
SUBJECT: INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT – COMMUTED SUMS 
 
REPORT BY: INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To provide scrutiny committee with information to consider in relation to charging developers 

commuted sums to cover the future maintenance and replacement costs of all eligible 
infrastructure assets (not privately owned) offered for adoption for the lifetime of the 
development.  A future report will be presented to the cabinet for decision and this report will 
outline the views of the Scrutiny Committee. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The use of commuted sums for future maintenance is not new, but there is variation in its use 

and application by different services within the council in relation to new developments. The 
report recommends a consistent approach for calculating commuted sum payments from 
developers for the future maintenance and replacement of adopted assets.   

 
2.2 The style, location and expectation of development have changed over the last 15 years with 

more emphasis being placed on providing sustainable development and sustainable places to 
live.  Additionally local authorities and other public bodies have increasing pressures which 
would normally preclude such enhanced developments from being maintained to the 
appropriate standard unless payment is sought from the developer for the costs involved. 

 
2.3 It is intended that both the local authority and developers use this commuted sum 

methodology, which will provide a transparent and consistent approach to the calculation of 
commuted sums. This in turn will place no unacceptable burden on CCBC maintenance 
budgets or the public purse.  

 
2.4 The clarity of approach will help remove the uncertainty and risk for developers at an early 

stage in the development process. It will also provide a sustainably funded mechanism for 
local authority departments, enabling development to progress with much more certainty 
regarding the overall requirements and commitment. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 The Scrutiny Committee is asked to provide its views on:-  
 
3.1 The implementation of a consistent approach to the calculation and implementation of 

charges to developers in relation to commuted sums. These commuted sums will cover the 
future maintenance costs of all eligible infrastructure assets offered for adoption for the 
lifetime of the development. 

Page 139



 
3.2 The requirement for all developers entering into SAB (Sustainable Drainage Approval Body), 

s.38 and s.278 highway agreements, and s.106 planning agreements or any other type of 
legal agreement  entered into with Caerphilly CBC to be charged commuted sums for the 
future maintenance and replacement requirements of the works constructed by them and 
adopted by the Council. 

 
3.3 Utilisation of a discount rate of 2.0% and lifetime of development of 60/120 years depending 

on the asset proposed for adoption. 
 
3.4 That officers report to the Policy & Resources (P&R) Scrutiny Committee on a 6 monthly basis 

in relation to all commuted sums received by the Authority.   
 
3.5 That the agreed process is reviewed after 2 years of operation and where alterations are 

required, a future report is presented to Scrutiny and Cabinet. 
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The rationale for seeking commuted sums for future maintenance and associated works is to 

ensure that the local authority has the resources to cover the upkeep, and where appropriate 
the replacement of, the assets they have adopted from developers.   

 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The rationale for seeking commuted sums for future maintenance and associated works is to 

ensure that the local authority has the financial resource to cover the upkeep and replacement 
of assets they adopt from developers. 

 
5.2 A commuted sum is a one-off payment of capital as a contribution towards the future 

maintenance of eligible assets to be adopted for the lifetime of the development. This is 
usually 60 years for housing development infrastructure (roads, drainage, etc.) and 120 years 
for structures (bridges, culverted watercourses, etc.). 

 
5.3 Commuted sums generally relate to payments made by developers through a Sustainable 

Drainage Approval Body (SAB), S38 (Highways Act 1980), S278 (Highways Act 1980), 
Planning Obligations, also known as S.106 Agreements (Town & County Planning Act 1990), 
via a legal agreement with the developer. The payment of a commuted sum by a developer 
discharges them of any future maintenance responsibilities for the adopted assets, upon 
formal adoption.  The obligation, and associated risk, then lies with the adopting party to 
maintain the asset. Alternatively, a developer may make alternative arrangements for future 
maintenance responsibilities, (with the exception of the SAB drainage requirements) but this 
does leave the Local Authority with little or no control over standards or in circumstances 
where those arrangements are not sustained. 

 
5.4 The use of commuted sums for maintenance is well established within the council to cover the 

maintenance of: highway structures, traffic signals, signalised pedestrian crossings, drainage 
assets, public open spaces, play areas, etc. However, it is proposed that many other items 
should be included in this process if they are offered for adoption by the developer. 

 
5.5 There has previously been variation in the methodology/use of the calculation of commuted 

sums across internal council departments. In order for consistency and reasonable best 
practice, it is proposed that the industry standard guidance “commuted sums for maintaining 
infrastructure assets” prepared by CSS (County Surveyors Society) is used to calculate sums 
for all assets being adopted by the local authority. This commuted sums calculations 
methodology has also been recommended for working out commuted sums by the Welsh 
Government through the statutory guidance document as part of the statutory SAB function. 

Page 140



 
5.6 There are a number of variations on the formulae that have been used for calculating 

commuted sums. The essential feature is that the commuted sum paid is discounted to allow 
for the fact that it will be earning interest, which will make up part of the maintenance payment 
required.  It is therefore necessary to determine the net present value of a future expense and 
the following formula is recommended to be used to calculate the maintenance obligations: 

   
• ∑Mp/(1 + D/100)T, where  

 
• Mp = Estimated future maintenance cost T years from now 
• D = Discount rate (effective annual interest rate) (%) 
• Commuted sum = Summation of all net present values for appropriate future costs. 

 
5.7 Maintenance cost (Mp) 
 The local authority will use its current contract rates. The maintenance regime is based on 

‘whole life costing’ with the frequency of treatment and or the intervals of replacement, based 
on planned frequencies, historic information and industry guidance. For non-maintenance 
items it is also appropriate to add a percentage to the works costs to cover the design and 
supervision costs, considered to be 12.5%. 

 
5.8 Periodic Discount Rate (D) 
 The recommended discount rate (effective annual interest rate) is 2.0 - 2.2% based on the 

interest rate and rate of inflation. CCBC utilise a discount rate of 2.0% that is reviewed in 
accordance with revised CSS (County Surveyors Society) guidance. The use of the discount 
rate ensures that both the interest earned on the commuted sum, and the effect of inflation in 
increasing the cash sums eventually required, are taken into account. 

  
5.9 Time Period (T) 
 Where the life of a development is 60 years or more, it is recommended that a period of 60 

years is used as the default period for calculating commuted sums for future maintenance. 
The period of 60 years is conventionally used as the minimum life of housing and assets. The 
period of 60 years for commuted sums represents a reasonable compromise between 
covering future costs and the uncertainties over whether they will be required in the future. 
Commuted sums will need to include for the replacement of assets with a shorter life than the 
expected time period. 

 
5.10 The exception to the use of this time period is where the local authority would be adopting a 

substantial structural asset e.g. bridge, culvert. In such cases a time period of 120 years is to 
be utilised. 

 
 Summary of calculation of commuted sums: 
 

• The estimated periodic maintenance cost of the asset to be adopted e.g. maintenance 
at six monthly intervals. 

• Its future cost of renewal or replacement. 
• The duration over which the sum is required.  The Association of Directors of Planning 

and Transport (ADEPT) recommends commuted sums for structures should be 
calculated to cover a 120 year period and that the period for other items should be 60 
years (the whole life of the development). 

• The effective annual interest rate that will provide a return on the sum invested prior to 
its expenditure after the effects of inflation have been taken into account (called the 
discount rate approx. 2.0 – 2.2%). It is recommended that CCBC use 2.0%. 

 
5.11 As an example, a zebra crossing provides a useful illustration of the type of costs to be 

incurred, from day 1 the flasher units will consume electricity each day, the unit will require 
cleaning every 2 years, electrical testing is required every sixth year. The flasher unit and 
globe will require replacement every 10 years whilst the supporting posts will need to be 
replaced after 25 years. The electricity costs are based on annual cost of the unit and 

Page 141



consumption.  White lining replaced every 5 years and anti-skid surfacing every 10 years. All 
these costs and time periods will need to be accommodated within the commuted sum 
calculation. 

 
 Other Considerations 
5.12 Members need to be aware that there is an interrelationship between the rates of commuted 

sums, the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charge and the amount of affordable housing 
that can be secured through S.106 Agreements.  In short, the greater the commuted sums 
then the less money that is available for other planning contributions such as affordable 
housing. It is therefore essential that the Council strikes an appropriate balance between the 
desire to provide housing for those in need and securing funding for infrastructure, whilst also 
ensuring that these competing requirements are set at a level that is viable and still enables 
housing development to progress. There needs to be recognition that within a time of reducing 
maintenance budgets, this balance has to provide consideration of the additional financial 
burden placed upon CCBC infrastructure divisions. 

 
5.13 Consideration will therefore need to be given to:- 
 

• The complexity and scale of development, the resultant infrastructure requirements 
and the long term maintenance costs to the Council. 

• The requirement for affordable housing in the area of the development. 
• Other, wider infrastructure requirements such as education, strategic highway 

infrastructure, etc. 
• The viability of the development after considering all of the above. 

 
5.14 The Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan (LDP) provides a policy framework 

for the provision of Section 106 agreements and CIL (which will include affordable housing 
provision) and the Cabinet/Council are fully involved in setting this framework. 

 
5.15 Officers currently report on a 6 monthly basis to P&R Scrutiny Committee on affordable 

housing provision and in light of the proposals within this report this 6 monthly report will be 
broadened to include an update on all commuted sums. 

 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 The process for, and calculation of commuted sums will be transparent, and collected monies 

will be ring fenced to the maintenance and replacement of the asset adopted and allocated to 
the appropriate departments. An overriding principle is that commuted sums shall be 
calculated objectively and as fairly as possible to reflect the genuine present day value of 
predicted future costs which they are designed to service. All calculations are based upon 
“Commuted sums for maintaining infrastructure assets” prepared by CSS (County 
Surveyors Society). This methodology has been recommended by the Welsh Government 
through the statutory guidance document as part of the statutory SAB function. 

 
6.2 The key financial and time period assumptions for the calculation of commuted sums are 

outlined in sections 5.8 to 5.10 above. 
 
 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1      The report links to the Council’s Corporate Plan 2018-2023, and contributes to the Well-being 

Objective 4 and 5:  
 

• Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system that increases 
 opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse impacts on the 
 environment. 

Page 142



 
• Creating a County Borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in accordance the 

 Sustainable Development Principle within the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) 
 Act 2015. 
 

7.2 There are further links to the Infrastructure Service Objectives:  
 

• To promote safe and efficient transport and land drainage infrastructure through quality 
service delivered by means of cost effective management, maintenance and 
improvement of the networks. 

 
• To develop engineering solutions and methods which have regard to the value of the 

natural and built environment and to the principle of sustainable development. 
 
• Effective regulation and Management of flooding/flood risk promotes sustainable 

development, which does not exacerbate flooding. This links to the Caerphilly County 
Borough Council (CCBC) Flood Risk Management Strategy and Plan. 

 
7.3 The report also links to the Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021 

and contributes to Objective 20 which seeks to: “Maximise the efficient use of the existing 
infrastructure and encourage the necessary improvements to the network to sustain 
necessary levels of development at appropriate locations across the County Borough” 

 
7.4 This report also links to the Council’s Local Biodiversity Action Plan which will help take steps                               
 towards halting the decline of species in the South Wales Valleys. 

 
7.5 There are further links to the Countryside Strategy 1998 where it promotes an attractive 
 environment for a range of recreational pursuits rich in biodiversity. 

Helps support the draft Caerphilly Green Infrastructure Strategy, particularly in matters 
relating to connectivity by linking habitats together 

 
 
8.0 WELL-BEING of FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 This report links directly to the Well-being goals within the Well-being of Future Generations 

Act (Wales) 2015: 
 

• A prosperous Wales 
• A resilient Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A Wales of cohesive communities 
• A globally responsible Wales 

 
8.2 It is consistent in all of the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable development 

principle in the Act that it supports: 
 
8.2.1 Long Term – One of Caerphilly’s corporate objectives is to reduce carbon emissions and 

reduce our contribution to global warming. Multiple biodiversity and a reduction in carbon 
emissions will be achieved by promoting sustainable development over the long term and also 
provide a sustainable source of funding for the lifetime of the development. 
 

8.2.2 Prevention - CCBC will lead on maintaining and enhancing a biodiverse natural environment 
with healthy functioning ecosystems that support social, economic and ecological resilience 
and the capacity to adapt to change. 

Page 143



 
 

8.2.3 Integration – Caerphilly is a borough where people’s physical and mental well-being is 
maximised and in which choices and behaviours that benefit future health are understood. 
CCBC will ensure that clean, sustainable green environments are constructed and where 
water is seen as a valuable resource, with access to public open spaces and play areas. 
Clean air, open spaces and water are key elements of health and well-being. For instance by 
working closely with Caerphilly’s Planning and Countryside departments and the local 
developers CBCC will promote nature based solutions therefore providing quality and 
functionality of host landscapes providing usable and attractive places for local community 
users to enjoy. Also connecting local residents to opportunities is an important feature of 
cohesive communities. Engaging with the community through creative sustainable solutions 
will offer multi-functionality and successfully integrating sustainable management of water into 
the surrounding local landscapes. This demonstrates that CCBC promote communities to be 
caring and environmentally conscious. This in turn helps to create a tidier, more attractive 
place for residents, visitors and potential inward investors. 
 

8.2.4 Collaboration - CCBC is innovative, productive and a low carbon local authority which 
recognises the limits of the global environment & uses resources efficiently and 
proportionately, and which develops a skilled and well-educated population in an economy 
which generates wealth and provides employment opportunities. Caerphilly has set up 
collaborative networks internally (Countryside and Landscape, Parks and Leisure, Urban 
Renewal, Highway Development and Traffic Management) and there are opportunities to 
utilise staff within and between organisations to work out the commuted sums. Therefore, 
sharing knowledge and developing transferable skills. CSS developed the “commuted sums 
for maintaining infrastructure assets” in conjunction with all 22 authorities in Wales and its use 
has also been recommended by Welsh Government. Through the commuted sum process the 
sustainable mechanism of funding will enable replacement when needed in future years 
without burdening the local authority or the public purse of future generations.  
 

8.2.5 Involvement - Some of our poorest environmental quality is associated with our most 
deprived areas. Ensuring that everyone across the county borough has equal access to a 
clean, green and an attractive environment is a core element of our work, and this is 
supported throughout Caerphilly’s various services. Where development work is being carried 
out in these areas then staff will be encouraged to meet local people driving change 
throughout their communities, this will ensure staff will be more proactive and more invested in 
community projects.  It also gives staff a much better understanding of the drivers and 
blockers of change within the communities and what is having a real effect on people’s well-
being.  
 
 

9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has been completed in accordance with the 

Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and supplementary guidance. No potential for unlawful 
discrimination and/or low level or minor negative impact has been identified; therefore a full 
EIA has not been carried out. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1   The funding secured from the commuted sums will cover all future maintenance costs of all 

infrastructure assets where adopted for the lifetime of the development.  
 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no direct personnel implications from this report. 

Page 144



 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 All comments received have been taken into consideration and are included in the report. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 
 
13.2 s.101Local Government Act 1972 
 
13.3  s.19 Local Government Act 2000 
 
13.4 Highway Act 1980  
 
13.5 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 
 
Author:        Michelle Johnson – Principal Engineer (Drainage) (johnsm@caerphilly.gov.uk) 
  Dave Lucas – Strategic & Development Plan Team Leader 
Consultees: Cllr S. Morgan - Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economy, Infrastructure, 

Sustainability & Wellbeing of Future Generations Champion 
 Cllr E. Stenner – Cabinet Member for Environment & Public Protection/Planning 
 Cllr L. Phipps – Cabinet Member for Homes & Places 
 Cllr DT. Davies - Chair of Environment & Sustainability Scrutiny Committee 
 Cllr A. Hussey - Vice Chair of Environment & Sustainability Scrutiny Committee 
 Mark S Williams - Interim Director – Communities 
 Clive Campbell - Transportation Engineering Manager 

Christopher Adams – Highway Engineering Group Manager 
Mike Headington – Green Spaces and Transport Services Manager 
Phillip Griffiths – Green Spaces Strategy and Cemeteries Manager 

 Rhian Kyte – Head of Regeneration and Planning 
Allan Dallimore – Team Leader – Urban renewal and Conservation 
Tim Stephens – Development Control Manager 

 Marcus Lloyd - Head of Infrastructure 
 Robert Tranter - Head of Legal Services/Monitoring Officer 
 Stephen Harris - Interim Head of Business Improvement   
 Rob Hartshorn - Head of Public Protection, Community and Leisure Services 
 Mike Eedy - Finance Manager 

Paul Adams, Senior Assistant Accountant  
 Shaun Watkins - Principal Personnel Manager 
 Mark Williams – Interim Head of Property Services 
 Anwen Cullinane - Senior Policy Officer – Equalities and Welsh Language 
 Sue Ruddock - Insurance and Risk Manager 
  
Background Papers: 
 
(i). Commuted Sums for Highway Maintenance – Cabinet 31/07/12 
(ii). Commuted Sums for Maintaining Infrastructure Assets – County Surveyors Society (2008) 
 

Page 145

mailto:johnsm@caerphilly.gov.uk


Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 146



 

 
 

 
CABINET – 10TH JULY 2019 

 
SUBJECT: CONSIDERATION OF CALL-IN REQUEST – PROPOSED CHANGES IN 

FEES AND CHARGES 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES  
 

 
1.1 The attached report, which asked Members to consider under the Council’s call-in procedure 

a decision taken by Cabinet on 27th March 2019 in respect of changes to certain fees and 
charges within the Communities Directorate, was presented to the Policy and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee on 28th May 2019.   

 
1.2 Members were reminded that on 27th March 2019, Cabinet considered a report on Proposed 

Changes in Fees and Charges, and subsequently resolved that for the reasons contained in 
the report:- 

 
(i) The services where fee and charge changes need to be applied be noted, and 

authorisation be given to the relevant Head of Service in consultation with the Director, 
relevant Cabinet Member and Head of Corporate Finance to implement changes in 
line with inflationary and/or commercial conditions prevailing for the service(s); 

 
(ii) The relevant Head of Service records and posts any increases in fees and charges in 

accordance with the Authority’s scheme of delegation. 
 
1.3 A request for a call-in on the report was subsequently received, having been supported by 

Councillors K. Etheridge, A. Farina-Childs, C.P. Mann, J. Taylor and L. Whittle.  It was 
explained that the call-in had been made on the grounds that the decision conflicts with the 
Council’s approved budget and that it had been made without regard to a material fact or 
information or without proper consultation which in the opinion of the members making the 
request would lead to a different decision being made by the Executive. 

 
1.4 Members were asked to consider the merits of the call-in request whilst having regard to a 

number of questions set out in the report, and to consider whether to refer any remaining 
concerns to the Cabinet for reconsideration, setting out, in writing, the nature of its concerns.   

 
1.5 Clarification was sought on why this particular proposal had been presented to Cabinet for a 

decision in view of the Council’s introduction of delegated powers in 2002.  Officers explained 
that in the past the delegated power has been used in accordance with council policies, and 
as there was no policy in place for this particular proposal, and the increases were not 
included in the budget, then a report to Cabinet was required on this occasion. 

 
1.6 Councillor K. Etheridge then addressed the Scrutiny Committee and elaborated on his 

reasons for requesting the call-in.  He explained that he held concerns regarding the report in 
that it had not been presented to the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee prior to its 
consideration by Cabinet, nor had it been considered as part of the budget setting process.  
Councillor Etheridge also held concerns regarding the proposed delegated powers to be given 
to Officers and Cabinet Members and in view of the level of savings required by the Authority, 
felt that any decision in respect of fees and charges should be the responsibility of Members 

Page 147

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 9



and not Officers.   He also felt that business cases should be produced to detail the costings 
for any fee changes for the areas detailed in the original report to Cabinet, and feared that the 
decision to allow the fees and charges to be determined under the scheme of delegation will 
give unlimited scope to Officers and the Cabinet Member to make any changes.  He therefore 
requested that the report be reconsidered by Cabinet and that the views of the Scrutiny 
Committee be taken into account. 

 
1.7 In response to a Member’s query, Officers confirmed that the Finance Team had explored the 

amount of revenue that could be generated for the service areas where delegation is 
proposed and confirmed that each 1% increase equated to circa £79k.  Members were 
advised that a report would be presented to Cabinet in the Autumn regarding a Commercial 
Strategy and that should the Scrutiny Committee be minded to recommend a threshold on fee 
increases, this could be incorporated into the Strategy for Cabinet consideration. 

 
1.8 The Scrutiny Committee expressed the importance of thorough consultation and were of the 

view that they should have been given the opportunity to consider the report prior to its 
presentation to Cabinet.  During the course of the debate, it was suggested that a cap be 
imposed on fee increases and that any changes of significance or above this level should 
firstly be presented to the Scrutiny Committee for consideration and thereafter Cabinet for 
approval.  Members debated how the level of the cap could be determined and it was 
subsequently moved and seconded that the previous September’s Consumer Price Index 
(CPI) figure (which is currently at a level of 2.1%) be utilised and any fee increase below that 
level be implemented under delegated powers, with any increases above that level being 
reported to the Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet.  A Member also suggested that alternative 
uses for venues be examined to generate additional income before fee increases are 
explored. 

 
1.9 Following consideration of the report and in supporting the call-in request, the Policy and 

Resources Scrutiny Committee unanimously recommended to Cabinet that:- 
 

(i) the report on the Proposed Changes in Fees and Charges be reconsidered alongside 
the views of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee; 

 
(ii) that a cap equating to the previous September’s Consumer Price Index level in respect 

of any proposed fee increases be implemented, and that any increases above this 
level be referred to the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee and thereafter 
Cabinet for determination, with any changes below this level being authorised under 
the delegated powers as set out in the original report to Cabinet on 27th March 2019.  

 
1.10 Cabinet are asked to consider the report and the above recommendations and take into 

account the views of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee, and are also asked to 
note that the imposition of a cap will need to be incorporated into the financial regulations. 

 
 
Author:  R. Barrett, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4245 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix  Report to Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee on 28th May 2019 -  
 Agenda Item 4 
 

Page 148



 

 
 

 
POLICY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –  

28TH MAY 2019 
 
SUBJECT: CONSIDERATION OF CALL-IN REQUEST - PROPOSED CHANGES IN 

FEES AND CHARGES 
 
REPORT BY: INTERIM HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To consider under the Council’s call-in procedure a decision taken by the Cabinet on 

27th March 2019.  
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 To consider the call-in request set out in paragraph 5.3 below. 
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 That the Committee considers the call-in request and the questions set out in this report and 

considers whether to refer any concerns to the Cabinet for reconsideration, setting out in 
writing the nature of its concerns or take no further action. 

 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 In accordance with the call-in procedure in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules of the 

Council’s Constitution. 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 On 27th March 2019 Cabinet considered a report on Proposed Fees and Charges and a copy 

of this report is attached at Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
5.2 The Cabinet resolved that for the reasons contained in the report:- 
 

(i) the services where fee and charge changes need to be applied be noted, and 
authorisation be given to the relevant Head of Service in consultation with the Director, 
relevant Cabinet Member and Head of Corporate Finance to implement changes in 
line with inflationary and/or commercial conditions prevailing for the service(s); 

 
(ii)  the relevant Head of Service records and posts any increases in fees and charges in 

accordance with the authority’s scheme or delegation. 
 

APPENDIX 

Page 149



5.3 A request has been made for a call-in as follows: 
 
 We the undersigned elected members wish to institute a call in of the Fees and Charges 

Report passed at Cabinet item 9 on 27/3/19 because the fee setting principle has been set 
and agreed in the Communities Directorate with no reference to the elected members who sit 
on the Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee or the Budget Setting Meeting Full Council in 
February, and we call for full debate at scrutiny in this regard. 

 
 This call-in was supported by the following Members: 
 

• Councillor K. Etheridge 
• Councillor A. Farina-Childs 
• Councillor C. Mann 
• Councillor J. Taylor 
• Councillor L. Whittle 

  
5.4 The request has been considered in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Council’s 

Constitution and has been accepted as a valid call in and has been supported by the 
appropriate number of Members. 
 

5.5 The Grounds on which a call in can be made is: 
 

(i)  that it conflicts with the Council’s policy framework; or 
(ii) that it conflicts with the Council’s approved budget; or 
(iii) that it has been made without regard to a material fact or information or without proper 

consultation which in the opinion of the members making the request would lead to a 
different decision being made by the Executive. 

 
The Call in is made on the basis of ground (ii) and (iii) above.  
 

5.6 Members are asked to consider the merits of the call-in request and by way of guidance may 
have regard to the following:- 
 
(a) Should the report on Changes to Fees and Charges have been considered by Policy 

and Resources Scrutiny Committee prior to a decision by Cabinet? 
 

The Fees and Charges report was listed in the Cabinet Work programme reported to  
the following scrutiny committee meetings, prior to the presentation to Cabinet on 27th 
March 2019: 
 
• Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 12th March 2019 
• Health Social Care & Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 19th March 2019 
• Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny Committee 26th March 2019 

 
(b) Should the proposals to change fees and charges have been included in the Budget 

report considered by full Council on 21st February 2019? 
 
(c) if yes to (a) and (b) was there any information not put before the Cabinet which would 

have led to a different decision being made by the Cabinet? 
 
 Conclusion 
 
5.7 Having debated the questions set out above and any other matters, the Committee must 

consider whether to refer any remaining concerns to the Cabinet for reconsideration, setting 
out, in writing, the nature of its concerns. If the scrutiny committee agrees to take no further 
action and does not refer the matter back to Cabinet, the decision shall take effect on the date 
of the scrutiny meeting. 

Page 150



6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 No assumptions have been made or were thought necessary, in respect of this report.   
 
 
7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 The call-in process is within the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules within the Council’s 

Constitution, in accordance with the Local Government Act 2000. 
 
7.2 Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   
 
 The requirement to establish and maintain the Council’s Constitution is set out in the Local 

Government Act 2000 and ensures that decisions take into account and relate to the 
Corporate Plan. 

 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The requirement to establish and maintain the Council’s Constitution is set out in the Local 

Government Act 2000 and contributes to the following Well-being Goals within the Well-being 
of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 as it sets out how the Council operates, how 
decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, 
transparent and accountable to local people. It sets the framework for the decision making 
roles and responsibilities which will impact on future generations. 

 
• A prosperous Wales 
• A resilient Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A wales of cohesive communities 
• A wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 
• A globally responsible Wales. 

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 None other than those set out in the Report to Cabinet. 
 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 None other than those set out in the Report to Cabinet. 
 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 None other than those set out in the Report to Cabinet.  
 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 The Chair and Vice - Chair of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee. The Monitoring 

Officer. 
 
 

Page 151



13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011.  
 
 
Author: Catherine Forbes-Thompson, Interim Head of Democratic Services 
Consultees: Councillor James Pritchard Chair Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
 Councillor Gez Kirby Vice Chair Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
 Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1       Report to Cabinet 27th March 2019 item 9 
 

Page 152



 

 
 

 

CABINET - 27TH MARCH 2019 
 

SUBJECT: PROPOSED CHANGES IN FEES AND CHARGES 
 

REPORT BY: INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR – COMMUNITIES  
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To seek Cabinet approval for officer delegation to apply changes to certain fees and charges 

within the Communities Directorate and for officer delegation to be agreed for future changes 
to be applied in the interest of business efficiency.  

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 On 21st February 2019 Council considered and agreed the Authority’s 2019/20 budget but 

there were no generic fees and charges increases contained within the budget report. 
 
2.2 The Authority’s financial regulations require Cabinet approval for any increases in fees and 

charges over and above those agreed as part of the budget setting process at Council. 
 
2.3 As there were no generic increase in fees and charges within the Full Council report on the 

2019/20 budget, this Cabinet report outlines a number of service areas within the 
Communities Directorate where fees and charges need to be increased as a result of 
inflationary and/or commercial market conditions and seeks Cabinet approval in delegating 
responsibility for implementing any increases to the relevant Head of Service in consultation 
with the Director, relevant Cabinet Member and Head of Corporate Finance. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Cabinet is asked to note the services where fee and charge changes need to be applied and 

authorise the relevant Head of Service in consultation with the Director, relevant Cabinet 
Member and Head of Corporate Finance to implement changes in line with inflationary and/or 
commercial conditions prevailing for the service(s). 

 
3.2 That the relevant Head of Service records and posts any increases in fees and charges in 

accordance with the Authority’s scheme of delegation. 
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To ensure that services can respond to inflationary and/or commercial market conditions and 

that the correct processes in accordance with the Authority’s Financial Regulations and 
Scheme of Delegation are followed. 

 
 

APPENDIX 1

Page 153



5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The Authority’s Financial Regulations (paragraph 13.07) state that:- 
 
 All fees and charges will be reviewed annually by each Director. Inflationary increases will be 

agreed as part of the budget setting process for Council.  Increases above those agreed as 
part of the budget setting process will require Cabinet approval.  Statutory charges will be 
reported as and when the Council is notified of any increases. 

 
5.2 In the Council’s scheme of delegation the Chief Executive, Director or Head of Service, in 

consultation with the Head of Corporate Finance and relevant Cabinet Member, has the 
power to set all fees and charges in accordance with the Council’s policies. 

 
5.3 Members will be aware of the ongoing significant financial challenges moving forward with 

further savings of circa £44m anticipated for the four-year period 2020/21 to 2023/24.  In 
looking to develop proposals to address this challenge it is widely accepted that the Council 
cannot continue as it is.  There is a need to examine the way in which we use our resources 
to deliver services required by our communities across the county borough. 

 
5.4 The Corporate Management Team is currently working with the Cabinet to establish a vision 

for ‘Caerphilly 2022’ and this will form the basis of a report to Cabinet in April 2019.  The 
report will set out details of a programme to examine how services are prioritised, how they 
can become more business efficient through a series of service reviews, exploring 
opportunities for greater customer focus, digital delivery, alternative delivery models, and 
commercial opportunities; whilst looking at preventative measures that will encourage early 
intervention that will ultimately allow the demand for certain services to be better controlled. 

 
5.5 As part of this new way of working a Commercial Strategy will be developed which will set out 

a framework to review current fees and charges and to identify new opportunities for income 
generation.  This Strategy will need to provide a greater degree of flexibility and delegation in 
relation to decisions around fees and charges and will be subject to a separate report to 
Cabinet later this year.  

 
5.6 The Communities Directorate provides a large number of front line services with a complex 

range of fees some of which are statutory in nature (e.g. planning, licensing, food hygiene 
rating etc.) and others which are commercial in nature and discretionary (e.g.: sport and 
leisure, building control, event booking fees, venue admission, events spaces/pitches, 
equipment hire, food and beverages at tourist destinations, commercial waste etc.). 

 
5.7 As a result of the discretionary and commercial nature of these services there is a 

requirement for each service to have the flexibility to change and remain competitive in an 
often complex commercial environment.  This will often necessitate changing fees and 
charges to reflect commercial conditions (this could mean increasing or reducing fees and 
charges). 

 
5.8 In addition to the need for response to commercial/market changes, there are often complex 

inflationary increases applied to certain services which are not in-line with the typical 
inflationary indices (retail price index, RPI or consumer price index, CPI) that have been used 
in the past. 

 
5.9 An example is the Commercial Waste service where the inflationary pressures are three-fold 

and comprise disposal contract inflation, wage related inflation for collection operatives and 
fuel inflation.  In this regard, although Council agreed pay related growth and non-pay 
inflationary growth for expenditure budgets as part of the 2019-20 budget setting process, the 
complexity of other inflationary pressures requires the ability for services to respond by 
increasing their fees and charges accordingly.  

 

Page 154



5.10 In such circumstances there is a need for services to pass on the inflationary increase through 
fees and charges (while also seeking to remain competitive in a commercial environment). 

 
5.11 The table below outlines the list of services where flexibility to apply fee changes need to be 

agreed for 2019/20. 
 

Service Area 
 

Service Fee/Charge 

Waste Strategy & Operations  Commercial Waste Charges 

Green Spaces & Transport  MOT & Minibus Testing Fees 

 Outdoor Facilities Fees 

 Invasive Species Treatments 

Sport & Leisure  Caerphilly Adventures Activity Charges 

 Sports Development Activity Charges 

 Leisure Centre Activity Charges 

 Leisure Centre Room Hire 

Regeneration & Planning  Building Control Fees 

 Venue & Events Fees (Booking Fees, Venue 
Admission Charges, Room Hire, Event 
Pitches, Equipment Hire) 

 Venue Merchandising 

 Venue Catering 

 Property Portfolio Rentals  

 
 

 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 There are no specific fees and charges set out in this report as the report is seeking flexibility 

for services to respond to inflationary and commercial pressures or opportunities. 
 
6.2 However, if Cabinet is minded to agree the flexibility for service areas to respond to these 

changes it has been assumed that:- 
 

(i) The Head of Service will liaise with the relevant Cabinet Member, and Corporate 
Director (Communities) & Head of Corporate Finance in determining fee increases. 

(ii) Any increases will be recorded and posted in accordance with the Authority’s scheme of 
delegation. 

(iii) Any savings resulting from fee increases will form part of the Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) savings considerations for the service/directorate from 2020/21 onwards. 

 
 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 Effective financial planning, the setting of balanced budgets and efficient delivery of services 

is at the heart of everything the Council does and is fundamental to the future of local service 
delivery. 

 
7.2 The principles articulated in this report will assist services to remain commercially competitive, 

to assist with the achievement of efficient service delivery while delivering against future 
savings requirements.  

 
7.3 The report therefore contributes to all of the objectives within the corporate plan 2018-2023 

and the Authority’s MTFP principles. 
 
 

Page 155



8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 Effective financial planning and effective budget setting and management supports the 7 Well-

being goals within the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015, namely:- 
 

 A Prosperous Wales 

 A Resilient Wales 

 A Healthier Wales 

 A More Equal Wales 

 A Wales of Cohesive Communities 

 A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving Welsh Language 

 A Globally Responsible Wales 
 
8.2 Affordability, sustainability and competitiveness of services ensures their longevity and the 

ethos of this report is to provide the flexibility to achieve this.  
 
8.3 Consequently the affordability of services cuts across of all the 7 Well-being goals listed 

above. 
 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  An EIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council’s Strategic Equality 

Plan and supplementary guidance.  No potential for unlawful discrimination and/or low level or 
minor negative impact has been identified, therefore a full EIA has not been carried out.   

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The ability to be flexible to market demands or trends and inflationary pressures is 

fundamental to the future competitiveness (and ultimately survival), and efficiency of many of 
the front line services delivered by Caerphilly County Borough Council. 

 
10.2 While the financial benefits of the approach advocated in this report are difficult to accurately 

quantify, the approach will benefit services moving forward and enable Heads of Service to 
divert income above budget target levels into the MTFP for 2020-21 onwards. 

 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no specific personnel implications associated with this report although it is 

important to note that additional income and the enhanced competitiveness of services is 
likely to have a positive effect on protecting front line service jobs. 

 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 The consultees listed below have been consulted on this report and their views have been 

incorporated accordingly.  
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Local Government Act 2003. 
 
 

Page 156



Author: Mark. S. Williams, Interim Corporate Director – Communities 
 willims@caerphilly.gov.uk 

Consultees: Councillor Barbara Jones, Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Performance & Governance  

 Councillor Sean Morgan, Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Economy, 
Infrastructure, Sustainability & Wellbeing of Future Generations 

 Councillor Nigel George, Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood Services 
 Councillor Eluned Stenner, Cabinet Member for Environment, Public Protection & 

Planning 
 Councillor Lisa Phipps, Cabinet Member for Homes & Places 
 Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive  
 Ed Edmunds, Corporate Director for Education & Corporate Services 
 Dave Street, Corporate Director for Social Services & Housing   
 Nicole Scammel, Head of Corporate Finance & Section 151 Officer 
 Steve Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement Services 
 Rob Hartshorn, Head of Public Protection, Community & Leisure Services 
 Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration & Planning 
 Marcus Lloyd, Head of Infrastructure  
 Mark Williams, Interim Head of Property 
 Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 

 

Page 157

mailto:willims@caerphilly.gov.uk


Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 158



 

 
 

 

CABINET – 10TH JULY 2019 
 

SUBJECT:  ARMED FORCES - GUARANTEED INTERVIEW SCHEME 
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR - EDUCATION AND CORPORATE  SERVICES 
 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 

1.1 To take a decision on implementing a Guaranteed Interview Scheme for Armed Forces 
service leavers, reservists, veterans and spouses if they meet the vacancy essential criteria. 

 

1.2 To agree to engage with Career Transition Partnership (CTP) in the recruitment of service 
leavers. 

 

1.3 The Scheme does not guarantee appointment to a vacant position. Selection procedures will 
still ensure the best candidate for the vacancy is appointed. 

 
 

2. SUMMARY 
 

2.1 Caerphilly County Borough Council is a signatory to the Armed Forces Covenant, launched in 
2011 by the UK government, to promote and support the Armed Forces Community. The 
Armed Forces Covenant places an expectation on signatories that they will ensure that the 
Armed Forces Community are treated fairly and not disadvantaged as a result of their service. 
CCBC became a voluntary signatory to the Covenant in 2013. 

 

2.2 The Defence Employer Recognition Scheme (ERS) comprises of Bronze, Silver and Gold 
awards for employers (including local authorities) that pledge, demonstrate or advocate 
support to defence and the Armed Forces Community, and inspire others to do the same. 
CCBC are currently holding the Silver Award. A supportive measure of this award, although 
not an essential requirement, is to implement the Guaranteed Interview Scheme for the 
Armed Forces Community. An application for the Gold Award has been submitted. 

 
 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 Cabinet are asked to: 
 

a. Implement a Guaranteed Interview Scheme for service leavers, veterans, reservists and 
spouses  

b. Agree to work with the Career Transition Partnership (www.ctp.org.uk), a no cost 
recruitment service for organisations seeking highly motivated and experienced veterans, 
who are leaving the Armed Forces. 

 
 

4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To demonstrate support for the Armed Forces Community and honour the spirit of the Armed 

Forces Covenant to which CCBC is a signatory. The authority has submitted an application to 
be a Gold Award holder on the Defence Employer Recognition Scheme. 

Page 159

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 10



5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1  In Wales there are estimated to be 385,000 members of the Armed Forces Community, this 

equates to 12% of the population. This includes serving personnel, reservists and cadets as 
well as their families and ex-Service personnel. Many will have experienced conflict, directly 
or indirectly, and the challenges that can arise following this. It is known that 14,700 left the 
UK Regular Armed Forces in 2018. It is estimated 3000 settled in Wales. 

 
5.2 The Armed Forces Covenant was enshrined in law in the Armed Forces Act 2011 and 

ensures that members of the Armed Forces community are not disadvantaged as a result of 
their service in accessing Government and commercial services. Special consideration is also 
appropriate in some cases, especially for those who have given most such as the injured and 
bereaved. The Covenant applies to serving and past Armed Forces community members and 
their families. 

 
5.3 CCBC is the lead organisation in delivering on the Armed Forces Covenant at a local level. 

The Caerphilly Armed Forces Forum, comprising statutory and third sector organisations, is 
the delivery body.  Administrative support comes via the Corporate Policy Unit.  

 
5.4 The Armed Forces community is defined, for the purposes of the Armed Forces Covenant, as 

including all those towards whom the Nation has a moral obligation due to service in HM 
Armed Forces i.e. serving Regular and Reserve personnel, veterans, and their families. 

 
5.5 We know that the majority of Service leavers settle back into civilian life effectively, using the 

wide variety of skills developed during their time in the Armed Forces to gain meaningful 
employment and contribute to their communities. However, there are those that will need 
extra support. 

 
5.6  The Defence Employer Recognition Scheme (ERS) comprises of Bronze, Silver and Gold 

awards for employers (including local authorities) that pledge, demonstrate or advocate 
support to defence and the Armed Forces Community, and inspire others to do the same. In 
order to achieve Bronze CCBC were required to promote being Armed Forces-friendly and to 
be open to employing reservists, armed forces veterans (including the wounded, injured and 
sick), cadet instructors and military spouses/partners. CCBC goes beyond this and in 2018 
achieved Silver Level. An application for the Gold Award has been submitted. Though not an 
essential requirement, the implementation of the Guaranteed Interview Scheme for the Armed 
Forces Community is an important supportive measure. 

 
5.7 The most recent Welsh Government skills survey of Welsh employers showed that six per 

cent had at least one vacancy due to skill-shortage – equivalent to 9,000 vacancies across 
Wales. At a time of steadily rising employment, employers are crying out for skilled staff with 
the right attitude and attributes to support their growing businesses – and every year in Wales 
veterans are leaving the Armed Forces with exactly this mix. 

 
 While many veterans go on to have successful careers after leaving the Service, this is not 

always the case. Veterans are comparatively under-represented in the general workforce and 
working age veterans are nearly twice as likely to be unemployed as civilians. Issues such as 
a lack of academic qualifications or difficulties for employers in recognising military 
experiences within corporate recruitment structures can be significant barriers to recruitment. 

 
 So while employers are struggling to recruit, Wales has a substantial pool of uniquely-

qualified, high performing people who may just need a little extra support to bring them into 
the workforce. By working to increase sustainable employment opportunities, we can help to 
prevent the more serious social and health issues that come with unemployment such as 
homelessness and poor mental health. 

 

Page 160



5.8 Many employers are adopting the Guaranteed Interview Scheme for this cohort. Torfaen 
County Borough Council and Newport City Council have adopted the Guaranteed Scheme; 
with Monmouthshire and Blaenau Gwent agreeing in principle and are in the process of 
implementation.  Many local authorities in England have successfully adopted the scheme 
including Buckinghamshire, Cumbria and Lancashire County Councils. Welsh Government 
has this under consideration at present. 

 

5.9  After discussions with People Services it is proposed that the following paragraph is inserted 
into the revised Recruitment and Selection Procedure ‘In support of the Council’s voluntary 
pledge to support the Armed Forces, the recruiter must always be prepared to ensure that 
applicants who have identified themselves as members of the Armed Forces including Service 
Leavers, Veterans, Reservists or Spouses and who meet the essential criteria of the person 
specification, are offered an interview.’ 

 

5.10 Conclusion   
 

 It is expected that expanding ERS membership, including the Guaranteed Interview Scheme, 
will strengthen the Council’s standing amongst the general public, particularly the Armed 
Forces Community. It should increase recognition amongst the public about the actions the 
Council is taking as a signatory of our Armed Forces Covenant. ERS membership may also 
make the Council a more attractive place to work in future for members of the public who are 
reservists, ex-Armed Forces or their family members. The pool of applicants may increase, 
therefore may help us to employ the best candidate for a vacancy. 

 
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 

6.1 No assumptions have been made. 
 
 

7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 

7.1 Strategic Equality Plan 2016 – 2020. 
 

7.2 Corporate Plan 2018-2023 
 

 Objective 2 - Enabling employment -The Council currently recognises that many of the skills 
that reservists gain during their training are transferable to the workplace. The Council assists 
reservists as far as possible, for example by taking into account unusual leave requirements 
or the need to amend working patterns. By expressing an interest in the ERS Gold Award 
affords the local authority the opportunity to obtain the recognition for the support given to 
defence. 

 

7.3 Signatory of Armed Forces Covenant (2011). 
 
 

8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 

8.1 The success of the ERS will help improve  well-being and will therefore help to make a 
positive contribution to armed forces employees’ connectedness. Implementing the 
Guaranteed Interview Scheme will contribute to the following well-being goals within the Well-
being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2016: 

 

• A prosperous Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A Wales of cohesive communities 
• A Healthier Wales 

 

 The scheme is consistent with the five ways of working as set out in the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

Page 161



9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  An EIA screening has been carried out and there are no implications for equalities. 
 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There would be the ability to advertise vacant positions through the Career Transition (CTP) 

website at no extra cost.  
 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The pool of applicants to vacant positions may increase as a result of a demonstrable support 

for the scheme and the additional circulation of vacant positions through the CTP website. 
 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 The report reflects the views of the consultees. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 The Armed Forces Covenant was enshrined in law in the Armed Forces Act (2011), however 

there is no statutory requirement to support the Armed Forces Community. 
 
 
Author: Lisa Rawlings, Regional Armed Forces Covenant Liaison Officer, 

rawlil@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Cllr Colin Gordon, Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 
 Cllr. Andrew Whitcombe, Armed Forces Champion 
 Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director for Education and Corporate Services 
 Steve Harris, Interim Head of Business Support 
 Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
 Lynne Donovan Head of People Services 

Kathryn Peters, Corporate Policy Manager 
 Paul Cooke, Senior Policy Officer 
 Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer- Equalities, Welsh Language and 

Consultation 
Shaun Watkins, Principal Personnel Officer 

 

Page 162

mailto:rawlil@caerphilly.gov.uk


 

 
 

 
CABINET – 10TH JULY 2019 

 
SUBJECT: CABINET FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR – EDUCATION AND CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To seek Cabinet endorsement of the Forward Work Programme for the period July to 

September 2019.   
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The report outlines a proposed Forward Work Programme of future Cabinet reports. 
 
2.2 The Forward Work Programme is updated on a weekly basis to reflect any amendments that 

are made to it since it was first agreed on 22nd January 2014. 
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 It is recommended that Cabinet approve the Forward Work Programme as outlined in 

Appendix 1. 
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To satisfy legislative requirements and to ensure more transparent and effective decision-

making. 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The Cabinet Forward Work Programme sets out the key reports that Cabinet expects to 

receive in the coming months.  It is a legal requirement that such programmes are published.  
The programme is an important way of tracking progress against targets set in the Council’s 
Improvement Plan. 

 
5.2 Appendix 1 to this report sets out details of the Cabinet Forward Work Programme for the 

period July to September 2019. 
 
5.3 It should be noted that urgent and unanticipated reports could be added to the Cabinet 

Forward Work Programme. 
 
5.4 Members will be aware that, following the Scrutiny Review and recommendations approved 

by Council on 6 October 2015, it was agreed that the format of the Forward Work Programme 
be reviewed so that it gives more detailed narratives.  This has been undertaken and 
presented at Appendix 1. 

Page 163

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 11



5.5 Conclusion 
 
 The work programme is for consideration and amendment by Cabinet prior to publication on 

the Council’s website.  
 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 No assumptions are necessary. 
 
 
7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 The Council is required to publish a Cabinet Forward Work Programme to assist in open and 

transparent decision-making.  
 
7.2 Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   
 
 The Cabinet Forward Work Programme contributes towards and impacts upon the Corporate 

Well-being Objectives by ensuring that decisions are made on behalf of the Council, with the 
Corporate Objectives being met, which are:     

 
 Objective 1 - Improve education opportunities for all 

 
 Objective 2 - Enabling employment 

 
 Objective 3 - Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes throughout the 

county borough and provide advice, assistance or support to help improve people’s well-being 
 

 Objective 4 - Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system that increases 
opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse impacts on the environment 
 

 Objective 5 - Creating a county borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in accordance with 
the sustainable Development Principle within the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 
 

 Objective 6 - Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being 
 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The Forward Work Programme contributes to the following Well-being goals within the Well-

being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015, by ensuring that decision making is made 
against the following goals 

 
• A prosperous Wales 
• A resilient Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A Wales of cohesive communities 
• A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language 
• A globally responsible Wales 

 
8.2 It is consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable development 

principle in the Act in that it ensures that the Cabinet Forward Work Programme is regularly 
published and publically available, thus informing the public and stakeholders of upcoming 
reports and key issues and offering them the opportunity to attend and observe executive 
decisions, thus promoting openness and transparency. 

Page 164



9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The principles of good governance are directly linked to the Council’s Strategic Equality 

Objectives, stemming from duties under the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) 
Regulations 2011 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.  Equalities Implications 
are a standard part of all committee reports in order to ensure that due consideration has 
been given to the views of individuals and groups from the communities of Caerphilly County 
Borough, regardless of their background and circumstances. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 There are no consultation responses that have not been reflected in this report. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000. 
 
 
 
Author: Cath Forbes-Thompson, Interim Head of Democratic Services 
Consultees: Corporate Management Team 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Cabinet Forward Work Programme 
 
 

Page 165



Title Key Issues Author Cabinet Member Time

A

t

Wednesday - 10/07/2019 Cabinet & PDM

Consultation Response Report - Federation of 

Schools

Cabinet to consider the responses received 

as part of the formal consultation process 

and determine whether to proceed to formal 

federation for the 4 groups of schools 

included within the report.

Sue Richards Cllr. Philippa Marsden

Corporate Plan 2018 - 2023
To review the Corporate Plan to ensure it is 

still fit for purpose.
Ros Roberts Cllr. Barbara Jones

Fees and Charges To receive the views and recommendations 

of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny 

Committee following the call in of the 

Proposed Changes in Fees and Charges 

Report determined by Cabinet on the 27th 

March 2019.

Stephen Harris Cllr. Barbara Jones

Infrastructure Development - Commuted 

Sums

To develop a consistent approach to 

commuted sums for Highways, drainage, 

Leisure and Green Space Infrastructure and 

to develop some consistency in accounting 

processes.

Marcus Lloyd Cllr. Sean Morgan

Cabinet -  Forward Work Programme

APPENDIX

P
age 166



Armed Forces: Guaranteed Interview Scheme

To consider a guaranteed interview scheme 

for former Armed Forces service leavers, 

reservists, veterans and  spouses if they 

meet the vacancy essential criteria.

Lisa Rawlings Cllr. Barbara Jones

Regeneration Board Projects - Tranche 3 

Projects

To recommend the third tranche of priority 

schemes for Regeneration Project Board 

Development Funding to Cabinet.

Allan Dallimore Cllr. Sean Morgan

21st Century Schools Band B Update 

To consider the current and future position in 

relation to Band B of the 21st Century 

Schools Programme

Sue Richards Cllr. Philippa Marsden

Cabinet Forward Work Programme For discussion and update

Wednesday - 24/07/2019 Cabinet & PDM
Cabinet - Cancelled

Wednesday - 04/09/2019 Cabinet & PDM

Harold Finch Memorial Park To provide an update Mike Headington Cllr. Nigel George

P
age 167



Social Services Reserves
To seek approval for use of Social Services 

Reserves.
Mike Jones Cllr. Carl Cuss

Wednesday - 18/09/2019 Cabinet & PDM

Annual Performance Report 2018
To discuss and present the Annual performance 

Report
Ros Roberts Cllr. Barbara Jones

Cabinet Forward Work Programme For discussion and update

Wednesday - 02/10/2019 Cabinet & PDM

Updated Code of Corporate Governance and 

Terms of Reference
To approve the updated code. Stephen Harris Cllr. Barbara Jones

P
age 168


	Agenda
	3 Cynhaliwyd y Cabinet ar 26 Mehefin 2019.
	4 Adolygiad o'r Cynllun Corfforaethol (2018-2023) 2019.
	Review of Corporate Plan (2018-2023) 2019
	cabinet – 10TH JULY 2019
	SUBJECT: REVIEW OF CORPORATE PLAN (2018-2023) 2019
	REPORT BY: DIRECTOR OF Education & Corporate Services
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. RECOMMENDATIONS
	4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	5. THE REPORT
	6. ASSUMPTIONS
	7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES
	8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	12. CONSULTATIONS
	13. STATUTORY POWER
	Appendices:


	Review of Corporate Plan (2018-2023) 2019 App A
	Review of Corporate Plan (2018-2023) 2019 App B

	5 Ffedereiddio Ysgolion - Adroddiad Ymateb i'r Ymgynghoriad.
	Federation of Schools - Consultation Response Report
	cabinet – 10TH JULY 2019
	SUBJECT: FEDERATION OF SCHOOLS – Consultation response report
	REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE SERVICES

	Federation of Schools - Consultation Response Report App
	Federation of Schools - Consultation Response Report
	EDUCATION FOR LIFE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 2ND JULY 2019
	SUBJECT:  Federation of schools – consultation response report
	REPORT BY: corporate director for education and corporate services
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. RECOMMENDATIONS
	4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	5. THE REPORT
	6. ASSUMPTIONS
	7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES
	8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	12. CONSULTATIONS
	13. STATUTORY POWER

	Federation of Schools - Consultation Response Report App 1
	Federation of Schools - Consultation Response Report App 2
	Federation of Schools - Consultation Response Report App 3
	Federation of Schools - Consultation Response Report App 4


	6 Diweddariad Rhaglen Ysgolion Ac Addysg Band B Yr 21ain Ganrif.
	21st Century Schools and Education Band B Programme
	cabinet – 10TH JULY 2019
	SUBJECT: 21st century schools and education band b programme
	REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE SERVICES

	21st Century Schools and Education Band B Programme App
	EDUCATION FOR LIFE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 2ND JULY 2019
	SUBJECT:  21st Century Schools and education band b programme
	REPORT BY: corporate director for education and corporate services
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. RECOMMENDATIONS
	4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	5. THE REPORT
	6. ASSUMPTIONS
	7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES
	8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	12. CONSULTATIONS
	13. STATUTORY POWER


	7 Bwrdd Adfywio - Cynigion Prosiect (Rhan 3).
	Regeneration Board - Project Proposals (Tranche 3)
	cabinet – 10TH JULY 2019
	SUBJECT: REGENERATION BOARD – PROJECT PROPOSALS (Tranche 3)
	REPORT BY: interim CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. RECOMMENDATIONS
	4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	5. THE REPORT
	6. ASSUMPTIONS
	7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES
	8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	12. CONSULTATIONS
	13. STATUTORY POWER

	Regeneration Board - Project Proposals (Tranche 3) App 1
	Appendix 1


	8 Datblygu Seilwaith - Symiau Gohiriedig.
	Infrastructure Development - Commuted Sums
	cabinet – 10TH JULY 2019

	Infrastructure Development - Commuted Sums App
	environment and sustainability scrutiny COMMITTEE –
	25TH June 2019
	SUBJECT: INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT – COMMUTED SUMS
	REPORT BY: interim corporate director - communities
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. RECOMMENDATIONS
	4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	8.2.5 Involvement - Some of our poorest environmental quality is associated with our most deprived areas. Ensuring that everyone across the county borough has equal access to a clean, green and an attractive environment is a core element of our work, ...
	9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	12. CONSULTATIONS
	13. STATUTORY POWER


	9 Ystyried Cais Galw i Mewn - Newidiadau Arfaethedig mewn Ffioedd a Thaliadau
	Consideration of Call-In Request - Proposed Changes in Fees and Charges
	cabinet – 10TH JULY 2019
	SUBJECT: CONSIDERATION OF CALL-IN REQUEST – PROPOSED CHANGES IN FEES AND CHARGES
	REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE SERVICES

	Consideration of Call-In Request - Proposed Changes in Fees and Charges App
	Consideration of Call-In Request - Proposed Changes in Fees and Charges App
	Consideration of Call-In Request - Proposed Changes in Fees and Charges
	POLICY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –
	28TH MAY 2019
	SUBJECT: consideration of call-in request - PROPOSED CHANGES IN FEES AND CHARGES
	REPORT BY: Interim Head of Democratic Services
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. RECOMMENDATIONS
	4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	5. THE REPORT
	6. ASSUMPTIONS
	7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES
	8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	12. CONSULTATIONS
	13. STATUTORY POWER

	Consideration of Call-In Request - Proposed Changes in Fees and Charges App 1



	10 Y Lluoedd Arfog - Cynllun Gwarantu Cyfweliad.
	11 Blaenraglen Waith y Cabinet.
	Cabinet Forward Work Programme
	cabinet – 10TH JULY 2019
	SUBJECT: CABINET FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME
	REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR – EDUCATION AND CORPORATE SERVICES
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. RECOMMENDATIONS
	4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	5. THE REPORT
	6. ASSUMPTIONS
	7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES
	8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	12. CONSULTATIONS
	13. STATUTORY POWER

	Cabinet Forward Work Programme App


